Copyright

by

Jin Xu

2008

The Dissertation Committee for Jin Xu

certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

Two Essays on Stock Preference and Performance of Institutional Investors

Committee:

Sheridan Titman, Supervisor

John M. Griffin, Supervisor

Jennifer Huang

Bing Han

Jeffrey W. Hales

Two Essays on Stock Preference and Performance of Institutional Investors

by

Jin Xu, B.S., Mphil.

Dissertation

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at Austin

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Texas at Austin

August 2008

To my son Derek, my wife and my parents

Acknowledgments

I wanted to thank my co-supervisors Sheridan Titman and John M. Griffin, and other committee members Bing Han, Jennifer Huang and Jeffrey W. Hales for useful comments and advices. Last but not least, I appreciate the endless support of my wife Li Yong.

Jin Xu

The University of Texas at Austin August 2008

Two Essays on Stock Preference and Performance of Institutional Investors

Publication No.

Jin Xu, Ph.D. The University of Texas at Austin, 2008

Supervisors: Sheridan Titman and John M. Griffin

Two essays on the stock preference and performance of institutional investors are included in the dissertation.

In the first essay, I document that mutual fund managers and other institutional investors tend to hold stocks with higher betas. This effect holds even after precisely controlling for stocks' risk characteristics such as size, book-to-market equity ratio and momentum. This is contrary to the widely accepted view that betas are no longer associated with expected returns. However, these results support my simple model where a fund manager's payoff function depends on returns in excess of a benchmark. For the manager, on the one hand, he tends to load up with high beta stocks since he wants to co-move with the market and other factors as much as possible. On the other hand, the manager faces a trade-off between expected performance and the volatility of tracking error. My model thus shows that the manager prefers to choose higher beta than his benchmark, and that his beta choice has an optimal level which depends on his perceived factor returns and volatility. My empirical findings further confirm the model results. First, I show that the effect of managers holding higher beta stocks is robust to a number of alternative explanations including the effects of their liquidity selection or trading activities. Second, consistent with the model predictions of managers sticking close to their benchmarks during risky periods, I demonstrate that the average beta choice of mutual fund managers can predict future market volatility, even after controlling for other common volatility predictors, such as lagged volatility and implied volatility.

The second essay is the first to explicitly address the performance of actively managed mutual funds conditioned on investor sentiment. Almost all fund size quintiles subsequently outperform the market when sentiment is low while all of them underperform the market when sentiment is high. This also holds true after adjusting the fund returns by various performance benchmarks. I further show that the impact of investor sentiment on fund performance is mostly due to small investor sentiment. These findings can partially validate the existence of actively managed mutual funds which underperform the market overall (Gruber 1996). In addition, when conditioning on investor sentiment, the pattern of decreasing returns to scale in mutual funds, recently documented in Chen, Hong, Huang, and Kubik (2004), is fully reversed when sentiment is high while the pattern persists and is more pronounced when sentiment is low. Further results suggest that smaller funds tend to hold smaller stocks, which is shown to drive the above patterns. I also document that smaller funds have more sentiment timing ability or feasibility than larger funds. These findings have many important implications including persistence of fund performance which may not exist under conventional performance measures.

Contents

Acknow	ledgme	nts	v
Abstrac	et		vi
Content	ts		viii
List of 7	Fables		xi
List of I	Figures		xiv
Chapter	r1 Be	ta Choice of Institutional Investors	1
1.1	Introdu	iction	1
1.2	Model		6
1.3	Data a	nd Methodology	9
	1.3.1	Data	9
	1.3.2	Methodology	10
1.4	Result	3	13
	1.4.1	Beta Choice of Institutional Investors	13
	1.4.2	Good Beta And Bad Beta	14
	1.4.3	Beta Choice and Liquidity Selection	17

	1.4.4	Beta Choice and Fund Characteristics	18
	1.4.5	DGTW Performance Sorted on BC Measure	19
	1.4.6	Mutual Fund Trades and BC Measure	21
	1.4.7	Predictability	22
1.5	Conclu	usion	24
Chapte	r 2 Do	bes investor sentiment affect mutual fund performance?	52
2.1	Introd	uction	52
2.2	Motiva	ation	58
2.3	Data		62
	2.3.1	Mutual Fund Data	62
	2.3.2	Investor Sentiment Data	64
	2.3.3	Other Data	66
2.4	Metho	dology	66
	2.4.1	Fund Performance Benchmarks	67
	2.4.2	DGTW Measures	67
	2.4.3	Predictive Regression Specification	68
	2.4.4	Sentiment Timing	70
2.5	Result	s	70
	2.5.1	Aggregate pattern: time varying fund performance	70
	2.5.2	Aggregate pattern: further robustness check	73
	2.5.3	Size pattern: relationship between fund size and performance	74
	2.5.4	Size pattern: robustness check	75
	2.5.5	Size pattern: explanation	76
	2.5.6	Sentiment timing	77
2.6	Conclu	usion	78

Chapter 3 Robustness Check and Extensions		91	
3.1	Paper	I: Does Investor Sentiment Affect Mutual Fund Performance?	91
	3.1.1	Test of Significance in Difference	91
	3.1.2	Flow and Sentiment	92
	3.1.3	Size Effect	93
	3.1.4	Predictability of Size Concentration	94
3.2	Paper	II: Beta Choice of Institutional Investors	95
	3.2.1	Beta Choice in Each Fund Category	95
	3.2.2	Beta Choice Conditioned on Trailing 12-month Return	95
	3.2.3	Causality of the Change of Beta and the Change of Institutional	
		Ownership	96
	3.2.4	Risk Shifting?	97
Bibliography			110
Vita			145

List of Tables

1.1	Average Beta Choice Measures of Institutional Investors	36
1.2	Betas Chosen by Mutual Funds and Benchmark Betas	37
1.3	Bad Beta and Good Beta	39
1.4	Average Liquidity Selection Measures of Institutional Investors	40
1.5	Beta and Liquidity	41
1.6	Beta Choice and Liquidity Selection	42
1.7	Beta Choice Measure and Fund Characteristics	43
1.8	Quarterly DGTW Performance Sorted on BC Measures	44
1.9	Mutual Fund Trades and Betas	45
1.10	A Comparison of Current Beta and Past Betas of stocks Chosen by Institu-	
	tional Investors	46
1.11	Predict the Mean Variance Ratio of the Market Return	47
1.12	Predict Market Return	48
1.13	Predict Market Volatility	49
1.14	Summary Statistics of Fama French Factors	50
1.15	Stock Beta and Characteristics	51
2.1	Summary statistics	80

2.2	Performance measures and loadings calculated using the CAPM	81
2.3	Performance measures and loadings calculated using Fama-French three	
	factor model	82
2.4	Performance measures and loadings calculated using Carhart four factor	
	model	83
2.5	Time varying mutual fund performance with investor sentiment	84
2.6	Time varying performance: DGTW measures	85
2.7	Time varying performance under two new sentiment measures	86
2.8	Time series regressions: portfolios	87
2.9	Sentiment timing test	88
2.10	Summary statistics of the merged database	89
2.11	Time series regressions	90
3.1	Number of Mutual Funds in Each Fund Category	98
3.2	Average Beta Choice Measures of Mutual Funds in Each Category	99
3.3	Average Beta Choice Measures of Mutual Funds in Each Category Condi-	
	tioned on Last Year's Market Return	100
3.4	The Causality of the Change of Beta and the Change of Institutional Own-	
	ership	101
3.5	A Fund's Beta Choice and Its Net Money Flow	102
3.6	The Significance of the Relation between Difference in Alphas and Senti-	
	ment	103
3.7	Flow and Sentiment	104
3.8	Relation Between Sentiment and Difference in Flow into small funds and	
	big funds	105
3.9	Funds' Weights in Each Size Quintile of Stocks	106

3.10	Regression of funds' size weights on sentiment	107
3.11	Predictive Regression of Weight Difference of Mutual Funds on Size	108

List of Figures

1.1	An illustration of Beta Choice	27
1.2	Average BC measure over time	28
1.3	Average BC measure as a percentage of benchmark betas over time	29
1.4	Average BC Measures as a percentage of benchmark betas across stock	
	characteristics	30
1.5	Average BC Measure and Future Market Volatility	34

Chapter 1

Beta Choice of Institutional Investors

1.1 Introduction

Research on how to evaluate the performance of a fund manager can be dated back to as early as the 1930s when Cowles (1933) published his work 'Can stock market forecasters forecast?' Numerous performance measures have been introduced since then. However, as noted by Roll (1992), "Today's professional money manager is often judged by total return performance relative to a prespecified benchmark, usually a broadly diversified index of assets." This is understandable for three reasons. First, as argued by Roll (1992), "This is a sensible approach because the sponsor's most direct alternative to an active manager is an index fund matching the benchmark." Second, this benchmarking method is the easiest for an average investor of a fund to understand. Thus, if a fund manager fails to beat his benchmark, marketing will barely talk to him.¹ Third, the payoff function of a fund manager is often related to his ability to beat the benchmark. For example, some funds adjust their fees "depending on whether they lead or trail the returns of market benchmarks

¹See the article "Fund Manager's Diary: The dollar calls - but watch out for growling bears" on Page 32 in *Investors Chronicle* of December 18 1998.

over a certain period of time."²

Although previous research has examined institutional investors' stock preference, few papers have exclusively focused on their beta choices, especially when investors are subject to a benchmark. In this study, we address three important economic questions. First, Do institutional investors hold securities with higher beta risk than their benchmarks? Second, What are the determinants of the strength of this preference if they do so? Third, How does their beta preference reflect their perspective on the future market?

If a fund manager is properly benchmarked in the risk-adjusted sense (for example, Jenson's Alpha (Jensen 1968)), his abnormal return, alpha, should not be affected by his beta choice. However, if the manager has a big concern on beating the benchmark, on the one hand, he would choose a portfolio to co-move with the factors ³ as much as possible. In this way the manager can earn higher factor premium than the benchmark if the factor premium is positive.⁴ On the other hand, the more the manager chooses to co-move with the factors, the farther he is from the benchmark, which fund managers do not like.⁵ Therefore, there is a trade-off between expected performance and the volatility of tracking error. Thus, the manager's beta choice has an optimal level, which depends on his perceived future factor returns and volatilities as suggested by my simple model. Furthermore, controlling for factors like size, book-to-market-ratio and momentum and focusing only on his market beta choice, my simple model shows that a fund manager's chosen market beta for his portfolio will be bigger than that of his benchmark and is positively correlated with his expected market return and negatively correlated with his expected market volatility.

²See the article "Some Fund Firms Tie Pay to Performance" in the section of C19 of *The Wall Street Journal* on March 20, 2002.

³For example, factors in the Carhart 4-factor model (Carhart 1997).

⁴For example, the manager may tilt his portfolio more than his benchmark toward small stocks, value stocks or momentum stocks. In this way, his loadings on the factors will be higher than those of his benchmark and thus he can earn higher factor premium than on the benchmark portfolio.

⁵As pointed out by Peter L. Bernstein, "Benchmark risk – the prospect that a manager might stray too far from an index – ranks among the greater sins in their morality code." See "Breakthrough: Should fund chiefs be allowed to invest differently?" in *Barron's* on April 7, 2003.

To test these model predictions empirically, I introduce an innovative way to measure how institutional investors choose betas. Basically, I divide all the CRSP stocks into 125 stock groups by triple dependent sorts on size, book-to-market ratio and momentum (in this order), and then compare the beta of a stock chosen by institutional investors with the average beta of the group that the stock belongs to. This sorting procedure is similar in spirit to the pioneering approach of Daniel, Grinblatt, Titman, and Wermers (1997) where they use it to investigate mutual fund performance. The benefit of this sorting procedure is threefold. First, the risk sorted portfolio is a more accurate method of controlling for stock characteristics than the regression approach. Second, characteristic matching allows for benchmarks that gauge more precisely how high or low investors choose betas in a characteristic group and should have more statistical power to detect any pattern of investors' beta choice than regression approaches. Third, the benchmark allows for a more comprehensive and accurate investigation of investors' beta choice, for example, the predictability of beta choice. In addition, calculating a portfolio's beta from the holdings of the portfolio is much more accurate than calculating from the portfolio returns (Jiang, Yao, and Yu 2005).

In this paper, my results show that actively managed mutual funds and institutional investors tend to hold stocks with higher betas even after controlling for their characteristics. Specifically, controlling for size, book-to-market ratio and momentum, mutual funds and other institutional investors each quarter choose stocks with betas on average 5.872% and 5.375% higher than their corresponding benchmark betas, respectively. These results hold whether I use daily or monthly returns to measure betas, or I use the value weighted CRSP index or the S&P 500 index as a benchmark.

Alternatively, two other explanations for these results are also possible. First, as pointed out by Chen, Jegadeesh, and Wermers (2000), institutional investors (specifically mutual funds) tend to pick stocks with greater liquidity. If a stock's liquidity is positively

correlated to its beta, we may observe the previous trading pattern of institutional investors.

For this hypothesis, I test the liquidity selections of institutional investors under the same framework as I test their beta choices. Using Amihud (2002) measure of illiquidity, I confirm that institutional investors tend to pick more liquid stocks even after controlling for stocks' risk characteristics such as size, book-to-market ratio and momentum. This shows that institutional investors tend to demand liquidity instead of providing liquidity. I also find that the liquidity of a stock is not highly correlated with its beta and the average correlation is only 0.02. Moreover, the beta choice of institutional investors is not correlated with their liquidity selection after I control for the lagged beta choice and investor characteristics. Thus, the first explanation of beta choice is not valid.

Second, since investor trading activities may change the beta of a stock, the pattern of high beta stock preference may be caused by heavy institutional investor inflows. For this hypothesis, I indeed find that institutional investors' trading activities in a stock affect its beta. That is, a stock's beta is positively correlated with its institutional investor inflows. My results show that this is true not only for the level of beta but also the change of (adjusted) beta. However this still can not explain why institutional investors hold stocks until their betas go above the characteristic group averages. In particular, I do not find that there have been significant changes of the betas of stocks since one quarter or one year before investors hold them.

Campbell and Vuolteenaho (2004a) decompose the beta into cash-flow beta and discount-rate beta. They claim that the cash-flow beta is bad since overloading on high cash-flow beta can not increase a long-term investor's portfolio return but increase its return variation, thus its risk. On the other hand, discount-rate beta is good since the risk of a stock for a long-term investor is determined not by the stock's overall beta with market but by its bad cash-flow beta with a secondary influence from its discount-rate beta. Therefore, a

natural robustness check is to investigate the institutional investors' choices of good and bad betas. My results show that institutional investors overweight in both high good beta stocks and high bad beta stocks. This further reinforces my findings of the higher overall beta choice of institutional investors.

The above results confirm the first prediction of my model that generally a benchmark investor would choose higher beta stocks than his benchmark. The second prediction is that the magnitude of beta difference he would choose relative to the benchmark will depend on his expected future market return and volatility. Specifically, my model predicts that if institutional investors are subject to a benchmark, their beta choice will negatively correlate with expected market volatility. The intuition is that if he thinks that the future market is more volatile, she'd better stay with the benchmark, thus his chosen beta within a stock characteristic group will be close to the group average. On the other hand, if he expects that the future market is less volatile, he would be less risk averse and dare to deviate from the benchmark. My results confirm this prediction. I find that the average beta choice measure has the strong predictability for the future market volatility. That is, low average beta choice measure can predict high volatility in the future and vice versa.

I am not the first to investigate the beta preference of institutional investors. The evidence in the literature on the beta choice of institutional investors is conflicting. On the one hand, Falkenstein (1996) shows that there is a negative but not statistically significant relationship between mutual fund ownership and stock beta. On the other hand, Karceski (2002) finds that equity mutual fund managers in aggregate overweight high-beta stocks relative to the overall market. Frieder and Subrahmanyam (2005) also document that institutional investors have a statistically and economically significantly strong preference for high beta stocks. Bennett, Sias, and Starks (2003) also have similar findings. However, my findings are different from the above results in three important ways. First, I am talking

about the high beta preference in a different framework. Most of the above results show that institutional investors prefer higher beta stocks relative to the cross-sectional average. There is only one benchmark beta for their comparisons. That is the average beta in the market. In my paper, I have different benchmark betas for different stocks such that I can more precisely and explicitly control for stock characteristics. The result is more puzzling considering beta's death. Second, none of them use holdings data as I do to calculate the betas of institutional investors' portfolios, thus my approach has more statistical power and can impose more precise controls. Third, my results show that the magnitude of institutional investors' high beta preference can predict the future market mean-variance ratio and volatility – one connection that no one has established before.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows. In Section 1.2, I introduce a simple model to illustrate why fund managers care about beta and further discuss the motivation for the investigation. In Section 1.3, I describe the data I use and variables of interest and lay out my hypothesis and describe my empirical methodology. In Section 1.4, I report the results of empirical tests. Section 1.5 concludes this paper.

1.2 Model

Before I go to the formal model, the basic intuition of why a fund manager chooses high beta can be illustrated in Figure 1. If a fund manager wants to beat the market, he would choose a stock that can deliver higher expected return than the market return, i.e., above the line *m* in Figure 1. However, if it is prohibitively costly to deliver a positive alpha, a fund manager will not choose the area above the security market line *l*. Thus only the area that is right to $\beta = 1$ and below line *l* and above *m* is feasible to a fund manager. In this area, $\beta > 1$.

My formal model is as follows. Suppose that a fund manager is subject to a bench-

mark M in the sense that his payoff function depends on returns in excess of the benchmark. In order to make the model on focus and simple, I do not impose a complex performance measure for the manager. I only use the excess return of the fund portfolio to measure the manager's performance. This is reasonable since it is the easiest benchmarking method that can be understood by average investors of a fund. Assume that the fund manager is risk averse and has an exponential utility function which can be simply described as a mean variance format if returns are normally distributed. I also assume that it is costly to generate a positive alpha. The cost function is as denoted as $c(\alpha)$.

Denote a fund manager's benchmark return as r_b , and portfolio return as r_p . Suppose that the return generating process is as follows.

$$r = \alpha + \beta' f + \epsilon$$

where *f* is a vector of factor returns and β is a vector of factor loadings.

A fund manager chooses the alpha and factor loadings to maximize his utility function, which is similar to the factor approach in Admati, Bhattacharya, Pfliederer, and Ross (1986). Then, we have,

$$\max_{\alpha_p,\beta_p} E\left(U(\alpha_p + \beta'_p f - (\alpha_b + \beta'_b f))\right) - c(\alpha_p - \alpha_b)$$

Solve this problem, we have,

$$\Delta\beta = \beta_p - \beta_b = \frac{1}{\gamma}V(f)^{-1}E(f)$$

where V(f) is the variance covariance matrix of the factor returns, and the constant γ represents the risk aversion coefficient of the fund manager.

Suppose we have four factors-excess market return, size (SMB), value (HML) and

momentum (UMD). Plug in their variance covariance matrix and their means from the historical data (1928-2004) which are shown in the appendix, we have $\Delta\beta = (2.97, 1.48, 5.41, 6.32)'/\gamma$. This shows that fund managers will choose higher factor loadings than their benchmark portfolios. And if we can estimate the difference between the beta chosen by investors and the benchmark beta, we can estimate their risk aversion coefficient γ .

If we control for size, book-to-market ratio and momentum, the manager's portfolio and the benchmark portfolio would have similar loadings on those factors. His problem is narrowed down to the choice of the market beta. That is, the fund manager solves the following problem.

$$\max_{\alpha,\beta} \quad E\left(U(r_p - r_b)\right) - c(\alpha) \tag{1.1}$$

where r_b is the group average return, i.e., group benchmark return.

Since we have controlled for size, book-to-market ratio and momentum here, the return difference between the manager portfolio and the group average is mostly due to their difference of alpha's and beta's. Thus, the above problem can be transformed as follows.

$$\max_{\alpha,\beta} \quad \alpha + (\beta - \beta_b) E(r_m) - \frac{\gamma}{2} \left(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 + (\beta - \beta_b)^2 \sigma_m^2 \right) - c(\alpha) \tag{1.2}$$

where β_b is the market beta of the benchmark portfolio and r_m is the market return.

Solve this problem, and we obtain that $\Delta\beta = \beta - \beta_b = \frac{E(r_m)}{\gamma\sigma_m^2}$, which delivers two messages. One is that the fund manager will choose higher beta relative to the group average, and the other is that the beta difference is negatively correlated with the manager's perceived market volatility and positively correlated with the expected market return.

1.3 Data and Methodology

1.3.1 Data

The institutional investor holdings data is from Thomson Financial CDA/Spectrum Institutional 13(f) Common Stock Holdings and Transactions database which covers the quarterly trading and holdings of institutions with over \$100 million under management from 1980 to 2004. My data on mutual fund holdings come from CDA/Spectrum Mutual Funds Holdings data at Wharton Research Data Services (WRDS) which span from 1978 to 2004. The funds that I include have the following self-declared investment objective: Aggressive Growth, Growth, Growth and Income, and Balanced–codes 2, 3, 4 and 7 respectively. Sector, bond, preferred, international, and any fund with an investment objective that is not oriented to general equity is excluded. That is, only actively managed mutual funds are included in my data.

Both holdings databases have some reporting issues, as addressed in the previous literature (See, for example, Gompers and Metrick (2001), Jiang, Yao, and Yu (2005) and Griffin, Harris, and Topaloglu (2004)). I am aware of these issues and carefully address them.

I obtain all the stock information from the Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP) and firm accounting information from COMPUSTAT. The data range for both data I use in the paper is from 1980 to 2004.

I obtain from Professor John Campbell's website the cash flow news and discount rate news in order to calculate the cash flow beta ("bad" beta) and discount rate bate ("good" beta) of each stock. Also, the volatility index data, VIX data is obtained from CBOE (Chicago Board Options Exchange) website.

1.3.2 Methodology

In this section, I will introduce the measures I have used in the paper, including the measures of stock beta, liquidity, Beta Choice Measure and Liquidity Selection Measure. After that, I will lay out my hypotheses to be tested.

The Measure of Stock Beta

The betas of individual stocks are estimated on a rolling basis using the 12-month daily returns prior to the date of portfolio holdings. To account for the effect of non-synchronous trading, I estimate the market model for each stock using market returns up to five daily leads and five daily lags, in addition to the contemporaneous term. That is,

$$r_{j,t} = a_j + \sum_{q=-5}^{5} b_{j,q} r_{m,t-q} + e_{j,t}$$

Following Dimson (1979), the stock beta is the sum of the estimated coefficients $\hat{b}_{jq}, q = -5, ..., 5$:

$$\hat{b}_j = \sum_{q=-5}^5 \hat{b}_{jq}$$

I require a stock to have at least 60 daily observations during the estimation period, otherwise I assume a value of one for the stock beta. Non-stock securities are assumed to have a beta of zero.

For a robustness check, I also use monthly returns to estimate betas. Under this situation, a backward 60-month rolling window is used for the beta estimation. The formula I use is as follows.

$$r_{jt} = a_j + b_{j1}r_{m,t} + b_{j2}r_{m,t-1} + e_{j,t}$$

The stock beta is the sum of the estimated coefficients b_{j1} and b_{j2} :

$$\hat{b}_j = b_{j1} + b_{j2}$$

For the market index, I use the value-weighted CRSP return index and S&P 500 index.

The Measure of Beta Choice

In order to measure how institutional investors choose stocks based on beta after controlling for size, book-to-market ratio and momentum, I sort all the CRSP stocks into five quintiles according to their size first. Size breaking points are based on NYSE stocks. Then within each size quintile, I further sort stocks into five smaller quintiles according to their bookto-market ratios, and finally within each book-to-market quintile, I sort stocks into five quintiles according to their prior year returns. Thus I obtain 125 stock groups after this triple dependent sorts.

I measure the Beta Choice (BC) of a portfolio during quarter t as follows.

$$BC_t = \sum_{j=1}^N \omega_{j,t} \left[\tilde{\beta}_{j,t} - \tilde{\beta}_t^{b_{j,t}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t}$ is the portfolio weight for stock *j* at the beginning of period *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{j,t}$ is the estimated beta for stock *j* at time *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_t^{b_{j,t}}$ is the group average of betas within the group which stock *j* belongs to at time *t*;

Intuitively, if an investor always choose the average beta stock within a group, the measure will be zero. On the other hand, if on average, an investor always choose stocks with higher betas than the groups, his BC measure will be positive and vice versa. That is, the higher the beta of the stock he chooses relative to the group average, the higher the BC

measure.

The Measure of Liquidity

Based on Amihud (2002), during each quarter t, I measure the liquidity as follows.

$$LIQ_{i,d,t} = -\frac{1}{D_t} \sum_{d=1}^{D_t} \frac{R_{i,d}}{VOL_{i,d}}$$

where D_t is the number of trading days in quarter *t* (approximately 63 days), $R_{i,d}$ and $VOL_{i,d}$ are, respectively, stock *i*'s daily return and its dollar volume in day *d* of quarter *t*. I may use other measures of liquidity based on microstructure variables, like bid-ask spread, but according to Amihud (2002), this measure has high correlation with measures constructed using microstructure variables.

The Measure of Liquidity Selection

I measure the Liquidity Selection (LS) of a portfolio during quarter t as follows.

$$LS_{t} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \omega_{j,t} \left[L\tilde{I}Q_{j,t} - L\tilde{I}Q_{t}^{b_{j,t}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t}$ is the portfolio weight for stock *j* at the beginning of period *t*, and $L\tilde{I}Q_{j,t}$ is the estimated liquidity for stock *j* at time *t*, and $L\tilde{I}Q_t^{b_{j,t}}$ is the group average liquidity within the group which stock *j* belongs to at time *t*;

1.4 Results

1.4.1 Beta Choice of Institutional Investors

Table 1.1 reports the average Beta Choice (BC) measures of institutional investors. As described in the methodology section, the Beta Choice (BC) of a portfolio during quarter t is measured as follows.

$$BC_t = \sum_{j=1}^N \omega_{j,t} \left[\tilde{\beta}_{j,t} - \tilde{\beta}_t^{b_{j,t}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t}$ is the portfolio weight for stock *j* at the beginning of period *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{j,t}$ is the estimated beta for stock *j* at time *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{t}^{b_{j,t}}$ is the group average of betas within the group which stock *j* belongs to at time *t*.

Panel A of Table 1.1 reports average Beta Choice Measures based on betas derived from daily returns. Each quarter, I check whether cross sectionally, the average Beta Choice Measure is positive or not. The panel shows that if betas are calculated based on the value-weighted CRSP index, out of 100 quarters in my data, the number of positive quarters for mutual funds is 97 and 96 of them are statistically significant (at the 5% significance level). On the other hand, during only 3 quarters, the average BC measures are negative and none of them are statistically significant. For Institutions (i.e., firms in 13f database), the number of positive quarters for mutual funds is 98 and 93 of them are statistically significant. Similar to mutual funds, institutions have only 2 negative quarters, but none of them are statistically significant. The quarterly average of the cross-sectional average BC measures of mutual funds is 5.872% and the t-statistic is 17.07. That means, on average, mutual fund managers pick stocks with betas that are 5.872% higher than the group average. For institutions, they choose 5.375% higher beta than the group average. The difference between the average BC measures of mutual funds and institutions is 0.497% and statistically significant, which means that mutual fund managers have a greater tendency to pick higher beta stocks than

other institutions. If betas are based on S&P 500 index, the results are similar.

Panel B of Table 1.1 reports average Beta Choice Measures based on betas derived from monthly returns. I obtain similar results.

To further illustrate the betas chosen by institutional investors and benchmark betas, I tabulate the average betas chosen by mutual funds across two characteristic dimensions and their corresponding benchmark betas in Table 1.2. Specifically, I obtain three groups of 25 time series average benchmark betas as reported in brackets in Table 1.2 by averaging benchmark betas along any two of the size, book-to-market ratio and momentum dimensions over time. Also, each quarter, in each stock group (i.e., a group of stocks with the same size, book-to-market ratio and momentum rank), I calculate the average betas of the stocks chosen by mutual funds, then I report time-series average of this average along any two of the size, book-to-market ratio and momentum dimensions. As shown in Panel A, along size and book-to-market ratio dimensions, mutual funds always choose higher beta stocks than the group benchmarks. This can be seen more clearly in Figure 4, which plots the average percentage difference between betas chosen by mutual funds and benchmark betas along any two of the size, book-to-market ratio and momentum dimensions. These results confirm further that institutional investors prefer higher beta stocks. Panel B and Panel C describe similar results. Moreover, one interesting pattern in Panel B and Panel C of Figure 4 is worth mentioning. We note that mutual funds tend to pick even higher beta stocks in the higher momentum groups.

1.4.2 Good Beta And Bad Beta

Campbell (1991) argues that the unexpected market return can be decomposed into two components as follows.

$$r_{t+1} - E_t r_{t+1} = \Delta E_{t+1} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \rho^j \Delta d_{t+1+j} - \Delta E_{t+1} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} r_{t+1+j}$$

= $N_{CF,t+1} - N_{DR,t+1}$ (1.3)

where r_{t+1} is a log stock return, d_{t+1} is the log dividend paid by the stock, Δ denotes a period change. They call the two terms in the equation $N_{CF,t+1}$ and $N_{DR,t+1}$ as cash flow news and discount rate news respectively. These two components can be backed out using a VAR methodology. Assume that the data are generated by a first-order VAR model.

$$\mathbf{z}_{t+1} = \mathbf{a} + \Gamma \mathbf{z}_t + \mathbf{u}_{t+1} \tag{1.4}$$

where \mathbf{z}_{t+1} is a 4-by-1 vector with the *excess market return* (measured as the log excess return on the value-weighted CRSP index over T-bills) as its first element. The other three state variables are *term spread* (measured as the difference between the ten-year constant maturity taxable bond yield and the yield on short-term taxable notes), *the market's smoothed price-earnings ratio* (measured as the log ratio of S&P 500 index to a ten year trailing moving average of the aggregate S&P 500 earnings), and the *small-stock value spread* (measured as the difference between the log book-to-market ratios of small value and small growth stocks).

The cash flow news and discount rate news can be backed out as follows.

$$N_{CF,t+1} = (\mathbf{e1}' + \mathbf{e1}'\lambda)\mathbf{u}_{t+1}$$

$$N_{DR,t+1} = \mathbf{e1}'\lambda\mathbf{u}_{t+1}.$$
(1.5)

where $\lambda \equiv \rho \Gamma (\mathbf{I} - \rho \Gamma)^{-1}$.

Then a stock cash flow beta and discount rate beta can calculated as follows.

$$\hat{\beta}_{i,CF} = \frac{\widehat{Cov}\left(r_{i,t}, \hat{N}_{CF,t}\right)}{\widehat{Var}\left(\hat{N}_{CF,t}, \hat{N}_{DR,t}\right)} + \frac{\widehat{Cov}\left(r_{i,t}, \hat{N}_{CF,t-1}\right)}{\widehat{Var}\left(\hat{N}_{CF,t}, \hat{N}_{DR,t}\right)}$$
(1.6)

$$\hat{\beta}_{i,DR} = \frac{\widehat{Cov}\left(r_{i,t}, \hat{N}_{DR,t}\right)}{\widehat{Var}\left(\hat{N}_{CF,t}, \hat{N}_{DR,t}\right)} + \frac{\widehat{Cov}\left(r_{i,t}, \hat{N}_{DR,t-1}\right)}{\widehat{Var}\left(\hat{N}_{CF,t}, \hat{N}_{DR,t}\right)}$$
(1.7)

where $\hat{\beta}_{i,CF}$ is the cash flow beta, and $\hat{\beta}_{i,DR}$ is the discount rate beta.

If the equity premium stays in a steady state, a long-term investor should care less about future cash flow news which affects the investor's wealth but not the investment opportunities. Therefore, high loading on the cash flow betas can only increase the risk of the portfolio but not the return in the long run. In this sense, the cash flow beta is bad. On the other hand, the change of discount rate can affect wealth and predict the enhancement of future investment opportunities. Therefore the discount rate beta is good.

Here, I want to investigate whether the high beta choice of institutional investors is due to their high loadings on good betas. Table 1.3 reports the decomposition of the Beta Choice (BC) measures into Good Beta Choice and Bad Beta Choice. Good Beta is a stock's sensitivity to discount rate news and bad beta is the sensitivity to cash flow news.

The left panel of Table 1.3 reports average Good Beta Choice Measures based on betas derived from monthly returns. Each quarter, I check whether cross sectionally, the average Good Beta Choice Measure is positive or not. The panel shows that out of 88 quarters in my data, 83 quarters for mutual funds is positive and 74 of them are statistically significant (at the 5% significance level). On the other hand, only 5 quarters are negative, and only one of them is statistically significant. For Institutions (i.e., firms in 13f database), the number of positive quarters for mutual funds is 74 and 64 of them are statistically significant. Similar to mutual funds, institutions have only 14 negative quarters, and five of them are statistically significant. The quarterly average of the cross-sectional average BC

measures of mutual funds is 4.408% and the t-statistic is 17.07, which means that on average, mutual fund managers pick stocks with good betas that are 5.872% higher than the group average. For institutions, they choose 1.695% higher good beta than the group average. The difference between the average BC measures of mutual funds and institutions is 2.713% and statistically significant, which means that mutual fund managers have a greater tendency to pick higher good beta than institutions. The results are similar for the bad betas (cash-flow betas) except that mutual funds and other institutional investors have no significant difference in their preference for bad betas.

The above results show that institutional investors prefer both higher good betas and bad betas relative to the group averages. Since beta can be decomposed into good beta and bad beta, these results further demonstrate that institutional investors tend to pick higher beta stocks than the group benchmarks.

1.4.3 Beta Choice and Liquidity Selection

In order to check the hypothesis that the high beta choice of institutional investors may be due to their liquidity selection. I design a measure to calculate the average Liquidity Selection (LS) of institutional investors. I measure the Liquidity Selection (LS) of a portfolio during quarter t as follows.

$$LS_{t} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \omega_{j,t} \left[L\tilde{I}Q_{j,t} - L\tilde{I}Q_{t}^{b_{j,t}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t}$ is the portfolio weight for stock *j* at the beginning of period *t*, and $L\tilde{I}Q_{j,t}$ is the estimated liquidity for stock *j* at time *t*, and $L\tilde{I}Q_t^{b_{j,t}}$ is the group average liquidity within the group which stock *j* belongs to at time *t*. This measure is similar in spirit to the Beta Choice measure.

I find that out of 100 quarters in my data, 77 quarters have positive average LS

measures across mutual funds, and 59 of them are significantly positive. And 23 quarters have negative average LS measures across mutual funds, only one quarter is significantly negative. The time series average of the cross-sectional average LS measures across mutual funds is 0.413, which is statistically significant. I find similar results for institutions. Mutual funds slightly prefer more liquid stocks than institutions. These results show that on average institution investors prefer liquid stocks instead of illiquid stocks. To investigate how their liquidity selection affects their beta selection. I run the following Fama-Macbeth regressions for mutual funds and institutional investors.

$$BC_{it} = a + \sum_{p=1}^{4} b_{ip} \cdot BC_{i,t-p} + \sum_{q=0}^{4} c_{iq} \cdot LS_{i,t-q} + \varepsilon_{it}$$

Coefficients are estimated using Fama-Macbeth method. That is, every quarter, I run the BC measure of each fund (firm) on its LS measure and lagged BC and LS measures, then I calculate the time-series average.

The left panel of Table 1.6 reports the relationship between Beta Choice (BC) and Liquidity Selection (LS) Measures of Mutual Funds, and the right panel reports that of Institutional Investors. I can see that the coefficient on the contemporaneous liquidity selection measure is significantly positive for mutual funds in different regression specifications. However, the adjusted R^2 is pretty low for the univariate regression. For the institutional investors, the coefficient is significant only in the univariate regression.

1.4.4 Beta Choice and Fund Characteristics

To further investigate what can explain the beta choice of a mutual fund, I run Beta Choice measure on several fund characteristics including age, size, category and turnover. The

regression specification is as follows.

$$BC_{it} = a + \sum_{p=1}^{3} b_{ip} BC_{i,t-p} + \sum_{q=0}^{3} c_{iq} LS_{i,t-q} + f(fund_characteristics_{it}) + u_{it}$$

Age is defined as the number of quarters since a fund appeared in the holdings database. Assets is the quarterly total assets of a fund reported in 13f database. BC(t-1), BC(t-2) and BC(t-3) are the lagged 1, 2, and 3 quarter BC measures. Aggressive Growth, Growth & Income and Balanced are dummy variables. They are equal to 1 if the fund falls into the corresponding category, and equal to zero otherwise. If these dummy variables are used in the regression, the intercept will not be used to avoid multicollinearity. LS is the Liquidity Selection measure. Its three lags are included. Turnover is fund trading turnover which is defined as the minimum of aggregate purchases and sales of securities divided by the average TNA over the calendar year. Coefficients are estimated using Fama-Macbeth method. That is, every quarter, I run the BC measure of each fund (firm) on the variables listed in the table, then I calculate the time-series average as coefficients.

In Table 1.7, I can find that the coefficient on the contemporaneous liquidity selection is no longer significant after controlling for fund characteristics. This further shows that liquidity selection is hard to justify the beta choice. It is interesting to note that funds in the aggressive growth category tend to have even stronger preference for high beta even after controlling for size, book-to-market and momentum.

1.4.5 DGTW Performance Sorted on BC Measure

In the Table 1.8, I investigate how the choice of beta affect the performance of mutual funds. I use DGTW measures to evaluate the performance of mutual funds. DGTW performance measure includes CS (Characteristic Selection) and CT (Characteristic Timing) measure here. *CS* is a measure of stock selection ability and uses as a benchmark the return of portfolio of stocks that is matched to each of the fund's holdings every quarter along three characteristic dimensions of stocks—size, book-to-market ratio, and momentum:

$$CS_t = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \tilde{\omega}_{j,t-1} \left[\tilde{R}_{j,t} - \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t-1}$ is the portfolio weight on stock *j* at the end of quarter t - 1, $\tilde{R}_{j,t}$ is the quarter *t* buy-and-hold return of stock *j*, and $\tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}}$ is the quarter *t* buy-and-hold return of the characteristic-based benchmark portfolio that is matched to stock *j* at the end of quarter t - 1. *CT* is a measure of style timing ability. It is defined as follows.

$$CT_t = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[\tilde{\omega}_{j,t-1} \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}} - \tilde{\omega}_{j,t-5} \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-5}} \right]$$

where the terms are defined similarly as in CS measure.

At the end of each quarter, I sort all the mutual funds into ten deciles according to their Beta Choice measure, then I examine the return of each decile next quarter. The table reports the quarterly average of the performance of each decile. As shown in the table, no monotonic pattern is found for the performance measures. The difference of CS performance between Low BC and High BC decile is negative but not significant. Actually, the CS performance is U-shaped. Decile 8 and 9 have higher performance than others. When use monthly returns, I obtain the similar pattern. At the same time, I do not observe any pattern of CT measures. According to the above results, we can conclude that beta choice actually does not affect performance. This is reasonable and consistent with the empirical evidence that beta is no longer associated with expected return after controlling for size, book-to-market ratio and momentum.

1.4.6 Mutual Fund Trades and BC Measure

Table 1.9 reports how mutual fund trading activities affect a stock's beta. I define mutual fund trades on a stock as the change of the aggregate mutual fund ownership of the stock. The dependent variables are the change of beta of a stock and the change of its adjusted beta. The adjusted beta is the difference between the beta and the average beta in the risk group which the stock belongs to. Each quarter, I run the beta change or the adjusted beta change on its lags and lagged mutual fund trades, then I calculate the time series average as coefficients. The variance-covariance matrices are adjusted using Newey-West method with 6 lags.

Table 1.9 shows that mutual fund trades can strongly affect both the change of beta and the change of the adjusted beta. That is, the coefficients on the lagged trades and lagged two period trades are significantly positive. This raises a concern that the fact of higher beta choice of institutional investors may be caused by their trading activities.

To address this issue, I make a comparison of current beta and past betas of stocks chosen by institutional investors. Table 1.10 reports this comparison. For a stock held by an institutional investor, I compare its beta at the time when it is picked with its beta a quarter or year before it is picked. Every quarter, for each institutional investor, I calculate the weighted average of the difference between the current beta and past beta of each stock in his holdings. Thus, I obtain a BD (Beta Difference) measure for each institutional investor. Formally, the BD measure is defined as follows.

$$BD_t = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \omega_{j,t} \left[\tilde{\beta}_{j,t} - \tilde{\beta}_{j,t-i} \right]$$
(1.8)

where $\omega_{j,t}$ is the portfolio weight for a stock *j* at the beginning of period *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{j,t}$ is the estimated beta for the stock *j* at time *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{j,t-i}$ is the beta of the stock *j* at time *t*-*i*, where

i can be 1 (i.e., a quarter ago) or 4 (i.e., a year ago). In the table, Panel A reports average Beta Difference Measures based on current betas and one-quarter-ago betas, and Panel B reports average Beta Difference Measures based on current betas and one-year-ago betas. All betas are calculated based on daily returns and the benchmark used is value weighted CRSP index.

From the table, I find that the number of positive quarters is almost the same with that of negative quarters for mutual funds and the average BD measure is not significant, which means that the betas of stocks chosen by mutual funds have no significant changes since one quarter or one year ago. I obtain similar results for other institutional investors. These results show that the pattern of the beta choice is not driven by the trading activities of institutional investors.

1.4.7 Predictability

As my model suggests, the beta difference is proportional to the mean variance ratio of the market return. That is, $\Delta\beta = \beta - \beta_b = \frac{E(r_m)}{\gamma\sigma_m^2}$. Thus, the beta choice of a fund manager can reflect how he thinks about future mean variance ratio of the market return.

Table 1.11 describes the predictability of Beta Choice measures on the mean variance ratio of the market return, which is defined as the ratio of average market return to the variance of the market return, i.e., $MVRation = \bar{r_m}/\sigma_m^2$. The following regression is run on BC measures, lagged market volatility and implied volatility VIX measures.

$$MVRatio_{t} = b_{0} + b_{1}BC_{t-1} * 100 + b_{2}MVRatio_{t-1} + b_{3}VIX_{m-1} + b_{4}VIX_{m-2} + b_{5}VIX_{m-3}$$
(1.9)

where $MVRatio_t$ is the mean variance ratio of the market return at quarter t, and BC_{t-1} is the average BC measure at quarter t - 1. VIX_{m-1} is the VIX measure one month before the quarter t end. VIX_{m-2} and VIX_{m-3} are the VIX measure two or three months before the
quarter *t* end, respectively. Coefficients are estimated using GMM method and co-variance matrices are adjusted using Newey-West method.

We can find from Table 1.11 that the coefficients on the BC measure are significantly positive, which means that the average BC measure can indeed predict the mean variance ratio of the future market return. According to my model, the coefficient on the average BC measure is actually the risk aversion coefficient of mutual funds and shown in the table to be above 100, which shows that mutual funds are extremely risk averse. This result is consistent with Becker, Ferson, Myers, and Schill (1999a).

In order to further investigate whether the predictability of the mean variance ratio by the average BC measure is from the predictability of the future market return or the predictability of the future market volatility, I run two additional predictive regressions. One is to check on the predictability of the future market return and the other on the predictability of the future market volatility.

Table 1.12 exams the predictability of Beta Choice measures on market return. The following regression is run on BC measures, lagged market volatility and implied volatility VIX measures.

$$Mktret_{t} = b_{0} + b_{1} \cdot BC_{t-1} + b_{2} \cdot Mktret_{t-1} + b_{3} \cdot VIX_{m-1} + b_{4} \cdot VIX_{m-2} + b_{5} \cdot VIX_{m-3}$$
(1.10)

where $Mktret_t$ is the market return at quarter t, and BC_{t-1} is the average BC measure at quarter t - 1. The left panel reports the results using BC measures based on daily market returns and the right panel reports the results using BC measures based on monthly market returns. In this table, I find that after controls for implied volatility and lagged market return, the average BC measure can not predict the future market return.

Table 1.13 describes the predictability of Beta Choice measures on market volatility. The following regression is run on BC measures, lagged market volatility and implied volatility VIX measures.

$$MktVol_{t} = b_{0} + b_{1} \cdot BC_{t-1} + b_{2} \cdot MktVol_{t-1} + b_{3} \cdot VIX_{m-1} + b_{4} \cdot VIX_{m-2} + b_{5} \cdot VIX_{m-3}$$
(1.11)

where $MktVol_t$ is the market volatility at quarter t, and BC_{t-1} is the average BC measure at quarter t - 1.

As shown in the table, the lagged BC measure can strongly predict future market volatility. I also find that, not reported here, the significance is persistent during both half sample periods.

In summary, the average BC measure of mutual funds can predict the mean variance ratio of the future market return and this predictability seems to come from the strong predictability of the future market volatility.

1.5 Conclusion

It's understandable that institutional investors seek alpha, but it is hard to believe that they also seek beta, especially given the beta's death. In this paper, I design an innovative measure to investigate the beta choice of institutional investors. This measure can carefully and accurately control for a stock's risk characteristics such as size, book-to-market ratio and momentum. I find that institutional investors prefer high beta stocks within the same characteristic group. That is, given similar size, book-to-market ratio, and momentum, an institutional investor tend to choose the stock with higher beta. This result is robust whether I use daily or monthly returns, and whether I use the value-weighted CRSP index or S&P 500 index as the benchmark.

Further results show that investors' liquidity selection is hard to justify their beta choice although there is some evidence that these two choices are positively correlated.

Another possible explanation is that institutional investors' trading activities will affect beta. That is, big institutional investor inflows (outflows) will push up (down) a stock's beta. My results show that it is indeed the case. The increase (decrease) of institutional ownership can drive up (down) not only the level of beta but also the change of (adjusted) beta. However by checking the change of betas for each fund, I do not find evidence that the betas of stocks chosen by institutional investors have significant changes since one quarter or one year before institutional investors hold them.

I also find that institutional investors not only overweight in good beta (discount-rate beta) stocks, but also bad beta (cash-flow beta) stocks, thus the explanation that investors choose high overall beta is just because they choose high good beta is not the case here.

Additionally, I find that institutional investors' performance sorted based on Beta Choice measure does not exhibit a monotonic pattern, which shows that their beta choice is not motivated by their outperforming concern. Therefore, the only plausible explanation for the high beta choice of institutional investors is that they are subject to a benchmark which is consistent with my simple model.

I also confirm the second prediction of our model that the average beta choice of mutual funds can predict future market mean variance ratio and volatility. This predictability can be also explained by the fact that they are benchmark followers. Suppose there is a storm predicted, everyone will stay at their home or a shelter, but if weather is good, the tendency to stay home will be substantially reduced. This analog can apply to the beta choice of institutional investors. If they expect that the future market will be very volatile, they'd better stay close to their benchmarks, but in less volatile conditions managers load up more risky securities.

Some future work is interesting and promising. First, future research may investigate the time varying beta choice of institutional investors in this framework, that is, see more closely how they time the market. Second, we may investigate more closely how the beta choice of investigations affect individual stock returns. Finally, the degree of the deviation from a benchmark may proxy for an investor's confidence. Future work can investigate this linkage of investor optimism to other phenomena hypothesized to be related to overconfidence like momentum. Figure 1.1: An illustration of Beta Choice

This figure illustrates why fund managers choose stock with higher beta than one. The line l depicts the relationship between stock excess return and beta. The point M is for the market.



Figure 1.2: Average BC measure over time

This figure plots the quarterly cross-sectional average BC measures of mutual funds and institutional investors from 1980:Q1 to 2004:Q4. Market volatility is also plotted. Market volatility is calculated as the volatility of daily returns of the value weighted CRSP index during each quarter. The plotted volatility has been multiplied by 10.



Figure 1.3: Average BC measure as a percentage of benchmark betas over time

This figure plots the quarterly cross sectional average BC measure as a percentage of benchmark betas from 1980:Q1 to 2004:Q4. Each quarter, for each fund (firm), we divide its BC measure over its benchmark betas, and then calculate the cross sectional average as reported below.



Figure 1.4: Average BC Measures as a percentage of benchmark betas across stock characteristics

The figures below plot the average percentage difference between betas chosen by mutual funds and benchmark betas along any two of the size, book-to-market ratio and momentum dimensions. We form benchmark portfolios as follows. First we sort all the qualified stocks on CRSP into five size quintiles, then within each size quintile sort according book-tomarket ratio into five smaller quintiles, and finally within each smaller five quintiles (total 25 quintiles), sort into five even smaller quintiles based on momentum (piror year's return). Thus, we have 125 benchmark portfolios, each of which has its own size, book-to-mark ratio and momentum rank. Each quarter, we calculate the benchmark beta of a portfolio as the value-weighted average of the betas of all stocks in the portfolio. Thus we have 125 benchmark betas each quarter. By averaging benchmark betas along any two of the size, book-to-market ratio and momentum dimensions over time, we obtain 25 time series average benchmark betas. Each quarter, in each stock group (i.e., a group of stocks with the same size, book-to-market ratio and momentum rank), we calculate the average betas of the stocks chosen by mutual funds, then we further calculate time-series average of this average along any two of the three characteristic dimensions of stocks?size, book-to-market ratio and momentum. The figures below plot the percentage difference between average beta chosen by mutual funds and the corresponding benchmark betas. Mutual funds are actively managed (excluding sector, index, and other passive funds).



Panel A: Average BC Measures as a percentage of benchmark betas across size and book-to-market ratio dimensions



Panel B: Average BC Measures as a percentage of benchmark betas across size and momentum dimensions



Panel C: Average BC Measures as a percentage of benchmark betas across book-to-market ratio and momentum dimensions

Figure 1.5: Average BC Measure and Future Market Volatility

This figure plots the linear regression of lead 1-Qtr market volatility on average BC measure. Panel A plots the full sample with 1987Q4. Panel B doesn't include 1987Q4. Market volatility is also plotted. Market volatility is calculated as the volatility of daily returns of the value weighted CRSP index during each quarter. The plotted volatility has been multiplied by 10.

Panel A: Full Sample with 1987Q4



♦ Y ■ Predicted Y

Panel B: Full Sample Without 1987Q4



• Y • Predicted Y

Table 1.1: Average Beta Choice Measures of Institutional Investors

This table reports the average Beta Choice (BC) measures of institutional investors. Negative quarters is the number of quarters that have negative average BC measures across funds (firms). Positive Quarters is the number of quarters that have non-negative average BC measures across funds (firms). The numbers in square brackets are the number of quarters that is statistically significant. "Average BC" is the quarterly average of the average BC measures across funds (firms). The table. T-statistics are in brackets. I measure the Beta Choice (BC) of a portfolio during quarter t as follows.

$$BC_t = \sum_{j=1}^N \omega_{j,t} \left[\tilde{\beta}_{j,t} - \tilde{\beta}_t^{b_{j,t}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t}$ is the portfolio weight for stock *j* at the beginning of period *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{j,t}$ is the estimated beta for stock *j* at time *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_t^{b_{j,t}}$ is the group average of betas within the group which stock *j* belongs to at time *t*. Panel A reports average Beta Choice Measures based on betas derived from daily returns, and Panel B reports average Beta Choice Measures based on betas derived from monthly returns.

	Beta Ba	ased on VW CRS	SP index	Beta E	Based on S&P 50	0 index
	Mutual	Institutions	Difference	Mutual	Institutions	Difference
	Funds			Funds		
Total Quarters	100	100		100	100	
Positive	97	89		98	93	
	[95]	[79]		[94]	[76]	
Negative	3	11		2	7	
	[1]	[3]		[0]	[1]	
Average BC	5.875	2.708	3.167	5.371	2.557	2.815
	(16.88)	(12.29)	(13.80)	(16.33)	(13.05)	(11.96)

Panel A: Average Beta Choice (BC) measures based on betas derived from daily returns

Pane	B :	Average	Beta	Choice	(BC) measures	based o	on b	oetas d	lerived	from	month	ly returns
------	------------	---------	------	--------	-----	------------	---------	------	---------	---------	------	-------	------------

	Beta Ba	ased on VW CRS	SP index	Beta E	Based on S&P 50	0 index
	Mutual	Institutions	Difference	Mutual	Institutions	Difference
	Funds			Funds		
Total Quarters	100	100		100	100	
Positive	99	87		96	87	
	[93]	[72]		[85]	[70]	
Negative	1	13		4	13	
	[0]	[3]		[0]	[3]	
Average BC	4.868	2.155	2.713	4.544	2.083	2.461
	(19.57)	(11.77)	(16.41)	(17.52)	(12.07)	(13.90)

Table 1.2: Betas Chosen by Mutual Funds and Benchmark Betas

This table reports the average betas chosen by mutual funds and benchmark betas along any two of the size, book-to-market ratio and momentum dimensions. I form benchmark portfolios as follows. First I sort all the qualified stocks on CRSP into five size quintiles, then within each size quintile sort according book-to-market ratio into five smaller quintiles, and finally within each smaller five quintiles (total 25 quintiles), sort into five even smaller quintiles based on momentum (piror year's return). Thus, I have 125 benchmark portfolios, each of which has its own size, book-to-mark ratio and momentum rank. Each quarter, I calculate the benchmark beta of a portfolio as the value-weighted average of the betas of all stocks in the portfolio. Thus I have 125 benchmark betas each quarter. By averaging benchmark betas along any two of the size, book-to-market ratio and momentum dimensions over time, I obtain 25 time series average benchmark betas as reported below in brackets. Each quarter, in each stock group (i.e., a group of stocks with the same size, book-to-market ratio and momentum rank), I calculate the average betas of the stocks chosen by mutual funds, then I report time-series average of this average along any two of the size, book-to-market ratio and momentum dimensions as below. Mutual funds are actively managed (excluding sector, index, and other passive funds).

Panel A: Average Betas Chosen by Mutual Funds (Benchmark Betas in Brackets) across Size and BM/ME Quintiles

	Beta bas	ed on dail	y VW CF	RSP index	Beta based on monthly VW CRSP index returns				
	Growth	2	3	4	Value	Growth 2 3 4	Value		
Small	1.27	1.13	1.03	0.98	0.98	1.16 1.04 0.94 0.90	0.90		
	[1.19]	[1.07]	[1.00]	[0.95]	[0.98]	[1.07] [0.97] [0.90] [0.86]	[0.88]		
2	1.36	1.24	1.21	1.15	1.15	1.27 1.18 1.15 1.09	1.09		
	[1.27]	[1.13]	[1.07]	[1.05]	[1.08]	[1.18] [1.07] [1.02] [0.98]	[1.02]		
3	1.38	1.25	1.16	1.14	1.17	1.31 1.20 1.13 1.09	1.13		
	[1.26]	[1.14]	[1.06]	[1.04]	[1.09]	[1.20] [1.09] [1.02] [1.00]	[1.06]		
4	1.32	1.19	1.11	1.10	1.16	1.29 1.18 1.10 1.10	1.14		
	[1.23]	[1.11]	[1.05]	[1.03]	[1.09]	[1.20] [1.10] [1.04] [1.03]	[1.07]		
Big	1.18	1.00	0.97	0.98	1.02	1.20 1.04 1.01 1.02	1.05		
	[1.09]	[0.94]	[0.91]	[0.94]	[0.99]	[1.13] [0.99] [0.96] [0.98]	[1.02]		

Panel B: Average Betas Chosen by Mutual Funds (Benchmark Betas in Brackets) across Size and Momentum Quintiles

	Beta based on daily VW CRSP index returns					Beta based on monthly VW CRSP index returns				
	Low	2	3	4	High	Low	2	3	4	High
Small	1.23	1.03	0.95	0.97	1.24	1.11	0.94	0.88	0.89	1.15
	[1.22]	[1.02]	[0.90]	[0.89]	[1.15]	[1.08]	[0.92]	[0.83]	[0.81]	[1.04]
2	1.28	1.09	1.05	1.16	1.47	1.21	1.04	1.00	1.10	1.38
	[1.23]	[1.00]	[0.94]	[1.04]	[1.39]	[1.15]	[0.95]	[0.89]	[0.98]	[1.30]
3	1.27	1.08	1.07	1.18	1.47	1.22	1.05	1.05	1.14	1.38
	[1.20]	[0.97]	[0.96]	[1.09]	[1.38]	[1.15]	[0.95]	[0.93]	[1.04]	[1.29]
4	1.20	1.04	1.07	1.13	1.40	1.18	1.03	1.08	1.13	1.35
	[1.14]	[0.98]	[1.00]	[1.06]	[1.33]	[1.12]	[0.97]	[1.00]	[1.06]	[1.28]
Big	1.02	0.92	0.93	1.03	1.21	1.06	0.97	0.97	1.06	1.22
	[0.99]	[0.87]	[0.89]	[0.99]	[1.15]	[1.03]	[0.92]	[0.94]	[1.03]	[1.17]

	Beta based on daily VW CRSP index returns					Beta based on monthly VW CRSP index returns					
	Low	2	3	4	High		Low	2	3	4	High
Growth	1.20	1.11	1.13	1.29	1.58		1.18	1.10	1.13	1.26	1.50
	[1.20]	[1.06]	[1.07]	[1.20]	[1.51]		[1.15]	[1.03]	[1.04]	[1.15]	[1.41]
2	1.13	0.98	0.98	1.10	1.34		1.13	0.99	0.99	1.10	1.29
	[1.14]	[0.95]	[0.94]	[1.05]	[1.32]		[1.10]	[0.93]	[0.92]	[1.02]	[1.24]
3	1.15	0.95	0.90	1.01	1.26		1.13	0.95	0.92	1.01	1.23
	[1.15]	[0.92]	[0.86]	[0.95]	[1.21]		[1.10]	[0.90]	[0.85]	[0.93]	[1.16]
4	1.13	0.98	0.94	0.96	1.21		1.11	0.97	0.95	0.96	1.19
	[1.11]	[0.94]	[0.89]	[0.90]	[1.17]		[1.06]	[0.90]	[0.88]	[0.88]	[1.12]
Value	1.16	1.00	0.99	1.01	1.23		1.14	1.00	0.99	1.01	1.20
	[1.17]	[0.98]	[0.93]	[0.96]	[1.19]		[1.12]	[0.95]	[0.91]	[0.94]	[1.14]

Panel C: Average Betas Chosen by Mutual Funds (Benchmark Betas in Brackets) across BM/ME and Momentum Quintiles

Table 1.3: Bad Beta and Good Beta

This table reports the decomposition of the Beta Choice (BC) measures into Good Beta Choice and Bad Beta Choice. Good Beta is a stock's sensitivity to discount rate news and bad beta is the sensitivity to cash flow news. Negative quarters is the number of quarters that have negative average BC measures across funds (firms). Positive Quarters is the number of quarters that have non-negative average BC measures across funds (firms). The numbers in square brackets are the number of quarters that is statistically significant. Mean is the quarterly average of the average BC measures across funds (firms). Mean is multiplied by 100 in the table. T-statistics are in brackets. I measure the Beta Choice (BC) of a portfolio during quarter t as follows.

$$BC_t = \sum_{j=1}^N \omega_{j,t} \left[\tilde{\beta}_{j,t} - \tilde{\beta}_t^{b_{j,t}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t}$ is the portfolio weight for stock *j* at the beginning of period *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{j,t}$ is the estimated beta for stock *j* at time *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{t}^{b_{j,t}}$ is the group average of betas within the group which stock *j* belongs to at time *t*. Betas are estimated repeatedly in a backward 60-month rolling window using monthly data.

	Disco	ount Rate News	s Beta		Cash Flow News Beta			
=	Mutual	Institutions	Difference		Mutual	Institutions	Difference	
	Funds				Funds			
Positive Quarters	83	74	74		57	63		
	[74]	[64]			[48]	[45]		
Negative Quarters	5	14			31	25		
	[1]	[5]			[26]	[12]		
Mean	4.408	1.695	2.713		0.165	0.227	-0.062	
	(16.40)	(9.50)	(13.89)		(1.94)	(5.73)	(-1.02)	

Table 1.4: Average Liquidity Selection Measures of Institutional Investors

This table reports the average Liquidity Selection (LS) measures of institutional investors. Positive Quarters is the number of quarters that have positive average LS measures across funds (firms). Negative Quarters is the number of quarters that have negative average LS measures across funds (firms). The numbers in square brackets are the number of quarters that is statistically significant. Mean is the time-serial average of the average LS measures across funds (firms). The numbers of the average LS measures across funds (firms). The numbers of quarters that is statistically significant. Mean is the time-serial average of the average LS measures across funds (firms) each quarter. T-Statistics are in brackets. P-values less than 0.05 (0.01) are denoted by * (**). I measure the Liquidity Selection (LS) of a portfolio during quarter *t* as follows.

$$LS_t = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \omega_{j,t} \left[L\tilde{I}Q_{j,t} - L\tilde{I}Q_t^{b_{j,t}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t}$ is the portfolio weight for stock *j* at the beginning of period *t*, and $L\tilde{I}Q_{j,t}$ is the estimated liquidity for stock *j* at time *t*, and $L\tilde{I}Q_t^{b_{j,t}}$ is the group average liquidity within the group which stock *j* belongs to at time *t*.

	Mutual Funds	Institutions	Difference
Positive Quarters	77	72	
	[59]	[51]	
Negative Quarters	23	28	
	[1]	[4]	
Mean	0.413**	0.219**	0.194
	(3.26)	(3.82)	(1.60)

Table 1.5: Beta and Liquidity

This table reports the relation between a stock's beta and liquidity. Panel A reports the regression of beta on liquidity and their lagged terms. Panel B reports the regression of liquidity on beta and their lagged terms. Panel C reports average cross-sectional correlations between beta and liquidity during the whole sample and sub-periods.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Beta (t-1)		0.220		0.219
		(5.74)		(5.71)
Liquidity (t)	0.020		-0.001	0.000
	(2.49)		(-0.07)	(-0.01)
Liquidity (t-1)			0.078	0.067
			(7.91)	(6.24)
Adj. R ²	0.003	0.065	0.007	0.072

Panel A: Regression of Beta on Liquidity

Panel B: Regression of Liquidity on Beta

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Beta	0.023		0.018	0.006
	(3.47)		(2.46)	(0.81)
Beta (t-1)			0.016	0.011
			(2.23)	(1.58)
Liquidity (t-1)		0.451		0.448
		(9.49)		(9.34)
Adj. <i>R</i> ²	0.003	0.098	0.006	0.102

Panel C: Average cross-sectional correlations between beta and liquidity

Year	Correlation
1980-1984	0.039
1985-1989	0.032
1990-1994	-0.008
1995-1999	0.034
2000-2004	0.019
1980-2004	0.023

Table 1.6: Beta Choice and Liquidity Selection

This table reports the regression results on the relationship between Beta Choice (BC) measures and Liquidity Selection (LS) measures. The left panel reports the relationship between Beta Choice (BC) and Liquidity Selection (LS) Measures of Mutual Funds, and the right panel reports that of Institutional Investors. Coefficients are estimated using Fama-Macbeth method. That is, every quarter, I run the BC measure of each fund (firm) on its LS measure and lagged BC and LS measures, then I calculate the time-series average. The variance-covariance matrices are adjusted using Newey-West method with 6 lags. T-statistics are in brackets. P-values less than 0.05 (0.01) are denoted by * (**).

		Mutua	l Funds			Institutiona	al Investors	
-	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
BC(t-1)			0.69**	0.69**			0.69**	0.68**
			(27.78)	(29.85)			(29.00)	(28.91)
BC(t-2)			0.02	0.02			0.06**	0.06**
			(1.79)	(1.55)			(4.58)	(6.13)
BC(t-3)			0.06**	0.05**			0.01	0.01
			(11.19)	(8.06)			(0.48)	(0.52)
BC(t-4)			0.03**	0.02*			0.00	0.00
			(2.73)	(2.47)			(-0.02)	(-0.24)
LS(t)	0.60**	0.40**		0.25**	0.48**	0.10		0.02
	(3.47)	(3.27)		(3.45)	(4.46)	(0.82)		(0.23)
LS(t-1)		0.11*		-0.12		0.18**		0.09
		(1.96)		(-1.59)		(2.77)		(1.75)
LS(t-2)		0.16*		-0.02		0.18		-0.06
		(2.15)		(-0.44)		(1.22)		(-0.49)
LS(t-3)		0.24 **		0.06		0.29**		0.08
		(3.24)		(0.92)		(3.33)		(0.81)
LS(t-4)		0.16		-0.04		0.41*		0.15**
		(1.76)		(-1.07)		(2.57)		(2.80)
Adj R ²	0.03	0.07	0.59	0.61	0.03	0.07	0.55	0.58

Table 1.7: H	Beta Choice	Measure a	ind Fund	Characteristics
--------------	-------------	-----------	----------	-----------------

This table reports how fund characteristics affect its Beta Choice measure. Age is defined as the number of quarters since a fund appeared in the holdings database. Assets is the quarterly total assets of a fund reported in 13f database. BC(t-1), BC(t-2) and BC(t-3) are the lagged 1, 2, and 3 quarter BC measures. Aggressive Growth, Growth & Income and Balanced are dummy variables. They are equal to 1 if the fund falls into the corresponding category, and equal to zero otherwise. If these dummy variables are used in the regression, the intercept will not be used to avoid multicollinearity. LS is the Liquidity Selection measure. Its three lags are included. Turnover is fund trading turnover which is defined as the minimum of aggregate purchases and sales of securities divided by the average TNA over the calendar year. Coefficients are estimated using Fama-Macbeth method. That is, every quarter, I run the BC measure of each fund (firm) on the variables listed in the table, then I calculate the time-series average as coefficients reported in the table. The variance-covariance matrices are adjusted using Newey-West method with up to 6 lags. T-statistics are in brackets. P-values less than 0.05 (0.01) are denoted by * (**).

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Age			-0.002	-0.002
			(-1.01)	(-1.00)
Log(Assets)/100			0.082*	0.073*
			(2.00)	(1.74)
BC(t-1)	0.691**	0.693**	0.691**	0.689**
	(31.19)	(35.06)	(30.55)	(32.82)
BC(t-2)	0.037**	0.034**	0.015	0.017
	(3.28)	(3.31)	(1.03)	(1.45)
BC(t-3)	0.069**	0.068**	0.061**	0.060**
	(9.62)	(8.09)	(4.93)	(4.59)
Aggressive Growth			0.042*	0.041*
			(2.37)	(2.26)
Growth			0.022	0.022
			(1.27)	(1.25)
Growth & Income			0.005	0.006
			(0.26)	(0.30)
Balanced			0.005	0.006
			(0.31)	(0.34)
LS(t)		0.160*		0.167
		(2.33)		(1.49)
LS(t-1)		-0.105		-0.138
		(-1.34)		(-1.33)
LS(t-2)		0.033		0.077
		(0.38)		(0.67)
LS(t-3)		-0.006		-0.037
		(-0.12)		(-0.89)
Turnover/100			-0.042	-0.079
			(-0.67)	(-1.07)
Adj. R^2	0.61	0.62	0.64	0.66

Table 1.8: Quarterly DGTW Performance Sorted on BC Measures

This table reports the DGTW performance of mutual funds sorted on their BC measures. DGTW performance measure includes CS (Characteristic Selection) and CT (Characteristic Timing) measure here. *CS* is a measure of stock selection ability and uses as a benchmark the return of portfolio of stocks that is matched to each of the fund's holdings every quarter along three stock characteristic dimensions of stocks—size, book-to-market ratio, and momentum:

$$CS_t = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \tilde{\omega}_{j,t-1} \left[\tilde{R}_{j,t} - \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t-1}$ is the portfolio weight on stock *j* at the end of quarter t-1, $\tilde{R}_{j,t}$ is the quarter *t* buy-and-hold return of stock *j*, and $\tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}}$ is the quarter *t* buy-and-hold return of the characteristic-based benchmark portfolio that is matched to stock *j* at the end of quarter t-1. *CT* is a measure of style timing ability. It is defined as follows.

$$CT_t = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[\tilde{\omega}_{j,t-1} \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}} - \tilde{\omega}_{j,t-5} \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-5}} \right]$$

where the terms are defined similarly as in CS measure.

	CS	СТ	CS	СТ
Low	-0.051	0.077	-0.068	0.031
2	0.195	0.084	0.114	0.040
3	0.184	0.107	0.181	0.076
4	0.219	0.056	0.155	0.060
5	0.165	0.072	0.184	0.079
6	0.182	0.071	0.190	0.056
7	0.222	0.090	0.254	0.098
8	0.340	0.076	0.295	0.084
9	0.402	0.057	0.445	0.092
High	0.015	-0.027	0.122	0.053
Low-High	-0.066	0.104	-0.189	-0.022
	(-0.14)	(0.58)	(-0.41)	(-0.13)

Table 1.9: Mutual Fund Trades and Betas

This table reports how mutual fund trading activities affect a stock's beta. I define mutual fund trades on a stock as the change of the aggregate mutual fund ownership of the stock. The dependent variables are the change of beta of a stock and the change of its adjusted beta. The adjusted beta is the difference between the beta and the average beta in the risk group which the stock belongs to. Each quarter, I run the beta change or the adjusted beta change on its lags and lagged mutual fund trades, then I calculate the time series average as coefficients. The standard errors are adjusted using Newey-West method with up to 6 lags. T-statistics are in brackets. P-values less than 0.05 (0.01) are denoted by * (**).

Panel A: Relation between Changes of Betas of Stocks and the Changes of Mutual Fund Ownership (Dependent variable: Change of Beta (t))

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Change of Beta (t-1)		-0.018	-0.018
		(-1.81)	(-1.44)
Change of Beta (t-2)		0.025	0.032
		(1.71)	(2.07)
Change of Ownership (t-1)	0.221**		0.208**
	(4.47)		(4.61)
Change of Ownership (t-2)	0.315**		0.330**
	(5.35)		(5.62)
Adj. <i>R</i> ²	0.001	0.042	0.046

Panel B: Relation between Changes of Adjusted Betas of Stocks and the Changes of Mutual Fund Ownership (Dependent variable: Change of Adjusted Beta (t))

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Change of Adjusted Beta (t-1)		-0.031**	-0.033**
		(-2.98)	(-2.79)
Change of Adjusted Beta (t-2)		0.007	0.003
		(0.61)	(0.28)
Change of Ownership (t-1)	0.147*		0.122*
	(2.48)		(2.01)
Change of Ownership (t-2)	0.170**		0.168**
	(2.95)		(2.86)
Adj. <i>R</i> ²	0.001	0.039	0.040

Table 1.10: A Comparison of Current Beta and Past Betas of stocks Chosen by Institutional Investors

This table reports a comparison of current beta and past betas of stocks chosen by institutional investors. For a stock held by an institutional investor, I compare its beta at the time when it is picked with its beta a quarter or year before it is picked. Every quarter, for each institutional investor, I calculate the weighted average of the difference between the current beta and past beta of each stock in his holdings. Thus, I obtain a BD (Beta Difference) measure for each institutional investor. Formally, the BD measure is defined as follows.

$$BD_t = \sum_{j=1}^N \omega_{j,t} \left[\tilde{\beta}_{j,t} - \tilde{\beta}_{j,t-i} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t}$ is the portfolio weight for a stock *j* at the beginning of period *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{j,t}$ is the estimated beta for the stock *j* at time *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{j,t-i}$ is the beta of the stock *j* at time t-i, where *i* can be 1 (i.e., a quarter ago) or 4 (i.e., a year ago). In the table, "Negative" denotes the number of quarters that have negative average BC measures across funds (firms) and "Positive" is defined likewise. The numbers in square brackets are the number of quarters that are statistically significant. "Average BD" is the time-serial average of the average BD measures across funds (firms) each quarter, which has been multiplied by 100. T-Statistics are in brackets. Panel A reports average Beta Difference Measures based on current betas and one-quarter-ago betas, and Panel B reports average Beta Difference Measures based on current betas and one-year-ago betas. All betas are calculated based on daily returns and the benchmark used is value weighted CRSP index.

Panel A: Average Beta Difference (BD) Measures based on Current Betas and One-quarter-ago Betas

	Beta	a Based on VW C	CRSP	Beta Based on S&P 500			
	Mutual	Institutions	Difference	Mutual	Institutions	Difference	
	Funds			Funds			
Total Quarters	100	100		100	100		
Positive	51	47		43	42		
	[45]	[35]		[41]	[39]		
Negative	49	53		57	58		
	[41]	[37]		[48]	[50]		
Average BD	0.376	0.041	0.335	0.437	0.077	0.360	
	(0.93)	(0.12)	(1.38)	(0.64)	(0.15)	(1.35)	

Panel I	B: Average I	Beta Difference	(BD)) Measures b	based on	Current	Betas and	One-year-ago	Betas
---------	--------------	-----------------	------	--------------	----------	---------	-----------	--------------	-------

	Beta	Beta Based on VW CRSP			Beta Based on S&P 500			
	Mutual	Institutions	Difference	Mutual	Institutions	Difference		
	Funds			Funds				
Total Quarters	100	100		100	100			
Positive	52	46		51	48			
	[46]	[37]		[49]	[44]			
Negative	48	54		49	52			
	[38]	[40]		[46]	[46]			
Average BD	0.842	0.242	0.599	0.814	0.279	0.535		
	(0.86)	(0.27)	(1.41)	(0.52)	(0.23)	(1.16)		

Table 1.11: Predict the Mean Variance Ratio of the Market Return

This table describes the predictability of Beta Choice measures on the mean variance ratio of the market return, which is defined as the ratio of average market return to the variance of the market return, i.e., $MVRation = r_m/\sigma_m^2$. The following regression is run on BC measures, lagged market volatility and implied volatility VIX measures.

$$MVRatio_{t} = b_{0} + b_{1} \cdot BC_{t-1} * 100 + b_{2} \cdot MVRatio_{t-1} + b_{3} \cdot VIX_{m-1} + b_{4} \cdot VIX_{m-2} + b_{5} \cdot VIX_{m-3}$$

where $MVRatio_t$ is the mean variance ratio of the market return at quarter t, and BC_{t-1} is the average BC measure at quarter t-1. VIX_{m-1} is the VIX measure one month before the quarter t end. VIX_{m-2} and VIX_{m-3} are the VIX measure two or three months before the quarter t end, respectively. The left panel reports the results using BC measures based on daily market returns and the right panel reports the results using BC measures based on monthly market returns. Coefficients are estimated using GMM method and co-variance matrices are adjusted using Newey-West method. T-statistics are in brackets. P-values less than 0.05 (0.01) are denoted by * (**).

	BC Ba	BC Based on Daily Market Returns					BC Based on Monthly Market Returns			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	-	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
Intercept	3.409	1.675	21.526	21.416		4.432	2.180	24.177	24.600	
	(0.97)	(0.53)	(1.92)	(1.32)		(1.13)	(0.66)	(2.40)	(1.67)	
$BC_{t-1} * 100$	1.728**	1.683**	1.159**	1.153*		1.702**	1.702**	1.191*	1.178*	
	(4.69)	(4.77)	(2.31)	(2.07)		(4.27)	(4.76)	(2.14)	(1.96)	
$MVRatio_{t-1}$		0.136	0.137	0.137			0.156	0.153	0.150	
		(1.32)	(1.59)	(1.53)			(1.42)	(1.72)	(1.61)	
VIX_{m-1}			-3.605	-2.893				-4.080*	-3.101	
			(-1.84)	(-0.80)				(-2.18)	(-0.83)	
VIX_{m-2}				1.676					1.603	
				(0.22)					(0.21)	
VIX_{m-3}				-2.368					-2.667	
				(-0.28)					(-0.32)	

Table 1.12: Predict Market Return

This table exams the predictability of Beta Choice measures on market return. The following regression is run on BC measures, lagged market volatility and implied volatility VIX measures.

$$Mktret_t = b_0 + b_1 \cdot BC_{t-1} + b_2 \cdot Mktret_{t-1} + b_3 \cdot VIX_{m-1} + b_4 \cdot VIX_{m-2} + b_5 \cdot VIX_{m-3};$$

where $Mktret_t$ is the market return at quarter t, and BC_{t-1} is the average BC measure at quarter t - 1. VIX_{m-1} is the VIX measure one month before the quarter t end. VIX_{m-2} and VIX_{m-3} are the VIX measure two or three months before the quarter t end, respectively. The left panel reports the results using BC measures based on daily market returns and the right panel reports the results using BC measures based on monthly market returns. Coefficients are estimated using GMM method and co-variance matrices are adjusted using Newey-West method. T-statistics are in brackets. P-values less than 0.05 (0.01) are denoted by * (**).

	BC Based on Daily Market Returns					BC Based on Monthly Market Returns			
-	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Intercept	0.012	0.010	-0.061	-0.134	(0.011	0.009	-0.043	-0.104
	(0.70)	(0.55)	(-1.27)	(-1.31)	((0.64)	(0.50)	(-0.97)	(-1.19)
BC_{t-1}	0.396	0.414*	0.503	0.635	C).456*	0.466*	0.486	0.603
	(1.87)	(2.03)	(1.64)	(1.58)	((2.14)	(2.21)	(1.34)	(1.39)
$Mktret_{t-1}$		0.013	-0.036	0.044			0.017	-0.038	0.033
		(0.17)	(-0.61)	(0.42)			(0.22)	(-0.61)	(0.31)
VIX_{m-1}			0.014	-0.001				0.011	-0.002
			(1.86)	(-0.05)				(1.51)	(-0.09)
VIX_{m-2}				0.040					0.038
				(1.63)					(1.62)
VIX_{m-3}				-0.012					-0.014
				(-0.34)					(-0.41)

Table 1.13: Predict Market Volatility

This table describes the predictability of Beta Choice measures on market volatility. The following regression is run on BC measures, lagged market volatility and implied volatility VIX measures.

$$MktVol_{t} = b_{0} + b_{1} \cdot BC_{t-1} + b_{2} \cdot MktVol_{t-1} + b_{3} \cdot VIX_{m-1} + b_{4} \cdot VIX_{m-2} + b_{5} \cdot VIX_{m-3};$$

where $MktVol_t$ is the market volatility at quarter t, and BC_{t-1} is the average BC measure at quarter t - 1. VIX_{m-1} is the VIX measure one month before the quarter t end. VIX_{m-2} and VIX_{m-3} are the VIX measure two or three months before the quarter t end, respectively. The left panel reports the results using BC measures based on daily market returns and the right panel reports the results using BC measures based on monthly market returns. Coefficients are estimated using GMM method and co-variance matrices are adjusted using Newey-West method. T-statistics are in brackets. P-values less than 0.05 (0.01) are denoted by * (**).

	BC B	BC Based on Daily Market Returns					BC Based on Monthly Market Returns				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
Intercept	0.111	0.070	0.082	-0.011		0.107	0.065	0.072	-0.022		
	(9.42)	(3.79)	(1.84)	(-0.34)		(9.21)	(3.73)	(1.72)	(-0.76)		
BC_{t-1}	-0.46**	-0.33**	-0.40**	-0.34**		-0.42**	-0.31**	-0.41**	-0.35**		
	(-3.71)	(-2.80)	(-2.52)	(-2.45)		(-3.45)	(-2.81)	(-2.67)	(-2.68)		
$MktVol_{t-1}$		0.401**	0.413**	0.057			0.430	0.434**	0.063		
		(3.23)	(3.86)	(0.52)			(3.40)**	(4.25)	(0.52)		
VIX_{m-1}				0.021*					0.021**		
				(1.93)					(1.97)		
VIX_{m-2}				-0.013					-0.012		
				(-0.98)					(-0.93)		
VIX_{m-3}			-0.002	0.017				0.000	0.018		
			(-0.21)	(0.81)				(-0.06)	(0.82)		

Table 1.14: Summary Statistics of Fama French Factors

This table reports the correlations and covariances between the returns of the commonly used factors—excess market return (Mkt_Rf), size (SMB), value (HML) and momentum (UMD). I obtain these monthly factor returns from Professor Kent French's website. The data is from the year 1927 to 2004.

Panel A: Correlations Between Factors

	Mkt_Rf	SMB	HML	UMD
Mkt_Rf	1			
SMB	0.33	1		
HML	0.20	0.08	1	
UMD	-0.34	-0.17	-0.40	1

Panel B: Variance Covariance Matrix

	Mkt_Rf	SMB	HML	UMD
Mkt_Rf	0.0030			
SMB	0.0006	0.0011		
HML	0.0004	0.0001	0.0013	
UMD	-0.0009	-0.0003	-0.0007	0.0022

Panel C: Monthly Average Returns

Mkt_Rf	SMB	HML	UMD
0.0065	0.0023	0.0040	0.0075

Table 1.15: Stock Beta and Characteristics

This tables reports the Fama-Macbeth regression of stock betas on one-year lagged betas and stock characteristics. Betas are calculated using daily returns and the benchmark is the value weighted CRSP index. Each quarter, I run a cross sectional regression of stock betas on stock characteristics, such as book-to-market ratio, size, and momentum (prior year return). Then I calculate the quarterly average of the coefficients. Standard errors are adjusted using Newey-West method with up to six lags. T-statistics are in brackets.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Beta (t-1)		0.251		0.239
		(4.90)		(5.26)
Book-to-Market Ratio			-0.118	-0.089
			(-4.37)	(-4.17)
Log (Size)	-0.021		-0.031	-0.040
	(-1.29)		(-1.80)	(-2.39)
Momentum			-0.006	-0.016
			(-0.26)	(-0.94)
Avg Adj. <i>R</i> ²	0.016	0.087	0.050	0.118

Chapter 2

Does investor sentiment affect mutual fund performance?

2.1 Introduction

Two important reasons have made mutual fund performance a lively topic of financial economics for decades. One is its implications for market efficiency, and the other is its implications for investors. Traditionally, no connection between mutual fund performance and investor sentiment has been established in the literature. This is reasonable based on conventional theories. First, according to the efficient market hypothesis (EMH), mutual fund managers on average can not outperform the market and their performance is not predictable, thus no factors other than idiosyncratic characteristics of fund managers are relevant to their risk adjusted performance¹. Therefore, investor sentiment, a market-wide variable, can not provide any additional explanation for mutual fund performance; Second, since investor sentiment is not a long-established risk factor in the literature, traditional risk

¹See, for example, Chevalier and Ellison (1999a).

factors in the mutual fund performance measures will capture the effect of investor sentiment if any. Thus, again, investor sentiment is irrelevant here. Last, investor sentiment may play a role in mutual fund performance in the sense that mutual fund managers can take advantage of small investor sentiment, but many constraints of mutual funds and limits of arbitrage (Shleifer and Vishny 1997) would prevent them from doing so.

However, newly established theories and documented empirical evidence suggest that investor sentiment may indeed have an impact on mutual fund performance. First, De Long, Shleifer, Summers, and Waldmann (1990a) show that noise traders earn higher average returns than sophisticated investors when noise traders' sentiment is high, and vice versa. This suggests that mutual fund performance be negatively correlated with investor sentiment, especially small investor sentiment. Second, recent empirical evidence shows that investor sentiment significantly affects stock prices along two dimensions. On the one hand, time-serially, investor sentiment has significant ability to predict future returns both weekly and in a long horizon (2-3 years) (Kaniel, Saar, and Titman (2004) and Brown and Cliff (2005)); On the other hand, cross-sectionally, stock returns vary with investor sentiment and exhibit different patterns in different sentiment (Baker and Wurgler 2003). Since fund managers trade on stocks, we would expect that investor sentiment may also affect mutual fund performance.

In this paper, I examine whether mutual fund performance varies with investor sentiment. Using a sentiment index developed in Baker and Wurgler (2003) to proxy for investor sentiment, my results show that mutual fund performance under conventional measures indeed strongly varies with investor sentiment. The variations documented here are along two dimensions. First of all, the universe of actively managed mutual funds performs better in low investor sentiment than in high investor sentiment, even after adjusting fund returns by various performance benchmarks. Secondly, there are also big variations in *relative* performance across size ranked mutual fund portfolios.

Specifically, the results in this paper show that almost all fund size quintiles subsequently outperform the market when sentiment is low while all of them underperform the market when sentiment is high. This also holds true after adjusting the fund returns by various performance benchmarks. Also, all the size quintiles perform better when sentiment is low than when sentiment is high. This means that fund performance is negatively related to investor sentiment. My results show that a one-standard deviation increase in sentiment at the beginning of this year yields about 4.3% decrease in this year's annual returns of the smallest fund quintiles and 0.72% decrease in this year's annual returns of the largest fund quintiles.

These results are consistent with the theoretical predictions of behavioral finance models. Suppose there are only two types of investors, small investors and institutional investors, in the stock market. Thus institutional investors' performance, measured by the excess returns of institutional investors to the market return, is proportional to the return difference between the two type of investors.² De Long, Shleifer, Summers, and Waldmann (1990a) show that the expect return difference between those two types of investors is proportional to small investor sentiment³. Basically they show that noise traders earn higher average returns than sophisticated investors when noise traders' sentiment is high, and vice versa. The intuition behind this is that noise traders will hold more risky assets when their sentiment is high thus earn higher returns and at the same time, sophisticated investors' performance is worse and vice versa. This is exactly what I show in the paper.

The sentiment proxy I use for the above results is derived from certain financial

²Suppose the density of the institutional investor is μ . The returns of institutional investors and small investors are r_I and r_S , respectively. Then the market return is $r_M = \mu r_I + (1 - \mu)r_S$. Thus the performance of institutional investors relative to the market return is $r_I - r_M = (1 - \mu)(r_I - r_S)$, which is proportional to the return difference of two types of investors.

³This is shown in the equation (17) in DSSW (1990) which is as follows, $E_t(\Delta R_{n-i}) = \rho_t - \frac{(1+r)^2(\rho_t)^2}{(2\gamma)\mu_t\sigma_p^2}$ where ρ_t measures small investors' sentiment at time *t*.

variables, many of which can be interpreted as small investor sentiment, but they are indirect sentiment measures. To clearly distinguish small investor sentiment from institutional sentiment and directly measure investor sentiment, I employ another two sentiment measures which are two surveys used in Brown and Cliff (2005). The first is a survey conducted by the American Association of Individual Investors (AAII). Since this survey is targeted toward individuals, it is interpreted as primarily a measure of individual investor sentiment. The other is from Investors Intelligence (II) who compiles another weekly bull-bear spread by categorizing approximately 150 market newsletters. Since many of the authors of these newsletters are current or retired market professionals, the Investors Intelligence data is interpreted as a proxy for institutional sentiment. Using these two measures, I further confirm the above results, and most importantly, mutual fund performance only varies with the AAII measure which captures small investor sentiment but not with the II measure which captures institutional sentiment. These results further support the theoretical predications in DSSW (1990).

However, there are some potential alternative explanations for these results. For example, it is possible that high sentiment erodes fund performance just because of high turnover and thus high trading costs in high sentiment. Or, high money flows into funds in high sentiment may dilute fund performance. To further validate that they are not driven by these factors, I test if the above pattern still holds after controlling for these factors. The results show that the negative relation between mutual fund performance and investor sentiment is robust. Therefore, it is confirmed again that the relation is purely because the different sentiment of institutional investors and small investors leads to their difference of risk attitudes and thus different performance during different periods.

In addition, Chen, Hong, Huang, and Kubik (2004) document that fund returns decline with lagged fund size, even after adjusting these returns by various performance

benchmarks. My another results, in contrast, show that when conditioning on investor sentiment, the pattern of decreasing returns to scale in mutual funds is fully reversed when sentiment is high while the pattern persists and is more pronounced when sentiment is low. I confirm the statistical significance of these patterns with two regression approaches. One is a regression of long-short portfolio returns on investor sentiment (*SENTIMENT*), the market risk premium (*RMRF*), the Fama-French factors (*SMB* and *HML*), and a momentum factor (*UMD*). The long-short portfolio is formed as a long position in the fund size quintile 1 and a short position in the fund size quintile 5. The coefficient on investor sentiment turns out to be statistically significant and negative, which is consistent with the patterns of better performance of smaller funds in low sentiment and the reverse in high sentiment. The other directly looks at the impact of a fund's lagged assets under management on fund performance conditioned on the beginning period of investor sentiment, which is discussed in detail in Section 2.4. The results show that the effect of fund size on fund performance is inversely correlated with investor sentiment, which further confirms the existence of the above size patterns.

What drives the above size patterns? Baker and Wurgler (2003) documents that returns of smaller stocks tend to be higher when sentiment is low and lower when sentiment is high, which shows that cross-sectional size effect of Banz (1981) exists in low-sentiment conditions only. Thus a natural explanation of mutual funds exhibiting a similar pattern with common stocks may be that smaller funds tend to hold smaller stocks. I test this hypothesis by looking into mutual fund holdings. I join my data sample from the CRSP Mutual Fund database to the CDA/Spectrum Mutual Fund Holdings database using the MFLink database provided by WRDS. I obtain the size rank of each stock in each quarter by comparing its market values obtained from the CRSP stock database with the size breakpoints in the file provided by Kenneth French on his website. I then calculate the value weighted average size

rank of all stocks in a fund's portfolio to get a fund's size rank. Then a size quintile's size rank is obtained by averaging all the fund's size ranks in the quintile. The results show that smaller funds hold significantly smaller stocks unconditionally or conditional on investor sentiment. Specifically, the difference of the average size rank of size quintile 1 and 5 is 1.6 when sentiment is low and 1.42 when sentiment is high. Both t-statistics are significant at the 1% level. I also run regressions of difference of fund returns directly on the size rank difference, controlling for other risk factors. The results support the hypothesis.

Since stocks are underpriced when investor sentiment is low and overpriced when sentiment is high, a natural question arises as to whether a fund manager is able to time investor sentiment. This question is important since if all the fund managers were able to time the investor sentiment, we would not observe the above patterns. I study the fund manager timing ability by checking if a fund's loading on the size factor (*SMB*) varies with investor sentiment. The results show that loadings of smaller funds on *SMB* are significantly negative but there is no statistical relationship between loadings of larger funds and investor sentiment. This suggests that smaller funds are better at sentiment timing than larger funds. However, we should not overstate the timing ability of small funds since the results may only reflect that it is more feasible for smaller funds to time the investor sentiment. As assets under management increase, position sizes also increase, thus it is harder and more expensive to time the investor sentiment by switching back and forth between small stocks and large stocks.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows. In Section 2.2, I further discuss the motivation for the investigation of whether mutual fund performance varies with investor sentiment and briefly introduce the related literature. In Section 2.3, I describe the data I used and variables of interest. In Section 2.4, I lay out my hypothesis and describe my empirical methodology. In Section 2.5, I report the results of empirical tests. Section 2.6

concludes this chapter.

2.2 Motivation

Actively managed equity mutual funds have trillions of dollars in assets⁴ and keep attracting enormous attention from investors, the media, and researchers. Since the average returns of actively managed funds fail to outpace unmanaged indexes after expenses for years, many professional advisers suggest that investors would be better off in a low-cost passively managed index fund. However, active managers still dominate the mutual fund industry in spite of the recent growth in index funds. This naturally arises a puzzle about the existence of actively managed mutual funds, as pointed out by Gruber (1996).

A large number of studies have tried to address this issue, including a conditional or unconditional framework based on factor models (for example, Carhart, Carpenter, Lynch, and Musto (2002) and Ferson and Harvey (1996)), characteristic-based models (Daniel, Grinblatt, Titman, and Wermers 1997) and most recently a Bayesian framework by Baks, Metrick, and Wachter (2001). We would argue, however, that an important aspect about fund performance has been overlooked up to now, both in traditional studies and in the more recent Bayesian analyses. The neglected information is the *time-varying* attitudes of investors on fund performance. The time-varying preference of investors has been well documented. Specifically, empirical research shows that investors' risk aversion is both state-dependent and counter-cyclical,⁵ for which Routledge and Zin (2003) recently also pin down an axiomatic foundation using a model. By ignoring the time-varying property of investors' risk preferences, traditional studies all treat fund performance (conditional

⁴According to the Investment Company Institute's official survey of the mutual fund industry, the combined assets of the nation's mutual funds have accumulated to \$7.628 trillion in 8,151 funds in March, 2004, 4,621 of which are stock funds that totally have net assets of \$3.887 trillion under management.

⁵See, for example, Campbell and Cochrane (1999), Gordon and St-Amour (2000), Barberis and Huang (2001) and Barberis, Huang, and Santos (2001).
or unconditional alphas) of each period *equally*. However, if investors' risk aversion is state-dependent and count-cyclical, the more they are risk averse, the more they will value outperformance of funds to the market. That is, for investors, the same amount of outperformance in a bear market can not only cancel out the same amount of underperformance in a bull rampage but also add a positive value on top of that, thus they tend to put different wights on different period's performance. Therefore, traditional equal-weight methods would only be valid if mutual fund performance stay the same no matter what investors' risk aversion is.

The theoretical appeal to consider time-varying risk preference can be illustrated with the following highly stylized numerical example. Assume there are two states of the market as reflected in investors' risk attitudes; say, a "Fearful" state and a "Blithe" state. In a "Fearful" state, assume that a fund's performance, measured by a conditional alpha or characteristic-based measure (i.e., GT or CS measure in Daniel, Grinblatt, Titman, and Wermers (1997)), is 1%, and in a "Blithe" state, it is -1%. To measure the overall performance of the fund, traditional methods just make a simple average⁶ of the performance in the two states, thus think of the performance to be zero. That is, the fund does not outperform the benchmarks in the view of an uninformed investor. However, if investors are more risk averse in a "Fearful" state than in a "Blithe" state, they will put more weights on the positive 1%,⁷ thus they will prefer this fund to the benchmarks.

This can also be illustrated in a general equilibrium framework. Let's look at

⁶In a conditional factor model framework, the conditional alpha is $\alpha_{p0} + \alpha'_p Z_t$ (Christopherson, Ferson, and Glassman 1998), where Z_t is a vector of instrument variables. They assume that any abnormal performance of a fund p is captured by the fixed alpha coefficient, α_{p0} . If we de-mean the instrument variables (that is, let $E[Z_t] = 0$, or let $z_t = Z_t - E[Z_t]$ as Christopherson, Ferson, and Glassman (1998) adopt in their paper.), then α_{p0} is just a simple average of conditional alphas ($\alpha_{p0} + \alpha'_p Z_t$). In a characteristic-based framework, to calculate the overall performance, Daniel, Grinblatt, Titman, and Wermers (1997) just make a simple average of GT or CS measures of every period.

⁷This is not in the sense of the Positive Period Weighting Measure (PPWM) which is developed in Grinblatt and Titman (1989d) to address the timing-related perversities of traditional evaluation techniques based on factor models. In the PPWM framework, risk averse of investors is constant through time, and is assumed to be eight in a later empirical investigation (Grinblatt and Titman 1994).

Jensen's alpha first. Jensen's alpha measures the deviation from a benchmark which is supposed to correctly classify uninformed investors as zero performers. This benchmark has a linear form, which is the security market line. The reason it has a linear form is because the maximum sharp ratio of a portfolio in a constant risk aversion setting is constant and the sharp ratio attains its maximum when the portfolio is the market portfolio (Hansen and Jagannathan 1991). However, if the risk aversion is time varying, the bound for the sharp ratio of any portfolio is also time varying. For example, in a habit formation model, for example, in Campbell and Cochrane (1999), the coefficient of relative risk aversion is given by:

$$RRA_t = \frac{\gamma}{S_t}$$

where S_t is the state variable, or the surplus consumption ratio. Under this setting, Campbell and Cochrane (1999) demonstrate that the bound for sharp ratio is as follows:

$$max \frac{E_t(R_{i,t+1}^e)}{\sigma_t(R_{i,t+1}^e)} \approx \gamma \sigma_c [1 + \lambda(s_t)]$$

where $s_t = ln(S_t)$, $R_{i,t+1}^e$ is the excess return of portfolio *i* at time t + 1 and $\lambda(\cdot)$ is a decreasing function. Since the sharp ratio bound is time-varying, if we still use the benchmarks developed under a constant risk aversion setting, we may sometimes under- or over-estimate funds' performance.

This motivates us to study whether mutual fund performance measured by conventional methods varies with small investors' risk attitudes. As illustrate below, there is a pattern of better performance in low sentiment, which exactly provides the hedging when fund investors want the most. This results in a partial explanation of the puzzle addressed by Gruber (1996). I also investigate whether the cross sectional relative mutual fund performance varies with investor sentiment, which is a further examination of the question of whether mutual fund performance varies with investor sentiment.

I am not the first to investigate conditional mutual fund performance. Ferson and Khang (2002), Christopherson, Ferson, and Glassman (1998), Lynch, Wachter, and Boudry (2003), Kothari and Warner (2001), Becker, Ferson, Myers, and Schill (1999b), Ferson and Warther (1996) and Massa and Phalippou (2004) all study the conditional mutual fund performance. However, they all use aggregate economy information like business cycle, dividend yield and liquidity as conditional information. None of them conditions on investor sentiment.

The pattern of decreasing returns to scale has also been well documented in the literature. Agarwal, Daniel, and Naik (2003) and Goetzmann, Ingersoll, and Ross (2003) find decreasing returns to scale in hedge funds. Perold and Salomon (1991) and Chen, Hong, Huang, and Kubik (2004) report decreasing returns to scale in mutual funds. Kaplan and Schoar (2003) find decreasing returns to scale in the private equity industry. However, those investigations are all unconditional. None of them uses conditioning information as I do.

Becker, Ferson, Myers, and Schill (1999b), Rumsey (2000), Daniel, Grinblatt, Titman, and Wermers (1997), Wei (2003), Bollen and Busse (2001), Chacko and Das (1999) and Busse (1999) address the timing ability of mutual fund managers. They mostly talk about the volatility timing, characteristics timing, market timing and so on, but none of them aims at fund managers' investor sentiment timing ability or feasibility as this paper does.

Also, there is a lot of research on performance persistence. Carhart (1997), Carpenter and Lynch (1999) and ter Horst and Verbeek (2000) check the persistence of mutual fund performance. Bers and Madura (2000) study closed-end fund performance persistence. Agarwal and Naik (2000) investigate persistence in the performance of hedge funds using a multi-period framework. Since fund size and investor sentiment have an impact on fund performance and none of those papers consider these factors, it is worth redoing the research on performance persistence under a framework using size and investor sentiment as conditioning information.

2.3 Data

2.3.1 Mutual Fund Data

My data on mutual funds come from three sources. The first one is from the Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP) Mutual fund Database, which spans the years of 1962 to 2002. The second is from CDA/Spectrum Mutual Funds Holdings data at Wharton Research Data Services (WRDS) which has a data range from 1978 to 2002. The last is from WRDS' MFlink database which provides a way to link the former two databases.⁸ To be consistent with Chen, Hong, Huang, and Kubik (2004), we get the fund returns and styles from the CRSP mutual fund data. We restrict our analysis to diversified U.S. equity mutual funds by excluding from our sample bond, international and specialized sector funds.⁹ We also clean the data by eliminating redundant observations due to the different share classes of some funds.

Table 2.1 reports summary statistics for our sample. In Panel A, I report means and standard deviations of the variables of interest for each fund size quintiles and for all funds.

⁸This database mainly provide the correspondence of the fund identifier numbers of one database (CRSP Mutual Fund data base) to the other (CDA/Spectrum database).

⁹More specifically, like Chen, Hong, Huang, and Kubik (2004), we select mutual funds in the CRSP Mutual Fund database that have reported one of the following investment objectives at *any* point in their lives. We first select mutual funds with Investment Company Data, Inc. (ICDI) mutual fund objective of 'aggressive growth', 'growth and income', or 'long-term growth' (code: 'AG', 'GI', 'LG'). We then add in mutual funds with Strate-gic Insight mutual fund objective of 'aggressive growth', 'flexible', 'growth and income', 'growth', 'income-growth', or 'small company growth' (code: 'AGG', 'GRI', 'GRO', 'ING', 'SCG', 'FLX', 'GMC'). Finally, we select mutual funds with Wiesenberger mutual fund objective code of 'G', 'G-I', 'G-I-S', 'G-S', 'GCI', 'I-G', 'I-S-G', 'MCG', 'SCG'.

I utilize 7840 distinct funds and a total 43,651 fund years in our analysis. In each month, our sample includes on average about 1048 funds. The total sample is then divided into five quintiles according to funds' end-of-last-year TNA. There are on average around 218 funds in each size quintile.

I calculate the net money inflows following many prior studies (e.g. Zheng (1999)) as follows:

$$Flow_{i,t} = TNA_{i,t} - TNA_{i,t-1}(1+R_{i,t}) - Merger_{i,t}$$

$$(2.1)$$

In words, the new money flow in dollar term is defined as the dollar change in total net assets (TNA) minus the appreciation in the fund assets and the increase in total assets due to merger. I assume that new money is invested at the end of each year. Then I aggregate the money flow of all funds in each size quintile and divide it by the total assets under management in the quintile to get the flow in percentages in the quintile, which is denoted as VWFLOW.

In addition, the database reports a host of other fund characteristics that we utilize in our analysis. AGE is the number of years since the organization of the fund. The average age of all funds is about 13.65 years. Smaller funds are younger on average. The average age of quintile 1 (small funds) is 6.8 while the average age of quintile 5 (large funds) is 23.47 years. TOTLOAD is the total front-end, deferred and rear-end charges as a percentage of new investments. EXPRATIO is the total annual management fees and expenses divided by year-end TNA. TURNOVER is fund turnover, defined as the minimum of aggregate purchases and sales of securities divided by the average TNA over the calendar year. The summary statistics show that small funds are on average more active than larger funds.

Panel B reports monthly average fund returns of each fund size quintile and monthly average market returns unconditional or conditional on investor sentiment. There are some interesting patterns in this panel. I will elaborate on this panel in more detail in Section 2.5.

In addition to the CRSP Mutual Fund Database, I also utilize the CDA/Spectrum Mutual Fund Holdings Database to analyze the composition of fund stock holdings of each fund size quintile. To link these two database, I use the MFLINK database provided by WRDS. I will provide a more detailed discussion of this in Section 2.5.

2.3.2 Investor Sentiment Data

I first use the investor sentiment index developed by Baker and Wurgler (2003) to measure investor sentiment, then use two direct sentiment measures, AAII measure and II measure which are described below.

Indirect Measure: investor sentiment index

Basically the investor sentiment index is calculated using the following formula.

$$SENTIMENT_{t} = -0.358CEFD_{t} + 0.402TURN_{t-1} + 0.414NIPO_{t} + 0.464RIPO_{t-1} + 0.371S_{t} - 0.431P_{t-1}^{D-ND}$$
(2.2)

This formula is derived as the first principal component of the correlation matrix of six proxies for investor sentiment. The six proxies are the average closed-end fund discount (*CEFD*), NYSE share turnover (*TURN*), the monthly average number of IPOs (*NIPO*), the monthly average first-day returns on IPOs (*RIPO*), the equity share in new issues (*S*), and the dividend premium (P^{D-ND}). The sentiment proxies are measured annually from 1962 through 2001. To isolate the sentiment component of the proxies from business cycle components, each proxy is orthogonalized with respect to several macroeconomic variables. Specially, as elaborated in Baker and Wurgler (2003), each of the raw proxies is regressed on growth in the industrial production index (Federal Reserve Statistical Release G.17), growth in consumer durables, nondurables and services (all from BEA National Income

Accounts Table 2.10), and a dummy variable for NBER recessions. The residuals from these regressions form a cleaned proxy that is independent of major business cycle effects.

A dummy variable *SENT* is obtained from the sentiment index. When the sentiment index is positive, which means that investor sentiment is high, the dummy variable is equal to 1. And the dummy variable is equal to 0 when investor sentiment is low, i.e., the sentiment index is negative.

I also use the individual proxy, like the average closed-end fund discount, to measure investor sentiment. All the major conclusions remain unchanged . For brevity, I do not include these results in this paper.

Direct Sentiment Measures

I also use two surveys used in Brown and Cliff (2005) to directly measure the sentiment of market participants. The first is from Investors Intelligence (II). It basically analyzes proximately 150 market newsletters every week and each newsletter is marked as bullish, bearish and neutral based on the expectation of future market movements. Since most of the newsletters are written by current or retired market professionals, the II measure is interpreted as a proxy for institutional sentiment.

The other direct measure I use in this study is from the survey conducted by the American Association of Individual Investors (AAII). The association polls a random sample of its members each week, beginning in July 1987. Each participant is asked where they think the stock market will head in six months: up, down, or the same. AAII then labels these responses as bullish, bearish, or neutral, respectively. Since this survey is targeted toward individuals, we interpret it as primarily a measure of individual investor sentiment.

The II data are from 1962 to 2001 and the AAII data are from 1987 to 2001. I get the whole II data and partial AAII data (1987-1999) from Brown and Cliff (2005) and I

hand-collect the remaining data from Barron's.

2.3.3 Other Data

I obtain the NYSE size breakpoints from Kenneth R. French's website, and I get all the stock information from the Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP).

2.4 Methodology

The theme of empirical tests in this paper is to see how fund performance varies with investor sentiment and varies with lagged fund size conditional on investor sentiment.

The basic empirical framework is based on the following commonly used conditional model:

$$E[R_{it}] = a + b'_1 x_{i,t-1} + b'_2 T_{t-1} x_{i,t-1}$$
(2.3)

where i indexes funds, t is time, x is a vector of fund or security characteristics, and T is a time series conditioning variable that proxies for investor sentiment.

Five fund size portfolios are formed with an equal number of funds in each portfolio in each month. I tabulate the subsequent conditional and unconditional performance in each quintile, and run predictive regressions specified below. Either way, the basic strategy is to use sentiment proxies as conditioning variables and then check whether the performance difference between different size portfolios depends on the conditioning variable.

First, I report mutual fund performance measured by different benchmarks. Then, I run two predictive regressions to check the robustness of the relationship between fund size and fund performance conditional on investor sentiment. Also, I check whether fund managers have the ability to time investor sentiment.

2.4.1 Fund Performance Benchmarks

In this paper, considering the heterogeneity in fund styles, I measure fund performance using various benchmarks. I first adjust the fund returns by the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) of Sharpe (1964) as stated in Equation 2.4. I then consider returns adjusted using the Fama and French (1993) three factor model and this model augmented with the momentum factor of Jegadeesh and Titman (1993), which has been shown to have incremental explanatory power for the observed cross-sectional variation in fund performance (Carhart 1997).

$$R_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_i RMRF_t + \varepsilon_{i,t} \qquad t = 1, ..., T$$
(2.4)

The Fama French three factor model is as follows.

$$R_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_i RMRF_t + s_i SMB_t + h_i HML_t + \varepsilon_{i,t} \quad t = 1, ..., T$$
(2.5)

The Carhart four factor model is as follows.

$$R_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_i RMRF_t + s_i SMB_t + h_i HML_t + m_i UMD_t + \varepsilon_{i,t} \quad t = 1, ..., T$$
(2.6)

2.4.2 DGTW Measures

DGTW (1997) decompose the overall fund returns into several components based on the characteristics of stocks in their portfolio. I investigate two components of DGTW measures here: a 'Characteristic Selectivity' measure CS and a 'Characteristic Timing' measure CT. CS is a measure of stock selection ability and uses as a benchmark the return of portfolio of stocks that is matched to each of the fund's holdings every quarter along the dimensions of

size, book-to-market ratio, and momentum:

$$CS_t = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \tilde{\omega}_{j,t-1} \left[\tilde{R}_{j,t} - \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t-1}$ is the portfolio weight on stock j at the end of quarter t - 1, $\tilde{R}_{j,t}$ is the quarter t buy-and-hold return of stock j, and $\tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}}$ is the quarter t buy-and-hold return of the characteristic-based benchmark portfolio that is matched to stock j at the end of quarter t - 1. *CT* is a measure of style timing ability. It is defined as follows.

$$CT_t = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[\tilde{\omega}_{j,t-1} \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}} - \tilde{\omega}_{j,t-5} \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-5}} \right]$$

where the terms are defined similarly as in CS measure.

I run the following regressions to further check the relationship between fund performance and investor sentiment:

$$DGTW_Measure_{i,t} = \alpha_i + d_i \cdot Sentiment_{i,t-1}$$
 $i = 1, ..., 5$

2.4.3 Predictive Regression Specification

To carry out a robustness check on the relationship of fund size and fund performance conditioned on investor sentiment, I run two additional regressions. The first is a regression of long-short portfolio returns on investor sentiment (*SENTIMENT*), the market risk premium (*RMRF*), the Fama-French factors (*SMB* and *HML*), and a momentum factor (*UMD*), which is stated as follows.

$$R_{quintile\ 1,t} - R_{quintile\ 5,t} = c + dSENTIMENT_{t-1} + \beta RMRF_t + s SMB_t + h HML_t + m UMD_t + \varepsilon_t$$
(2.7)

The long-short portfolio is formed as a long position in the fund size quintile 1 and a short position in the fund size quintile 5.

The second is a three-stage regression. In the first stage, we adjust the fund returns using various performance benchmarks including CAPM, Fama-French three factor model and Carhart four factor model. In the second stage, we compute coefficients (ϕ_t) from monthly regressions of adjusted fund returns on funds' lagged log size (*LOGTNA*) and fund characteristics (*X*) which include funds' turnover (*TURN*), expenses (*EXPERATIO*), 12b1 fees (*x2b1*), funds' age (*AGE*), total loads including front-end, deferred and rearend loads (*TOTLOAD*), last year annual net inflows (*FLOWR*), and previous year returns (*LAGARET*). I run the following regressions every month. It is based on the regression framework proposed by Fama and MacBeth (1973).

$$ADJRET_{i,t} = \mu + \phi_t \ LOGTNA_{i,t-1} + \gamma_t \ X_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t} \quad i = 1, ..., N$$

$$(2.8)$$

In the third stage, we regress the monthly coefficients ϕ_t on investor sentiment.

$$\hat{\phi}_t = c + d \; SENTIMENT_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t \tag{2.9}$$

If the hypothesis that fund performance is positively correlated with fund size when sentiment is high while the relationship is negative when sentiment is low, we should expect the coefficient d to be significantly negative.

Also, to check the variations of fund performance over investor sentiment, I run regressions of size quintile portfolio excess returns on the market risk premium (*RMRF*), the Fama-French factors (*SMB* and *HML*), the momentum factor (*UMD*) and investor sen-

timent (SENTMENT) as follows:

 $FUNDRET_{i,t} = c_i + \beta_i RMRF_t + s_i SMB_t + h_i HML_t + m_i UMD_t + d_i SENTIMENT_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$ (2.10)

If fund performance varies with investor sentiment, we should expect the coefficient d on sentiment to be significantly negative.

To address the concern with estimate biases in predictive regressions of small samples addressed by Stambaugh (1999), I also report the bootstrap *p*-values.

2.4.4 Sentiment Timing

To investigate the sentiment timing ability of fund managers, I run regressions of size quintile portfolio returns on the market risk premium (*RMRF*), the Fama-French factors (*SMB* and *HML*), the momentum factor (*UMD*) and the size factor (*SMB*) interacted with investor sentiment (*SENTMENT*).

$$FUNDRET_{i,t} = c_i + \beta_i RMRF_t + (s_i + d_i SENTIMENT_{t-1})SMB_t + h_i HML_t + m_i UMD_t + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
(2.11)

If fund managers do have the ability to time investor sentiment, we should expect the coefficient d_i on the interacted term to be significantly negative.

2.5 Results

2.5.1 Aggregate pattern: time varying fund performance

Panel B in Table 2.1 reports the monthly average fund returns of each fund size quintile and monthly average market returns. The market return is the value weighted average of all stocks in the CRSP stock database. Unconditionally, all fund size quintiles except for the smallest quintile underperform the market, which is consistent with Gruber (1996). When conditioned on investor sentiment, the monthly average market return is 1.03% when the sentiment is low while it is 0.94% when the sentiment is high. All the size quintiles underperform the market but almost all the quintiles except for the largest quintiles outperform the market. This means that mutual funds generally do well when beginning-of-period investor sentiment is low but perform poorly when beginning-of-period investor sentiment is high.

This pattern is robust after the fund returns are adjusted using various performance benchmarks. Table 2.2 reports Jensen measures (Alphas) and the loadings of the five TNAsorted fund portfolios on the market risk premium (RMRF, the difference of the value weighted average returns of all stocks in the CRSP stock database and the returns of the one month T-bill). Jensen's alpha is a risk-adjusted performance measure that is the average return on a portfolio over and above that predicted by the CAPM, given the portfolio's beta and the average market return and was first mentioned in Jensen (1968). In the table, we can see that unconditionally only the three smallest quintile 1 to 3 beat the market. All the alphas are negative when investor sentiment is high, which means all the size portfolios underperform the market. When the sentiment is low, all the alphas are positive. These results still show that mutual funds perform better when sentiment is low than when sentiment is high. Fama and French (1993) fine-tuned CAPM and developed a three factor model which proves to better describe the common risk factors. Table 2.3 reports the loadings of the five TNA-sorted fund portfolios on the market risk premium (*RMRF*, the difference of the value weighted average returns of all stocks in the CRSP stock database and the return of the one month T-bill), the size factor (SMB) and the value factor (HML). The pattern here is similar to previous results. To further adjust the fund returns, Table 2.4 reports the loadings using the Carhart four factor model (Carhart 1997). Although the results show

that fewer size portfolios outperform the market when sentiment is low, the pattern of better performance in low sentiment than in high sentiment does not change.

To check the robustness of the pattern, I add the investor sentiment into the Carhart four factor model. If fund performance which is measured by risk adjusted returns do vary with investor sentiment, then we expect the coefficient on investor sentiment to be statistically significant. Since the above results show that funds perform better in low sentiment than in high sentiment, the sign of the coefficient should be negative. Table 2.5 Panel A reports the regression results, and the coefficients on investor sentiment are indeed statistically significant and negative. I also equally divide the whole sample into two sub-samples and run this regression during each period. The results are shown in Table 2.5 Panel B. As we can see, the results are mostly robust except for the smallest fund quintile in the first half sample and the largest fund quintile in the second half sample, which have correct signs but insignificant t-statistics.

This interesting pattern has never been addressed in the literature. Using dividend yield to track the business cycle, Lynch, Wachter, and Boudry (2003) find that conditional mutual fund performance moves with the business cycle, with all fund types except growth performing better in downturns than in peaks. The converse holds for growth funds, which do better in peaks than in downturns. Their findings, however, are quite different from mine although they also report time varying property of mutual fund performance. My conditioning variable–investor sentiment has been cleaned such that it is independent of business cycles. In addition, Lynch, Wachter, and Boudry (2003) did not report the fund performance in each size quintile as I do here. They also did not compare the performance of the whole fund universe with the market. Moreover, my focus here is different and broader as we will see in the following sections.

Our results are consistent with the behavioral finance models and show that the

method of treating different period's fund performance equally is not valid.

2.5.2 Aggregate pattern: further robustness check

The sentiment proxy I use for the above results is derived from certain financial variables, many of which can be interpreted as small investor sentiment, but they are indirect sentiment measures. To clearly distinguish small investor sentiment from institutional sentiment and directly measure investor sentiment, I employ another two sentiment measures which are two surveys used in Brown and Cliff (2005). The first is a survey conducted by the American Association of Individual Investors (AAII). Since this survey is targeted toward individuals, it is interpreted as primarily a measure of individual investor sentiment. The other is from Investors Intelligence (II) who compiles another weekly bull-bear spread by categorizing approximately 150 market newsletters. Since many of the authors of these newsletters are current or retired market professionals, the Investors Intelligence data is interpreted as a proxy for institutional sentiment. Using these two measures, I further confirm the above results, and most importantly, mutual fund performance only varies with the AAII measure which captures small investor sentiment but not with the II measure which captures institutional sentiment. These results are shown in Table 2.7, which further support the theoretical predications in DSSW (1990).

However, there are some potential alternative explanations for these results. For example, it is possible that high sentiment erodes fund performance just because of high turnover and thus high trading costs in high sentiment. Or, high money flows into funds in high sentiment may dilute fund performance. To further validate that they are not driven by these factors, I test if the above pattern still holds after controlling for these factors. The results show that the negative relation between mutual fund performance and investor sentiment is robust. Therefore, it is confirmed again that the relation is purely because the different sentiment of institutional investors and small investors leads to their difference of risk attitudes and thus different performance during different periods. For brevity, I do not include these results in the paper.

As a final check, I use the measures developed in DGTW (1997) to check the relationship between fund performance and investor sentiment. As we can see in Table 2.6, sentiment indeed affects fund managers' stock picking ability. *CS* measures are negatively related to investor sentiment, but *CT* measure seems not related to investor sentiment. This is consistent with DSSW(1990). When the sentiment is low, fund managers can take advantage of the low sentiment and buy the most undervalued stocks, thus exhibiting bigger stock picking ability, but when sentiment is high, since fund managers have short-sale constraints, they can not take advantage of small investor sentiment, thus we can not find strong stock picking ability from their holdings.

2.5.3 Size pattern: relationship between fund size and performance

The previous subsection reports the time varying property of mutual fund performance as a whole. In this subsection, we will look into the pattern of performance across fund size quintiles.

I mainly investigate the relationship between fund size and performance. Unconditionally, Chen, Hong, Huang, and Kubik (2004) document that fund returns decline with lagged fund size, even after adjusting these returns by various performance benchmarks. Table 2.1, 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 report similar results under the unconditional situation.

Conditionally, however, the pattern of decreasing returns to scale in mutual funds is fully reversed when sentiment is high while the pattern persists and is more pronounced when sentiment is low. In Table 2.1, when sentiment is low, the raw return of the smallest funds is 1.04% per month on average while that of the largest funds is 1.01% per month. When sentiment is high, the pattern fully reverses, larger funds perform better. After adjusting returns in Table 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4, similar results are shown.

2.5.4 Size pattern: robustness check

Table 2.8 checks the robustness of the relationship between fund size and performance mentioned above. Panel A reports regression of long-short portfolio returns on investor sentiment (*SENTIMENT*), the market risk premium (*RMRF*), the Fama-French factors (*SMB* and *HML*), and a momentum factor (*UMD*), which is specified in the Equation 2.7. The long-short portfolio is formed as a long position in the fund size quintile 1 and a short position in the fund size quintile 5. The coefficient on investor sentiment is -0.003 and statistically significant at 1% level. This means the return difference of smallest fund quintile and largest fund quintile is negatively correlated with investor sentiment. This shows that fund performance is positively correlated with fund size when sentiment is high and the reverse when sentiment is low.

Panel B reports the results of a three-stage regression. In the first stage, we adjust the fund returns using various performance benchmarks including CAPM, Fama-French three factor model and Carhart four factor model. In the second stage, we compute coefficients (ϕ_t) from monthly regressions of adjusted fund returns on funds' lagged log size (*LOGTNA*) and fund characteristics (*X*) which include funds' turnover (*TURN*), expenses (*EXPERATIO*), 12b1 fees (*x2b*1), funds' age (*AGE*), total loads including front-end, deferred and rear-end loads (*TOTLOAD*), last year annual net inflows (*FLOWR*), and previous year returns (*LAGARET*). The regressions are specified in Equation 2.8. In the third stage, we regress the monthly coefficients ϕ_t on investor sentiment as in Equation 2.9. Since this is in the form of predictive regressions, there may be biases in the t-statistics (Stambaugh 1999). I bootstrap the sample, run 2,500 regressions and obtain the *p* values. The panel shows that the coefficients on sentiment are statistically significant and negative no matter which model is used to adjust fund returns.

The above results prove that the relationship of fund performance and fund size conditioned on sentiment is robust.

2.5.5 Size pattern: explanation

What accounts for the conditioning effects of scale on fund performance? Baker and Wurgler (2003) document that common stocks have a similar pattern to that of mutual funds described here. That is, returns of smaller stocks tend to be higher when sentiment is low and lower when sentiment is high, which shows that the cross-sectional size effect of Banz (1981) exists in low-sentiment conditions only. Thus a natural explanation for mutual funds exhibiting a similar pattern with common stocks may be that smaller funds hold smaller stocks.

Table 2.10 tests this hypothesis. First I link my data sample from the CRSP Mutual Fund database to the CDA/Spectrum Mutual Fund Holdings database using the MFLink database provided by WRDS. Panel A reports the summary statistics of variables of interest. Compared with Table 2.1, the statistics show that the merge does not alter the features of the original sample. Panel B reports quarterly average size rank of mutual fund holdings of each quintile. I obtain the size rank of each stock in each quarter by comparing the market values obtained from the CRSP stock database with the size breakpoints in the file provided by Kenneth French on his website. I then calculate the value weighted average size rank of all stocks in a fund's portfolio to get a fund's size rank. Then a size quintile's size rank is obtained by averaging all the fund's size ranks in the quintile. Panel B shows that smaller funds hold significantly smaller stocks unconditionally or conditional on investor sentiment. Specifically, the difference of the average size rank of size quintile 1 and 5 is 1.6

when sentiment is low and 1.42 when sentiment is high. Both t-statistics are significant at 1% level.

Can the difference in size rank explain the spread of fund returns in different size quintiles? Table 2.11 formally tests this hypothesis. The table reports regressions of returns of a long-short portfolio on the market risk premium (*RMRF*), the Fama-French factors (*SMB* and *HML*), the momentum factor (*UMD*) and the size rank difference of the two portfolios.

$$R_{quintile\ 1,t} - R_{quintile\ 5,t} = c + d\ RANKDF_{t-1} + \beta\ RMRF + s\ SMB_t + h\ HML_t + m\ UMD_t + \varepsilon_t$$
(2.12)

The long-short portfolio is formed as a long position in the fund size quintile 1 and a short position in the fund size quintile 5. The regressions are run both unconditional and conditional on investor sentiment. The coefficients on the rank difference are statistically significant both unconditional and conditional on low sentiment as expected. The coefficient is not significant when sentiment is high. This may be because the rank difference may not be a good proxy to describe the actual size difference in their holdings since the ranks are closer together when sentiment is high according to Panel B in Table 2.10.

2.5.6 Sentiment timing

Since stocks are underpriced when investor sentiment is low and overpriced when sentiment is high, a natural question arises as to whether a fund manager is able to time investor sentiment. This question is important since if all the fund managers can time the investor sentiment, we will not observe the above patterns. I study the fund manager timing ability by checking if a fund's loading on the size factor (*SMB*) varies with investor sentiment. Table 2.9 reports regressions of size quintile portfolio returns on the market risk premium (*RMRF*), the Fama-French factors (*SMB* and *HML*), the momentum factor (*UMD*) and the

size factor (*SMB*) interacted with investor sentiment (*SENTMENT*). The coefficients on the interacted item are -0.09 for size quintile 1 (smallest fund quintile) and -0.06 for quintile 2. The coefficients are statistically significant. However the coefficients of larger funds are not significant. The results show that loadings of smaller funds on *SMB* are significantly negative but there is no statistical relationship between loadings of larger funds and investor sentiment. This suggests that smaller funds are better at sentiment timing than larger funds. However, we should not overstate the timing ability of small funds since the results may only reflect that it is more feasible for smaller funds to time the investor sentiment. As assets under management increase, position sizes also increase, thus it is harder and more expensive to time the investor sentiment by switching back and forth between small stocks and large stocks.

2.6 Conclusion

To the best of my knowledge, I am the first to explicitly address the performance of actively managed mutual funds conditioned on investor sentiment. Almost all fund size quintiles subsequently outperform the market when sentiment is high while all of them underperform the market when sentiment is low. This also holds true after adjusting the fund returns by various performance benchmarks. I further show that the source of variations come from small investor sentiment. These results are consistent with the behavioral finance models and show that the conventional method of treating mutual fund performance in different periods equally is *not* valid. This finding can thus partially validate the existence of actively managed mutual funds which underperform the market overall (Gruber 1996). Additionally, when conditioned on investor sentiment, the pattern of decreasing returns to scale in mutual funds, recently documented in Chen, Hong, Huang, and Kubik (2004), is fully reversed when sentiment is high while the pattern persists and is more pronounced

when sentiment is low. Further results suggest that smaller funds on average hold smaller stocks, which is shown to drive the above patterns. I also document that smaller funds have more sentiment timing ability or feasibility than larger funds. These findings have many important implications including the persistence of fund performance which may not exist under conventional performance measures (Carhart 1997).

Table 2.1: Summary statistics

This table reports summary statistics of the funds in our sample. The total sample is divided into five quintiles according to funds' end-of-last-year TNA. The number of funds is the number of actively managed mutual funds that meet our selection criteria in each month. AGE is the number years since the organization of the fund. TNA is the total net assets under management in millions of dollars. TOTLOAD is the total front-end, deferred and rear-end charges as a percentage of new investments. EXPRATIO is the total annual management fees and expenses divided by year-end TNA. TURNOVER is fund turnover, defined as the minimum of aggregate purchases and sales of securities divided the average TNA over the calendar year. VWFLOW is the percentage of new net fund inflow into the fund quintile over the past year. It is calculated by dividing the total net inflow into a quintile by the total assets under management in the quintile. FUNDRET is the monthly fund return. Panel A reports the time-series averages of monthly cross-sectional averages and monthly average fund returns of each fund size quintile and monthly average market returns unconditionally or conditional on investor sentiment.

Panel A:	Time-series	average of	cross-sectional	averages ar	ıd standard	deviations
		with the second	er 000 00000000000000000000000000000000	with the second second	THE DESIGNATION OF THE PARTY OF	

	Mutual Fund Size Quintile					
	1	2	3	4	5	Funds
Number of	217.90	218.60	218.30	218.50	218.00	1048
Funds						
AGE	6.80	9.33	12.59	15.56	23.47	13.65
(years)	(3.39)	(3.71)	(4.19)	(4.33)	(4.42)	(3.83)
TNA	6.60	19.52	53.11	124.68	1096.21	252.58
(\$ million)	(4.23)	(10.00)	(23.09)	(65.25)	(792.22)	(199.55)
TOTLOAD	3.06	3.95	4.02	4.05	4.90	4.00
(%)	(1.53)	(1.64)	(1.50)	(1.41)	(1.86)	(1.53)
EXPRATIO	1.68	1.27	1.09	0.96	0.78	1.15
(% per year)	(0.47)	(0.24)	(0.21)	(0.22)	(0.19)	(0.22)
TURNOVER	91.93	84.17	80.82	75.27	60.62	76.25
(% per year)	(21.23)	(21.29)	(13.27)	(15.65)	(17.37)	(15.58)
VWFLOW	130.45	32.90	15.35	5.92	0.78	2.57
(% per year)	(151.99)	(31.19)	(16.56)	(11.25)	(8.00)	(8.69)

Panel B: Monthly average fund returns of each fund size quintile and monthly average market returns

Sentiment	Market		Difference				
		1	2	3	4	5	1-5
Unconditional	0.95%	0.98%	0.95%	0.94%	0.92%	0.85%	0.13%
							(2.88)
Low	1.03%	1.40%	1.27%	1.20%	1.16%	1.01%	0.39%
							(3.88)
High	0.94%	0.71%	0.76%	0.78%	0.77%	0.79%	-0.09%
							(-1.26)
Low-High		0.69%	0.51%	0.42%	0.40%	0.21%	
		(6.78)	(5.78)	(5.60)	(4.56)	(3.54)	

Table 2.2: Performance measures and loadings calculated using the CAPM

This table reports the loadings of the five TNA-sorted fund portfolios on the market risk premium (*RMRF*, the difference of the value weighted average returns of all stocks in the CRSP stock database and the returns of the one month T-bill). The regression specification is as follows.

$$R_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_i RMRF_t + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
 $t = 1, ..., T$

where $R_{i,t}$ is the excess return of each fund size portfolio *i* at month *t*. I do the above regressions for each size portfolio unconditionally first and then divide the whole sample into two sub-samples according to beginning-of-year sentiment. Then I do the above regressions in each sub-sample for each size portfolio.

				Sentiment			
	Uncond	itional	Lo	W	High		
Quintile	Alpha	Beta	Alpha	Beta	Alpha Beta		
1 (small)	0.109%	0.93	0.412%	0.93	-0.210% 0.93		
2	0.052%	0.96	0.261%	0.97	-0.169% 0.96		
3	0.024%	0.97	0.198%	0.96	-0.155% 0.97		
4	-0.007%	0.97	0.157%	0.96	-0.172% 0.98		
5 (large)	-0.065%	0.96	0.003%	0.96	-0.136% 0.96		

Table 2.3: Performance measures and loadings calculated using Fama-French three factor model

This table reports the loadings of the five TNA-sorted fund portfolios on the market risk premium (*RMRF*, the difference of the value weighted average returns of all stocks in the CRSP stock database and the return of the one month T-bill), the size factor (*SMB*) and the value factor (*HML*). The regression specification is as follows.

$$R_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_i RMRF_t + s_i SMB_t + h_i HML_t + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
 $t = 1, ..., T$

where $R_{i,t}$ is the excess return of each fund size portfolio *i* at month *t*. I do the above regressions for each size portfolio unconditionally first and then divide the whole sample into two sub-samples according to beginning-of-year sentiment. Then I do the above regressions in each sub-sample for each size portfolio.

Sentiment	Quintile	Alpha (%)	RMRF	SMB	HML
	1 (small)	0.026	0.883	0.329	0.089
	2	0.021	0.908	0.267	0.009
Unconditional	3	0.013	0.912	0.227	-0.019
	4	-0.002	0.921	0.191	-0.040
	5 (large)	-0.048	0.927	0.088	-0.045
	1 (small)	0.220	0.855	0.405	0.036
	2	0.146	0.894	0.331	-0.063
Low	3	0.120	0.890	0.278	-0.092
	4	0.113	0.902	0.217	-0.107
	5 (large)	0.006	0.929	0.081	-0.082
	1 (small)	-0.199	0.898	0.276	0.091
	2	-0.128	0.917	0.234	0.027
High	3	-0.111	0.930	0.207	0.013
	4	-0.126	0.939	0.190	0.001
	5 (large)	-0.101	0.930	0.104	-0.016

Table 2.4: Performance measures and loadings calculated using Carhart four factor model

This table reports the loadings of the five TNA-sorted fund portfolios on the market risk premium (RMRF, the difference of the value weighted average returns of all stocks in the CRSP stock database and the return of the one month T-bill), the size factor (SMB), the value factor (HML) and the momentum factor (UMD). The regression specification is as follows.

$$R_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_i RMRF_t + s_i SMB_t + h_i HML_t + m_i UMD_t + \varepsilon_{i,t} \quad t = 1, ..., T$$

where $R_{i,t}$ is the excess return of each fund size portfolio *i* in month *t*. I do the above regressions for each size portfolio unconditionally first and then divide the whole sample into two sub-samples according to beginning-of-year sentiment. Then I do the above regressions in each sub-sample for each size portfolio.

Sentiment	Quintile	Alpha (%)	RMRF	SMB	HML	UMD
	1 (small)	0.050	0.881	0.329	0.083	-0.023
	2	-0.010	0.911	0.268	0.017	0.030
Unconditional	3	-0.025	0.915	0.228	-0.009	0.037
	4	-0.041	0.924	0.192	-0.030	0.037
	5 (large)	-0.071	0.928	0.089	-0.039	0.022
	1 (small)	0.145	0.858	0.403	0.059	0.074
	2	-0.001	0.900	0.326	-0.018	0.147
Low	3	-0.043	0.896	0.272	-0.043	0.162
	4	0.002	0.906	0.213	-0.074	0.110
	5 (large)	-0.088	0.933	0.077	-0.053	0.093
	1 (small)	-0.137	0.891	0.272	0.073	-0.060
	2	-0.113	0.916	0.232	0.023	-0.014
High	3	-0.103	0.929	0.206	0.010	-0.008
	4	-0.137	0.941	0.191	0.005	0.011
	5 (large)	-0.097	0.930	0.103	-0.017	-0.004

Table 2.5: Time varying mutual fund performance with investor sentiment

This table reports the loadings of the five TNA-sorted fund portfolios on the market risk premium (RMRF, the difference of the value weighted average returns of all stocks in the CRSP stock database and the return of the one month T-bill), the size factor (SMB), the value factor (HML), the momentum factor (UMD) and investor sentiment. The regression specification is as follows.

 $R_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_i RMRF_t + s_i SMB_t + h_i HML_t + m_i UMD_t + d_i SENTIMENT_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t} \quad t = 1, ..., T$

where $R_{i,t}$ is the excess return of each fund size portfolio *i* in month *t*. The t-statistics (shown in brackets) are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation using Newey-West variance covariance matrix (Newey and West 1987).

Quintile	RMRF	SMB	HML	UMD	SENTIMENT
1	0.88	0.32	0.09	-0.03	$-0.36\%^{***}$
	(27.85)	(7.69)	(2.36)	(-0.79)	(-3.14)
2	0.91	0.26	0.02	0.03	$-0.19\%^{***}$
	(56.50)	(8.50)	(0.72)	(1.34)	(-3.16)
3	0.91	0.22	-0.01	0.04	$-0.13\%^{***}$
	(58.87)	(7.82)	(-0.29)	(1.82)	(-2.73)
4	0.92	0.19	-0.03	0.04	$-0.13\%^{***}$
	(69.88)	(7.99)	(-1.18)	(2.06)	(-3.29)
5	0.93	0.09	-0.04	0.02	$-0.06\%^{*}$
	(86.51)	(5.55)	(-2.08)	(1.58)	(-1.82)

Panel A: Full Sample (1962-2002)

Panel B: Two Sub-samples (Only the coefficients on sentiment are reported)

			Fund Quintiles		
	1	2	3	4	5
1962-1987	-0.06%	$-0.14\%^{***}$	$-0.08\%^{*}$	$-0.15\%^{***}$	$-0.13\%^{***}$
	(-1.05)	(-3.04)	(-1.66)	(-2.87)	(-2.60)
1988-2002	$-0.36\%^{**}$	$-0.14\%^{**}$	$-0.10\%^{**}$	$-0.09\%^{**}$	-0.04%
	(-2.05)	(-1.99)	(-2.15)	(-2.05)	(-1.02)

*** Statistically significant at 1% level.

** Statistically significant at 5% level.

* Statistically significant at 10% level.

Table 2.6: Time varying performance: DGTW measures

This table reports the relation between fund performance under DGTW measures (DGTW, 1997) and investor sentiment. I investigate two components of DGTW measures here: a 'Characteristic Selectivity' measure CS and a 'Characteristic Timing' measure CT. CS is a measure of stock selection ability and uses as a benchmark the return of portfolio of stocks that is matched to each of the fund's holdings every quarter along the dimensions of size, book-to-market ratio, and momentum:

$$CS_t = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \tilde{\omega}_{j,t-1} \left[\tilde{R}_{j,t} - \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t-1}$ is the portfolio weight on stock *j* at the end of quarter t-1, $\tilde{R}_{j,t}$ is the quarter *t* buy-and-hold return of stock *j*, and $\tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}}$ is the quarter *t* buy-and-hold return of the characteristic-based benchmark portfolio that is matched to stock *j* at the end of quarter t-1. *CT* is a measure of style timing ability. It is defined as follows.

$$CT_t = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[\tilde{\omega}_{j,t-1} \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-1}} - \tilde{\omega}_{j,t-5} \tilde{R}_t^{b_{j,t-5}} \right]$$

where the terms are defined similarly as in *CS* measure. This table reports the coefficients (d_i) of the following regressions:

*DGTW*_*Measure*_{*i*,*t*} = $\alpha_i + d_i \cdot Sentiment_{i,t-1}$ *i* = 1,...,5

			Fund Quintile		
	1 (Small)	2	3	4	5 (Large)
CS	$-0.19\%^{**}$	$-0.16\%^{*}$	$-0.09\%^{*}$	$-0.13\%^{*}$	$-0.19\%^{*}$
	(-1.96)	(-1.65)	(-1.88)	(-1.68)	(-1.75)
CT	-0.15%	-0.05%	-0.05%	-0.07%	-0.01%
	(-0.35)	(-0.12)	(-0.23)	(-0.20)	(-0.02)

** Statistically significant at 5% level.

* Statistically significant at 10% level.

Table 2.7: Time varying performance under two new sentiment measures

This table reports the regressions of the excess returns of five TNA-sorted fund portfolios on the market risk premium (RMRF, the difference of the value weighted average returns of all stocks in the CRSP stock database and the return of the one month T-bill), the size factor (SMB), the value factor (HML), the momentum factor (UMD) and investor sentiment. The investor sentiment measures used here are Investors Intelligence (II) measure and American Association of Individual Investors (AAII) measure, where the former proxies for institutional investor sentiment and the latter for small investor sentiment. The regression specification is as follows.

$$R_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_i RMRF_t + s_i SMB_t + h_i HML_t + m_i UMD_t + d_i SENTIMENT_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
 $t = 1, ..., T$

where $R_{i,t}$ is the excess return of each fund size portfolio *i* in month *t*. To save space, only the coefficients d_i on *SENTIMENT* are reported for each fund size quintile and each sentiment measure. The t-statistics (shown in brackets) are adjusted for heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation using Newey-West variance covariance matrix (Newey and West 1987).

Sentiment		Fund Quintiles			
Measure	1 (small)	2	3	4	5 (large)
II	0.76%	0.52%	0.51%	0.15%	0.05%
	(0.71)	(0.54)	(0.57)	(0.16)	(0.06)
AAII	$-0.76\%^{**}$	$-0.92\%^{***}$	$-0.72\%^{**}$	$-0.79\%^{*}$	$-0.80\%^{**}$
	(-2.09)	(-2.89)	(-2.11)	(-1.91)	(-2.33)

*** Statistically significant at 1% level.

** Statistically significant at 5% level.

* Statistically significant at 10% level.

Table 2.8: Time series regressions: portfolios

This table reports a robustness check of the relationship of fund size and fund performance conditioned on investor sentiment. Panel A reports regression of long-short portfolio returns on investor sentiment (*SENTIMENT*), the market risk premium (*RMRF*), the Fama-French factors (*SMB* and *HML*), and a momentum factor (*UMD*).

$$R_{auintile 1,t} - R_{auintile 5,t} = c + dSENTIMENT_{t-1} + \beta RMRF + s SMB_t + h HML_t + m UMD_t + \varepsilon$$

The long-short portfolio is formed as a long position in the fund size quintile 1 and a short position in the fund size quintile 5. The Newey-West t-statistics (Newey and West 1987) are reported.

Panel B reports the results of a three-stage regression. In the first stage, we adjusted the fund returns using various performance benchmarks including CAPM, Fama-French three factor model and Carhart four factor model. In the second stage, we compute coefficients (ϕ_t) from monthly regressions of adjusted fund returns on funds' lagged log size (*LOGTNA*) and fund characteristics (*X*) which include funds' turnover (*TURN*), expenses (*EXPERATIO*), 12b1 fees (*x2b1*), funds' age (*AGE*), total loads including front-end, deferred and rear-end loads (*TOTLOAD*), last year annual net inflows (*FLOWR*), and previous year returns (*LAGARET*).

$$ADJRET_{i,t} = \mu + \phi_t \ LOGTNA_{i,t-1} + \gamma_t \ X_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t} \quad i = 1, ..., N$$

In the third stage, we regress the monthly coefficients ϕ_t on investor sentiment.

$$\hat{\phi}_t = c + d SENTIMENT_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t$$

The first row is the estimates from regressions where adjusted fund returns come from different models. The second row is the Newey-West t-statistics for the estimates which are adjusted for autocorrelations and heteroscedasticity. The last row reports the bootstrap p values.

	Estimate	T-stat
Sentiment(lagged)	-0.003***	-2.78
RMRF	-0.048	-1.61
SMB	0.231	5.95
HML	0.125	3.64
UMD	-0.047	-1.54

Panel A: Time series regression for a long-short portfolio

Panel B: Three-stage regression

	Mo	del Used to Adjust the Ret	urns
	CAPM	Three Factor	Four Factor
Estimate	$-0.04\%^{***}$	$-0.03\%^{***}$	$-0.03\%^{***}$
t-stat	(-3.15)	(-2.37)	(-2.37)
p value	[0.00]	[0.01]	[0.01]

*** Statistically significant at 1% level.

Table 2.9: Sentiment timing test

This table reports regressions of size quintile portfolio returns on the market risk premium (RMRF), the Fama-French factors (SMB and HML), the momentum factor (UMD) and the size factor (SMB) interacted with investor sentiment (SENTMENT).

$$FUNDRET_{i,t} = c_i + \beta_i RMRF_t + (s_i + d_i SENTIMENT_{t-1})SMB_t + h_i HML_t + m_i UMD_t + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$

T-statistics are in parentheses and heteroscedasticity robust.

Quintile	RMRF	SMB	HML	UMD	LAG(SENT)*SME
1 (small)	0.87	0.34	0.05	-0.03	-0.09^{*}
	(26.02)	(8.42)	(1.16)	(-1.05)	(-1.90)
2	0.91	0.27	0.00	0.02	-0.06^{*}
	(54.97)	(9.37)	(-0.15)	(1.01)	(-1.82)
3	0.91	0.23	-0.02	0.03	-0.03
	(59.22)	(8.16)	(-0.78)	(1.58)	(-0.88)
4	0.92	0.19	-0.03	0.04	-0.01
	(70.01)	(7.80)	(-1.44)	(1.90)	(-0.31)
5 (large)	0.93	0.09	-0.03	0.02	0.02
	(87.32)	(5.32)	(-1.93)	(1.63)	(0.99)

* Statistically significant at 10% level

Table 2.10: Summary statistics of the merged database

This table reports the summary statistics of the merged table. I link my data sample from the CRSP Mutual Fund database to the CDA/Spectrum Mutual Fund Holdings database using the MFLink database provided by WRDS. Panel A reports the summary statistics of variables of interest. The standard deviations are reported in parentheses. Panel B reports quarterly average size rank of mutual fund holdings of each quintile. I obtain the size rank of each stock in each quarter by comparing the market values obtained from the CRSP stock database with the size breakpoints in the file provided by Kenneth French on his website. I then calculate the value weighted average size rank of all stocks in a fund's portfolio to get a fund's size rank. Then a size quintile's size rank is obtained by averaging all the fund's size ranks in the quintile. The t-statistics are reported in parentheses.

	Mutual Fund Size Quintile				
_	1	2	3	4	5
Number of	171.35	193.75	200.00	204.68	211.70
Funds					
AGE	6.99	9.64	13.59	16.73	24.63
(years)	(3.83)	(3.84)	(4.66)	(4.47)	(4.46)
TNA	7.03	19.88	51.14	133.39	1011.75
(\$ million)	(5.46)	(13.00)	(29.62)	(76.21)	(867.37)
TOTLOAD	3.04	4.06	4.23	4.35	5.00
(%)	(1.37)	(1.67)	(1.56)	(1.52)	(1.85)
EXPRATIO	1.64	1.27	1.10	0.97	0.78
(% per year)	(0.44)	(0.25)	(0.21)	(0.21)	(0.20)
TURNOVER	93.88	83.21	81.26	75.13	60.19
(% per year)	(34.18)	(20.06)	(13.17)	(15.75)	(18.56)
VWFLOW	143.24	33.42	17.38	7.06	0.63
(% per year)	(164.51)	(31.62)	(20.33)	(11.29)	(8.00)

Panel A: Summary statistics

Panel B: Quarterly average size rank of mutual fund holdings of each quintile

		Senti	iment
Quintile	Unconditional	Low	High
1 (small)	13.34	13.20	13.40
2	13.29	13.35	13.27
3	13.61	13.58	13.62
4	13.77	13.75	13.77
5 (large)	14.81	14.80	14.82
diff (5-1)	1.48***	1.60***	1.42***
	(13.98)	(16.28)	(9.61)

*** Statistically significant at 1% level.

Table 2.11: Time series regressions

This table reports regressions of returns of a long-short portfolio on the market risk premium (RMRF), the Fama-French factors (SMB and HML), the momentum factor (UMD) and the size rank difference of the two portfolios.

$$R_{quintile 1,t} - R_{quintile 5,t} = c + d RANKDF_{t-1} + \beta RMRF + s SMB_t + h HML_t + m UMD_t + \varepsilon_t$$

The long-short portfolio is formed as a long position in the fund size quintile 1 and a short position in the fund size quintile 5. The regressions are run both unconditionally and conditional on investor sentiment. The Newey-West t-statistics are reported in parentheses.

Sentiment	RMRF	SMB	HML	UMD	RANK DIFF
Unconditional	-0.054	0.086	0.051	-0.010	0.120%**
	(-4.41)	(6.87)	(3.70)	(-1.22)	(2.41)
Low	-0.065	0.101	-0.007	0.006	$0.114\%^{***}$
	(-7.61)	(6.09)	(-0.47)	(0.44)	(2.76)
High	-0.049	0.088	0.065	-0.010	0.099%
	(-3.04)	(5.89)	(3.58)	(-1.13)	(0.88)

*** Statistically significant at 1% level.

** Statistically significant at 5% level.

Chapter 3

Robustness Check and Extensions

3.1 Paper I: Does Investor Sentiment Affect Mutual Fund Performance?

3.1.1 Test of Significance in Difference

In the original paper, I have calculated the funds' alphas which are the intercepts from the regression of fund returns on several factor portfolios including Fama-French three factors plus the momentum factor. The alphas show how well a fund has performed in a risk adjusted manner. My results show that overall, small funds outperform large funds, but conditioned on the sentiment, small funds tend not to outperform large funds when sentiment is high while they still tend to outperform large funds when sentiment is low.

Here, I test if the difference in alphas is significantly correlated with sentiment, and report them in Table 3.6. As shown in the table, when I add the lagged sentiment into the 4-factor model, the coefficients on sentiment is significantly negative. This means, the difference in performance between small funds and large funds does vary significantly with investor sentiment. I use the same method in Chen, Hong, Huang, and Kubik (2004) to re-

move outliers and use Newey-West method to correct the autocorrelations when calculating the standard errors.

3.1.2 Flow and Sentiment

Greene and Hodges (2002) show that fund flows have some dilution impact on certain fund categories (mostly U.S.-based international funds). Also, Indro (2004) reports that the net aggregate fund flows somehow correlate with investor sentiment in a short horizon (weekly). Therefore, if in our sample, the fund flows and our definition of investor sentiment have a positive relation, the patterns of fund performance may be caused by the dilution effect of flows.

In order to test whether this is true or not, I check the relation between fund flows and investor sentiment in my sample in Table 3.7, but I don't find a significant relation between flow and investor sentiment in our horizon (annual) no matter whether it is at the aggregate level or at size quintile level.

Specifically, flow is measured using net money inflows both in actual dollar amount and as a percentage of TNA. For each fund i at month t, I calculate the net money inflows following many prior studies (e.g. Zheng (1999)) as follows:

$$Flow_{i,t} = TNA_{i,t} - TNA_{i,t-1}(1+R_{i,t}) - Merger_{i,t}$$

$$(3.1)$$

where $R_{(i,t)}$ is the fund's return in month *t*. *Merger*_{*i*,*t*} is the flow due to merger and acquisition. Percent flows are dollar flows divided by last period's TNA (*TNA*_{*i*,*t*-1}).

As shown in Panel A, we can see that correlations between the total inflow into all mutual funds and sentiment are small. If we use percent flow, the correlation is 28%, while it is 24% for dollar flow. P-values are not significant. In Panel B, I regress the percent flow on sentiment. The coefficients are not statistically significant either on the contemporaneous

term or the lagged term of sentiment. In Panel C, all funds are divided into five quintiles according to their size (TNA). The correlation between flows into each fund size quintile and the correlation between flows into each quintile and sentiment is reported. As we see in the table, sentiment is more significantly correlated with flows into large funds than into small funds. P-value for the small funds (quintile 1) is 15% but for the large funds, it is 6%. However, sentiment is not significantly correlated with the difference in flows into small and large funds. The correlation is -23%, but the p-value is 20%.

In summary, the correlation between fund flows and sentiment is not significant at the aggregate level, and sentiment is also not highly correlated with flows into smaller funds (quintile 1-3). Moreover, the difference in flows into small and large funds is not correlated with sentiment. Therefore, it is hard to believe that the pattern of fund performance in the paper is driven by the relation between flows and sentiment.

3.1.3 Size Effect

Baker and Wurgler (2006) find that when investor sentiment is low, subsequent returns of small stocks tend to be high and on the other hand when sentiment is high, small stocks have low returns. If small funds tend to hold small stocks, we may observe the second pattern in the paper. This section is trying to investigate whether if this is a size effect. Size effect has two aspects. One is that overall, a fund holds more on one size quintile of stocks, say, small stocks. This is the unconditional pattern. The other is that funds may try to migrate money from one size quintile to another conditioned on investor sentiment. I'll investigate both in this section.

First of all, as shown in Panel A in Table 3.9, small funds generally hold stocks tilting toward small stocks compared to large funds, although majority (51%) of their holdings are large stocks. This is also true if conditioned on sentiment as shown in Panel B. There is slight difference in weights on each size quintile when investor sentiment changes, but the pattern that small funds hold more small stocks still holds.

Also, I check if their weights on each size quintile of stocks vary with investor sentiment. Table 3.10 reports regressions of fund weights on size quintile of stocks on investor sentiment. As shown in Panel A, we do not find any evidence that their weights change with sentiment at the aggregate level. Panel B reports the Regression of the weights of each fund quintile on each size quintile of stocks on last year's sentiment. As we see in the table, small fund tend to load more large stocks when sentiment is high but large funds tend to load more small stocks when sentiment is high. However, most t-stats are not significant.

In summary, the second pattern in the paper may be driven by the fact that small funds tend to hold small stocks and small funds are better at timing the sentiment.

3.1.4 Predictability of Size Concentration

To further investigate whether the pattern is a size effect or not, I test if the size concentration of funds can predict factor returns. I run the regression of factor returns on the weight difference of funds in size quintiles.

Table 3.11 reports the predictability of weight difference of mutual funds on size to factor returns. Stocks are divided into five quintiles according to their market value (size). Funds are also divided into five quintiles according to their TNA. Weight difference is defined as the difference in weights on certain stock size quintile between small funds (fund quintile 1) and large funds (fund quintile 5). Factors include market excess return, size (SMB), value (HML), momentum (UMD). Factor returns are quarterly returns. Quarters are defined in three ways, including calendar quarter, extended quarter and short quarter. Extended quarter is from 45 days after last quarter end to 45 days after next quarter begin-
ning. Short quarter is from 45 days after last quarter end to next quarter beginning.

As shown in the table, the weight difference in small stocks can predict return on size and value factors but not market return and momentum return. This is interesting and needs further investigation.

3.2 Paper II: Beta Choice of Institutional Investors

3.2.1 Beta Choice in Each Fund Category

The paper documents that overall institutional investors tend to choose higher betas than their benchmarks. It's interesting to see how funds in each category choose their betas. For mutual funds, there are four fund categories including Aggressive Growth, Growth, Growth & Income and Balanced, corresponding to the code 2,3,4 and 7 in the mutual fund holdings database. As shown in Table 3.2, funds in the Aggressive Growth and Growth category tend to choose higher beta but funds in the Growth & Income and Balanced category tend to choose higher beta. Therefore, the results are mainly driven by the funds in the first two categories.

Table 3.1 reports the number of mutual funds in each fund category during each year from 1980 to 2004 in our sample. We can see that funds in the Growth & Income and Balanced category account for about 70%.

3.2.2 Beta Choice Conditioned on Trailing 12-month Return

The different tendency for funds in different category to choose betas may be due to their different choices in different market environment.

Table 3.3 reports the average Beta Choice (BC) measure of mutual funds conditioned on last year's market return. When past 12 months' market return (return on VW CRSP index return) is positive, it's denoted as an UP period; otherwise, it is denoted as a DOWN period. "Average BC" is the quarterly average of the average BC measures across funds (firms). "Average BC" is multiplied by 100 in the table.

As shown in the table, funds in the Aggressive Growth and Growth category always tend to choose higher betas no matter how the market was for the past twelve months. However, they tend to choose even higher betas when the market was up in the past year. To the contrary, funds in the Growth & Income and Balanced category always tend to choose lower betas no matter how the market was for the past twelve months, and there is no difference in magnitude between up and down markets either.

3.2.3 Causality of the Change of Beta and the Change of Institutional Ownership

Overall, as we see in the paper that institutional investors tend to choose higher beta than their benchmarks. It is possible that the trading of institutional investors causes the increase of beta of stocks. Then institutional investors would end up with higher beta stocks.

To investigate whether the trading of institutional investors have any impact on a stock's beta, I run Fama-Macbeth regressions between the change of the beta of a stock and its change of institutional ownership. From the regressions, I do not find evidence that the trading of institutional investors can change the beta of a stock.

Specifically, the change of beta for a stock is defined as the percentage change of the beta from last quarter. And the change of ownership is defined as the difference of institutional ownership this quarter and last quarter for the stock. The regressions are controlled for stocks' one quarter lagged market value (size). As shown in Table 3.4, the coefficient on the lagged change of institutional ownership is actually negative and the tstatistic is not significant.

3.2.4 Risk Shifting?

If a mutual fund chooses a bigger beta than its benchmark beta, it may be the case that the fund wants to take more risks when they didn't perform well recently. Table 3.5 investigates this possibility. As shown in the table, distressed funds indeed tend to choose higher betas, which is consistent with the risk shifting story.

Specifically, all funds are divided into ten groups according to last year's money inflows. The biggest inflow group is decile 10 and the smallest one is decile 1. Distressed funds are defined as funds in decile 1 to 4, and hot funds are defined as funds in decile 7-10. Other funds are denoted as medium funds. Then I run the Fama-French regressions of the beta choice of each group on the lagged percent inflows. That is, every quarter, I run a cross sectional regression of a fund's beta choice on its lagged flow in each group, and then I take an average of the coefficients for all the quarters. As shown in the Table 3.5, the coefficient on all funds as a group is positive but not significant. However, the distressed group has a significant negative coefficient. The t-stat is -3.03. The average percent flow into distressed funds is negative. So this means that distressed funds who are most concerned about their performance tend to take more risks, which echoes the risk shifting story. The coefficients on another two groups are not significant, which makes this story more plausible.

Table 3.1: Number of Mutual Funds in Each Fund Category

This table reports the number of mutual funds in each fund category during each year from 1980 to 2004 in our sample. The fund categories are Aggressive Growth, Growth, Growth & Income and Balanced, corresponding to the code 2,3,4 and 7 in the mutual fund holdings database.

Year	Aggressive	Growth	Growth &	Balanced	Percentage of
	Growth		Income		funds in first
					2 categories
1980	96	211	107	31	0.69
1981	96	224	110	31	0.69
1982	89	221	122	41	0.66
1983	84	219	126	47	0.64
1984	114	240	140	43	0.66
1985	109	251	140	69	0.63
1986	116	308	161	66	0.65
1987	123	352	171	76	0.66
1988	142	376	176	79	0.67
1989	157	396	187	102	0.66
1990	162	425	203	113	0.65
1991	195	473	228	131	0.65
1992	205	542	249	137	0.66
1993	229	901	330	173	0.69
1994	238	1307	379	219	0.72
1995	233	1535	581	283	0.67
1996	202	1533	557	273	0.68
1997	206	1901	574	287	0.71
1998	198	1860	550	263	0.72
1999	184	1798	506	244	0.73
2000	176	1710	484	225	0.73
2001	176	1611	456	214	0.73
2002	173	1553	439	206	0.73
2003	164	1458	414	192	0.73
2004	161	1364	390	177	0.73
Average	161.12	910.76	311.2	148.88	0.68

Table 3.2: Average Beta Choice Measures of Mutual Funds in Each Category

This table reports the average Beta Choice (BC) measure of mutual funds. Negative quarters is the number of quarters that have negative average BC measures across funds (firms). Positive Quarters is the number of quarters that have non-negative average BC measures across funds (firms). The numbers in square brackets are the number of quarters that is statistically significant. "Average BC" is the quarterly average of the average BC measures across funds (firms). The statistics are in brackets. I measure the Beta Choice (BC) of a portfolio during quarter t as follows.

$$BC_t = \sum_{j=1}^N \omega_{j,t} \left[\tilde{\beta}_{j,t} - \tilde{\beta}_t^{b_{j,t}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t}$ is the portfolio weight for stock *j* at the beginning of period *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{j,t}$ is the estimated beta for stock *j* at time *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_t^{b_{j,t}}$ is the group average of betas within the group which stock *j* belongs to at time *t*. Panel A reports average Beta Choice Measures based on betas derived from daily returns, and Panel B reports average Beta Choice Measures based on betas derived from monthly returns.

		Daily 1	Beta	Monthl	y Beta
Fund Category	Statistics	VW CRSP Beta	S&P 500 Beta	VW CRSP Beta	S&P 500 Beta
Aggressive Growth	Total Quarters	100	100	100	100
	Positive Qtrs	98	98	99	99
	Average BC	18.62	16.56	17.64	16.07
		(21.12)	(19.66)	(27.88)	(23.39)
Growth	Positive Qtrs	98	99	99	97
	Average BC	6.94	6.44	6.36	5.94
		(19.04)	(18.80)	(22.06)	(19.81)
Growth & Income	Positive Qtrs	23	25	2	2
	Average BC	-2.01	-1.81	-3.30	-2.96
		(-7.15)	(-6.59)	(-16.49)	(-16.37)
Balanced	Positive Qtrs	34	30	28	26
	Average BC	-1.60	-1.79	-3.15	-3.24
	_	(-3.95)	(-5.07)	(-6.43)	(-6.69)

Table 3.3: Average Beta Choice Measures of Mutual Funds in Each Category Conditioned on Last Year's Market Return

This table reports the average Beta Choice (BC) measure of mutual funds conditioned on last year's market return. When past 12 months' market return (return on VW CRSP index return) is positive, it's denoted as an UP period; otherwise, it is denoted as a DOWN period. "Average BC" is the quarterly average of the average BC measures across funds (firms). "Average BC" is multiplied by 100 in the table. T-statistics are in brackets. I measure the Beta Choice (BC) of a portfolio during quarter *t* as follows.

$$BC_t = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \omega_{j,t} \left[\tilde{\beta}_{j,t} - \tilde{\beta}_t^{b_{j,t}} \right]$$

where $\omega_{j,t}$ is the portfolio weight for stock *j* at the beginning of period *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{j,t}$ is the estimated beta for stock *j* at time *t*, and $\tilde{\beta}_{t}^{b_{j,t}}$ is the group average of betas within the group which stock *j* belongs to at time *t*. The difference between up periods and down periods is also calculated. T-statistics are corrected for herterogeneity and auto-correlation and shown in parenthesis.

Last year's Market Return						
Fund Category	Down	Up	Difference			
Aggressive Growth	0.127	0.169	-0.041			
	(10.00)	(21.86)	(-2.78)			
Growth	0.050	0.062	-0.011			
	(11.05)	(17.52)	(-2.00)			
Growth & Income	-0.027	-0.030	0.003			
	(-5.80)	(-15.45)	(0.68)			
Balanced	-0.034	-0.032	-0.002			
	(-5.83)	(-5.49)	(-0.21)			

Table 3.4: The Causality of the Change of Beta and the Change of Institutional Ownership

This table reports a Fama-Macbeth style regression between the change of the beta of a stock and its change of institutional ownership. The change of beta for a stock is defined as the percentage change of the beta from last quarter. And the change of ownership is defined as the difference of institutional ownership this quarter and last quarter for the stock. T-statistics are corrected for herterogeneity and auto-correlation and shown in parenthesis. The regressions are controlled for stocks' one quarter lagged market value (size).

Dependent Variable	% change of beta	Change of	Size(t-1)
	(t-1)	Institutional	
		Ownership (t-1)	
Percent Change of Beta (t)	-0.6650	-0.3101	-0.0913
	(-0.86)	(-0.75)	(-0.72)
Change of Institutional Ownership (t)	0.0004	-0.0668	0.0010
	(1.74)	(-6.71)	(6.63)

Table 3.5: A Fund's Beta Choice and Its Net Money Flow

This table reports regressions of a fund's beta choice on its past year's net money inflow. All funds are divided into ten groups according to last year's money inflows. The biggest inflow group is decile 10 and the smallest one is decile 1. Distressed funds are defined as funds in decile 1 to 4, and hot funds are defined as funds in decile 7-10. Other funds are denoted as medium funds. The Fama-French approach is used for the regressions. Every quarter, we run a cross sectional regression of a fund's beta choice on its lagged flow in each category, and then take an average of the coefficients for all the quarters. Newey-West adjusted t-statistics are in parenthesis. An average R-squared is included.

Fund Flow	Intercept	Percent Flow	R-Squared
Distressed (Decile 1-4)	0.065	-0.081	0.008
	(13.49)	(-3.03)	
Medium (Decile 5-6)	0.064	-0.112	0.006
	(10.42)	(-0.45)	
Hot (Decile 7-10)	0.070	0.010	0.009
	(17.08)	(1.17)	
All Funds	0.069	0.008	0.006
	(17.56)	(0.84)	

Table 3.6: The Significance of the Relation between Difference in Alphas and Sentiment

This table tests if the difference in alphas is highly correlated with investor sentiment. It reports the regression of monthly return difference between small and large funds on factors including sentiment. Carhart 4-factor are used. That is, market excess return, size (SMB), value (HML) and momentum (UMD) factors are used. T-stats are in parenthesis.

SENTIMENT	MKT-RF	SMB	HML	UMD
-0.0030	-0.0484	0.2310	0.1247	-0.0467
(-3.02)	(-1.93)	(7.12)	(3.30)	(-1.83)

Table 3.7: Flow and Sentiment

This table reports relation between mutual fund flows and investor sentiment, including correlations between flow and sentiment and whether sentiment leads flows. Flow is measured using net money inflows both in actual dollar amount and as a percentage of TNA. For each fund i at month t, I calculate the net money inflows following many prior studies (e.g. Zheng (1999)) as follows:

$$Flow_{i,t} = TNA_{i,t} - TNA_{i,t-1}(1+R_{i,t}) - Merger_{i,t}$$

$$(3.2)$$

where $R_{(i,t)}$ is the fund's return in month *t*. *Merger_{i,t}* is the flow due to merger and acquisition. Percent flows are dollar flows divided by last period's TNA ($TNA_{i,t-1}$). Panel A report the correlations between the total inflow into all mutual funds and sentiment. Panel B reports the regression of percent flow on sentiment. Newey West adjusted t-stats are in parentheses. In Panel C, all funds are divided into five quintiles according to their size (TNA). The correlation between flows into each fund size quintile and the correlation between flows into each quintile and sentiment is reported. P-values are in parentheses.

Panel A: Correlation Between Flow and Sentiment

	Dollar Flow	Percent Flow	Sentiment
Total Flow	1.00		
Percent Flow	0.91	1.00	
Sentiment	0.28	0.24	1.00
p-value	(0.12)	(0.18)	

Panel B: Dependent Variable: Percent Flow to the whole mutual fund industry

Intercept	Sentiment(0)	Sentiment(-1)	R^2
0.0007	0.0053	0.0034	0.13
(0.20)	(1.05)	(0.76)	

Panel (C:	Correlation	Between Flo	w and	Sentiment	in	Each	Fund	Category
---------	----	-------------	-------------	-------	-----------	----	------	------	----------

Fund Quintiles						
Fund Quintiles	Small	2	3	4	Large	Small-
						Large
Small	1.00					
2	0.62	1.00				
3	0.86	0.74	1.00			
4	0.86	0.75	0.87	1.00		
Large	0.85	0.77	0.91	0.94	1.00	
Sentiment	0.26	0.19	0.20	0.38	0.34	-0.23
p-value	(0.15)	(0.30)	(0.27)	(0.03)	(0.06)	(0.20)

Table 3.8: Relation Between Sentiment and Difference in Flow into small funds and big funds

This table reports regressions of difference in percentage change of flows to small funds and large funds on sentiment. All the funds are divided into 5 quintiles according to last year's TNA. The difference in flows is calculated as the aggregate flow into small funds (quintile 1) in percentage of last year's total TNA minus the flow into large funds. Panel A reports the regression results. Panel B reports the regressions of the change in flows on two sentiment dummy variables, one of which is the High_Sent which equals 1 when sentiment is above zero, and the other is the Low_Sent which equals 1 when sentiment is below zero. The one lag of High_Sent is also used. Note that we can't use the lag of High_Sent and Low_Sent at the same time. The dependent variable is the difference of percentage flow. Newey-West corrected t-statistics are in parenthesis.

Panel A: Regression of the difference in percentage change of flows to small funds and large funds on sentiment

Intercept	Sentiment(0)	Sentiment(-1)	R^2
-0.012	-0.005	-0.022	
(-0.93)	(-0.24)	(-1.25)	0.1

	HIGH_SENT(0)	LOW_SENT(0)	HIGH_SENT(-1)	R^2
Small Funds	0.004	-0.002	0.000	0.04
	(0.64)	(-0.39)	(0.02)	
Large Funds	0.007	-0.001	0.023	0.06
	(0.22)	(-0.03)	(0.66)	
Small-Large	-0.003	-0.001	-0.023	0.07
	(-0.10)	(-0.06)	(-0.78)	

Panel B: Dependent Variable: Percent Flow to the whole mutual fund industry

Table 3.9: Funds' Weights in Each Size Quintile of Stocks

This table reports funds' weights in each size quintile of stocks. First, I Combine all the funds in each fund quintile together as an aggregate portfolio, and then calculate the weight of each fund quintile on each size quintile of stocks as shown in Panel A. Then, I calculate the weights conditioned on last year's sentiment as in Panel B. T-statistics are in parenthesis.

Panel A: Unconditional Weights on Stocks in Different Size Category

-	Fund Size Quintile								
Stock Size Quintile	Small	2	3	4	Large				
Small	0.075	0.068	0.054	0.042	0.016				
2	0.100	0.100	0.096	0.089	0.037				
3	0.127	0.131	0.134	0.132	0.077				
4	0.184	0.182	0.186	0.193	0.173				
Large	0.514	0.518	0.530	0.544	0.698				

Panel B: Funds' Weights on Stocks in Different Size Category Conditioned on Sentiment

		Fund Size Quintile							
Sentiment	Stock Size	Small	2	3	4	Large			
	Quintile								
Low	Small	0.073	0.066	0.047	0.041	0.014			
	2	0.106	0.104	0.099	0.089	0.038			
	3	0.131	0.132	0.130	0.129	0.080			
	4	0.182	0.184	0.184	0.197	0.181			
	Large	0.508	0.514	0.540	0.544	0.686			
High	Small	0.075	0.068	0.056	0.043	0.016			
	2	0.096	0.097	0.094	0.088	0.036			
	3	0.124	0.129	0.135	0.132	0.073			
	4	0.184	0.180	0.186	0.190	0.165			
	Large	0.521	0.526	0.529	0.548	0.710			

Table 3.10: Regression of funds' size weights on sentiment

This table reports regressions of fund weights on size quintile of stocks on investor sentiment. First, funds are sorted into 5 quintiles at each quarter end according to their size. And then stocks are sorted into 5 size quintiles too. Panel A reports the percentage of money invested in each size quintiles of stocks on last year's sentiment. The dependent variable is the percentage of money of all the mutual funds as a whole invested in each size quintiles of stocks, that is, the weight on each size quintile. The regression is as follows.

Fund Weight on Size Quintile $i(t) = \text{Intercept} + a_i \cdot \text{Sentiment}(t-1), i = 1, 2, ..., 5$

Panel B reports the Regression of the weights of each fund quintile on each size quintile of stocks on last year's sentiment.

Weight of Fund Quintile *j*on Size Quintile $i(t) = \text{Intercept} + a_{ij} \cdot \text{Sentiment}(t-1), \quad i, j = 1, 2, ..., 5$

Only the coefficients on sentiment a_{ij} are reported. Newey-West corrected t-statistics are in parenthesis.

Panel A: The percentage of money invested in each size quintiles of stocks on last year's sentiment

Size Quintiles	Intercept	Sentiment
Small	0.019	0.59
	(7.32)	(1.85)
2	0.045	0.59
	(11.24)	(1.13)
3	0.083	0.35
	(14.05)	(0.45)
4	0.172	-0.19
	(21.18)	(-0.18)
Large	0.681	-1.33
	(34.21)	(-0.51)

Panel B: Funds'	weights on v	wtocks in	different	size	category	conditioned	on sentiment
	neighter of the				encegory.	contaitionea	011 50110110110

	Fund Size Quintile							
Stock Size Quintile	Small	2	3	4	Large			
Small	-0.36	0.18	1.02	0.49	0.29			
	(-0.99)	(0.66)	(4.21)	(2.17)	(2.10)			
2	-0.71	-0.24	0.24	0.79	0.27			
	(-2.92)	(-0.90)	(0.95)	(2.98)	(1.32)			
3	-0.38	-0.18	0.39	0.66	0.14			
	(-1.71)	(-0.95)	(1.63)	(2.61)	(0.38)			
4	0.36	-0.09	0.13	-0.34	-0.12			
	(2.03)	(-0.48)	(0.74)	(-1.74)	(-0.22)			
Large	1.09	0.34	-1.78	-1.60	-0.57			
	(1.43)	(0.43)	(-2.47)	(-2.06)	(-0.47)			

Table 3.11: Predictive Regression of Weight Difference of Mutual Funds on Size

This table reports the predictability of weight difference of mutual funds on size to factor returns. Stocks are divided into five quintiles according to their market value (size). Funds are also divided into five quintiles according to their TNA. Weight difference is defined as the difference in weights on certain stock size quintile between small funds (fund quintile 1) and large funds (fund quintile 5). Factors include market excess return, size (SMB), value (HML), momentum (UMD). Factor returns are quarterly returns. Quarters are defined in three ways, including calendar quarter, extended quarter and short quarter. Extended quarter is from 45 days after last quarter beginning. Short quarter is from 45 days after last quarter end to next quarter beginning. Time series regressions are run as follows.

Factor Return_t = Intercept + $a \cdot$ Weight Difference_{t-1}

Newey-West adjusted t-statistics are in parentheses.

	Calendar Quarter			Extended Quarter			Short Quarter		
Stock	Intercept	t Weight	R^2	Intercep	t Weight	R^2	Intercept	t Weight	R^2
Size		Differ-			Differ-			Differ-	
quin-		ence			ence			ence	
tile									
Small	-0.016	-0.625	0.021	-0.018	-0.640	0.027	-0.018	-0.640	0.027
	(-0.58)	(-1.42)		(-0.75)	(-1.61)		(-0.75)	(-1.61)	
2	0.008	-0.199	0.001	-0.025	-0.712	0.016	-0.025	-0.712	0.016
	(0.21)	(-0.31)		(-0.69)	(-1.23)		(-0.69)	(-1.23)	
3	0.033	0.244	0.003	0.025	0.117	0.001	0.025	0.117	0.001
	(1.39)	(0.56)		(1.15)	(0.29)		(1.15)	(0.29)	
4	0.023	0.135	0.003	0.021	0.116	0.003	0.021	0.116	0.003
	(2.37)	(0.55)		(2.37)	(0.52)		(2.37)	(0.52)	
Large	0.020	0.002	0.000	0.011	0.045	0.001	0.011	0.045	0.001
	(0.76)	(0.02)		(0.44)	(0.36)		(0.44)	(0.36)	

Panel A: Dependent Variable: Market Return minus Risk-free Return

Panel B: Dependent	Variable: Size	Factor Portfolio	(SMB)
--------------------	----------------	------------------	-------

	Calendar Quarter			Extended Quarter			Sł	nort Quart	er
Stock	Intercept	t Weight	R^2	Intercept	t Weight	R^2	Intercept	t Weight	R^2
Size		Differ-			Differ-			Differ-	
quin-		ence			ence			ence	
tile									
Small	0.039	0.652	0.067	0.027	0.447	0.028	0.027	0.447	0.028
	(2.54)	(2.60)		(1.60)	(1.65)		(1.60)	(1.65)	
2	0.043	0.681	0.035	0.028	0.445	0.013	0.028	0.445	0.013
	(1.86)	(1.85)		(1.13)	(1.13)		(1.13)	(1.13)	
3	0.006	0.095	0.001	0.003	0.046	0.000	0.003	0.046	0.000
	(0.44)	(0.37)		(0.20)	(0.17)		(0.20)	(0.17)	
4	-0.001	-0.155	0.012	-0.001	-0.090	0.004	-0.001	-0.090	0.004
	(-0.19)	(-1.09)		(-0.12)	(-0.60)		(-0.12)	(-0.60)	
Large	0.011	-0.053	0.005	0.008	-0.038	0.002	0.008	-0.038	0.002
	(0.71)	(-0.67)		(0.47)	(-0.46)		(0.47)	(-0.46)	

	Calendar Quarter			Extended Quarter			Short Quarter		
Stock	Intercep	t Weight	R^2	Intercep	t Weight	R^2	Intercept	Weight	R^2
Size		Differ-			Differ-			Differ-	
quin-		ence			ence			ence	
tile									
Small	0.060	0.796	0.062	0.054	0.708	0.059	0.054	0.708	0.059
	(3.02)	(2.48)		(2.99)	(2.43)		(2.99)	(2.43)	
2	0.098	1.370	0.088	0.088	1.229	0.086	0.088	1.229	0.086
	(3.39)	(3.01)		(3.37)	(2.97)		(3.37)	(2.97)	
3	0.031	0.355	0.013	0.037	0.486	0.029	0.037	0.486	0.029
	(1.77)	(1.10)		(2.33)	(1.67)		(2.33)	(1.67)	
4	0.013	0.015	0.000	0.013	0.034	0.000	0.013	0.034	0.000
	(1.88)	(0.08)		(1.99)	(0.20)		(1.99)	(0.20)	
Large	0.046	-0.175	0.032	0.046	-0.179	0.040	0.046	-0.179	0.040
_	(2.33)	(-1.76)		(2.58)	(-1.99)		(2.58)	(-1.99)	

Panel C: Dependent Variable: Value Factor Portfolio (HML)

Panel D: Dependent Variable: Momentum Factor Portfolio (UMD)

	Calendar Quarter			Exte	ended Quar	Extended Quarter			er
Stock	Intercept	t Weight	R^2	Intercept	t Weight	R^2	Intercept	Weight	R^2
Size		Differ-			Differ-			Differ-	
quin-		ence			ence			ence	
tile									
Small	0.031	0.069	0.000	0.027	0.002	0.000	0.027	0.002	0.000
	(1.34)	(0.18)		(1.19)	(0.01)		(1.19)	(0.01)	
2	-0.020	-0.768	0.021	-0.012	-0.630	0.015	-0.012	-0.630	0.015
	(-0.60)	(-1.43)		(-0.37)	(-1.20)		(-0.37)	(-1.20)	
3	0.010	-0.344	0.009	0.014	-0.260	0.006	0.014	-0.260	0.006
	(0.48)	(-0.93)		(0.69)	(-0.73)		(0.69)	(-0.73)	
4	0.024	-0.203	0.010	0.023	-0.252	0.017	0.023	-0.252	0.017
	(2.96)	(-0.98)		(2.93)	(-1.26)		(2.93)	(-1.26)	
Large	0.004	0.124	0.012	0.002	0.131	0.015	0.002	0.131	0.015
	(0.18)	(1.08)		(0.11)	(1.18)		(0.11)	(1.18)	

Bibliography

- Admati, Anat, Sudipto Bhattacharya, Paul Pfliederer, and Stephen Ross, 1986, On timing and selectivity, *Journal of Finance* 41, 715–730.
- Admati, Anat R., and Paul Pfleiderer, 1997, Does It All Add Up? Benchmarks And The Compensation Of Active Portfolio Managers, *Journal of Business* 70, 323–350.
- Admati, Anat R., and Stephen A. Ross, 1985, Measuring investment performance in a rational expectations equilibrium model, *Journal of Business* 58, 11–26.
- Agarwal, V., N. Daniel, and N. Naik, 2003, Flows, performance, and managerial incentives in the hedge fund industry, *working paper*.
- Agarwal, V., and N. Y. Naik, 2000, Multi-period performance persistence analysis of hedge funds, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 35, 327–342.
- Alex, Gordon J. er, P. George Benson, and Carol E. Eger, 1982, Timing decisions and the behavior of mutual fund systematic risk, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 17, 579–622.
- Alex, Gordon J. er, and Roger D. Stover, 1980, Consistency of mutual fund performance during varying market conditions, *Journal of Economics and Business* pp. 219–226.

- Almazan, Andres, Keith C. Brown, Murray Carlson, and David A. Chapman, 2004, Why constrain your mutual fund manager?, *Journal of Financial Economics* forthcoming.
- Amihud, Y., 2002, Illiquidity and stock returns: cross-section and time-series effects, *Journal of Financial Markets* 5, 31–56.
- Ang, James S., 1978, A note on the leverage effects on portfolio performance measures, Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 13, 567–572.
- Ang, James S., and Jess H. Chua, 1979, Composite measures for the evaluation of investment performance, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 14, 361–384.
- Annaert, J., J. van den Broeck, and R. V. Vennet, 2003, Determinants of mutual fund underperformance: A Bayesian stochastic frontier approach, *European Journal of Operational Research* 151, 617–632.
- Appleyard, A. R., N. Strong, and M. Walker, 1982, Mutual fund performance in the context of models of equilibrium capital asset pricing, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting* 9, 289–296.
- Arditti, F, 1971, Another look at mutual fund performance, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 6, 909–912.
- Armstrong, D, 1976, Were mutual funds worth the candle?, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 2, 46–51.
- Ashton, D. J, 1990, A problem in the detection of superior investment performance, *Journal* of Business Finance and Accounting 17, 337–350.
- Bagnoli, M., and S. G. Watts, 2000, Chasing hot funds: The effects of relative performance on portfolio choice, *Financial Management* 29, 31–50.

- Baker, Malcolm, and Jeffrey Wurgler, 2003, A conditional characteristics model of stock returns, *Working paper, HBS and NBER*.
- Baker, Malcolm, and Jeffrey Wurgler, 2006, Investor sentiment and the cross-section of stock returns, *Journal of Finance*.
- Baks, K. P., A. Metrick, and J. Wachter, 2001, Should investors avoid all actively managed mutual funds? A study in Bayesian performance evaluation, *JOURNAL OF FINANCE* 56, 45–85.
- Banz, Rolf, 1981, The relationship between return and market value of common stocks, *Journal of Financial Economics* 9, 3–18.
- Barberis, N., and M. Huang, 2001, Mental Accounting, Loss Aversion, and Individual Stock Returns, *Journal of Finance* LVI, 1247–1292.
- Barberis, N., M. Huang, and T. Santos, 2001, Prospect Theory and Asset Prices, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* CXVI, 1–53.
- Barberis, Nicholas, Andrei Shleifer, and Robert Vishny, 1998, A model of investor sentiment, *Journal of Financial Economics* 49, 283–413.
- Barnea, A., and D. E. Logue, 1976, Stock trading and portfolio performance, *Journal of Business Research* 7, 150–157.
- Barry, C. B., and S. J. Brown, 1985, Differential Information and Security Market Equilibrium, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 20, 407–422.
- Bauman, W. S, 1968, Evaluation of prospective investment performance, *Journal of Finance* 23, 276–295.

- Beasley, J. E., N. Meade, and T. J. Chang, 2003, An evolutionary heuristic for the index tracking problem, *European Journal of Operational Research* 148, 621–643.
- Becker, C., W. Ferson, D. H. Myers, and M. J. Schill, 1999a, Conditional market timing with benchmark investors, *Journal of Financial Economics* 52, 119–148.
- Becker, C., W. Ferson, D. H. Myers, and M. J. Schill, 1999b, Conditional market timing with benchmark investors, *Journal of Financial Economics* 52, 119–148.
- Beckers, Stan, 1997, Manager Skills And Investment Performance: How Strong Is The Link?, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 23, 9–23.
- Beebower, G. L., and G. L. Bergstonn, 1977, A performance analysis of pension and profitsharing portfolios: 1966-1975, *Financial Analysts Journal* 33, 31–42.
- Beebower, G. L., and A. P. Varikooty, 1991, Measuring market timing strategies, *Financial Analysts Journal* 47, 78–92.
- Bekaert, Geert, and Michael S. Urias, 1996, Diversification, Integration And Emerging Market Closed-End Funds, *Journal of Finance* 51, 835–869.
- Belkaoui, A, 1982, Judgement related issues in performance evaluation, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting* 9, 489–500.
- Bennett, J. A., R. W. Sias, and L. T. Starks, 2003, Greener pastures and the impact of dynamic institutional preferences, *Review of Financial Studies* 16, 1203–1238.
- Bergstresser, D., and J. Poterba, 2002, Do after-tax returns affect mutual fund inflows?, *Journal of Financial Economics* 63, 381–414.
- Bers, M. K., and J. Madura, 2000, Why does performance persistence vary among closedend funds?, *Journal of Financial Services Research* 17, 127–147.

Bhattacharya, S., and P. Pfleiderer, 1985, 1-25, Journal of Economic Theory 36.

- Blake, Christopher R., Edwin J. Elton, and Martin J. Gruber, 1993, The Performance Of Bond Mutual Funds, *Journal of Business* 66, 371–403.
- Blake, C. R., and M. R. Morey, 2000, Morningstar ratings and mutual fund performance, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 35, 451–483.
- Bogle, J, 1992, Selecting equity mutual funds, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 18, 94–100.
- Bogle, J. C, 1970, Mutual fund performance evaluation, *Financial Analysts Journal* 26, 25–34.
- Bollen, Nicolas P. B., and Jeffrey A. Busse, 2001, On the Timing Ability of Mutual Fund Managers, *Journal of Finance* 56, 1075–1094.
- Breen, W., R. Jagannathan, and A. R. Ofer, 1986, Correcting for heteroscedasticity in tests for market timing ability, *Journal of Business* 59, 585–598.
- Brinson, G. P., J. J. Diermeier, and G. G. Schlarbaum, 1986, A composite portfolio benchmark for pension plans, *Financial Analysts Journal* 42, 15–24.
- Brinson, G. P., and N. Fachler, 1985, Measuring non-U.S. equity portfolio performance, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 1 1, 73–76.
- Brinson, G. P., L. R. Hood, and G. L. Beebower, 1986, Determinants of portfolio performance, *Financial Analysts Journal* 42, 38–44.
- Brown, Gregory W., and Michael T. Cliff, 2005, Investor Sentiment and Asset Valuation, Journal of Business 78.

- Brown, Keith C., W. V. Harlow, and Laura T. Starks, 1996, Of Tournaments And Temptations: An Analysis Of Managerial Incentives In The Mutual Fund Industry, *Journal of Finance* 51, 85–110.
- Brown, Stephen J., and William N. Goetzmann, 1995, Performance Persistence, *Journal of Finance* 50, 679–698.
- Brown, Stephen J., and William N. Goetzmann, 1997, Mutual Fund Styles, *Journal of Financial Economics* 43, 373–399.
- Brown, Stephen J., William N. Goetzmann, Roger Ibbotson, and Stephen A. Ross, 1992, Survivorship bias in performance studies, *Review of Financial Studies* 5, 553–580.
- Brown, Stephen J., William N. Goetzmann, Roger Ibbotson, and Stephen A. Ross, 1997, Rejoinder: The J-Shape of Performance Persistence Given Survivorship Bias, *Review of Economics and Statistics* 79, 167–170.
- Brown, S. J., W. N. Goetzmann, and R. G. Ibbotson, 1999, Offshore hedge funds: Survival and performance, 1989-95, *Journal of Business* 72, 91–117.
- Brown, Stephen J., William N. Goetzmann, and Stephen A. Ross, 1995, Survival, *Journal of Finance* 50, 853–873.
- Burns, W. L., and D. R. Epley, 1982, The performance of portfolios of REITS + stocks, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 8, 37–42.
- Busse, J. A., 1999, Volatility timing in mutual funds: Evidence from daily returns, *Review* of *Financial Studies* 12, 1009–1041.
- Busse, J. A., 2001, Another look at mutual fund tournaments, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 36, 53–73.

- Cadsby, C. B, 1986, Performance hypothesis testing with the Sharpe and Treynor measures, *Journal of Finance* 41, 1175–1176.
- Calvett, A. L., and J. Lefoll, 1981, Performance and systematic risk stability of Canadian mutual funds under inflation, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting* 8, 279–290.
- Campbell, J. Y., 1991, A Variance Decomposition for Stock Returns, *Economic Journal* 101, 157–179.
- Campbell, J. Y., and J. H. Cochrane, 1999, By Force of Habit: A Consumption-based Explanation of Aggregate Stock Market Behavior, *Journal of Political Economy* 107, 205–251.
- Campbell, J. Y., and J. P. Mei, 1993, Where Do Betas Come from Asset Price Dynamics and the Sources of Systematic-Risk, *Review of Financial Studies* 6, 567–592.
- Campbell, J. Y., and T. Vuolteenaho, 2004a, Bad beta, good beta, *American Economic Review* 94, 1249–1275.
- Campbell, J. Y., and T. Vuolteenaho, 2004b, Inflation illusion and stock prices, *American Economic Review* 94, 19–23.
- Carhart, Mark M., , Ron Kaniel, , David K. Musto, , and Adam V. Reed, 2002, Leaning for the Tape: Evidence of Gaming Behavior in Equity Mutual Funds, *Journal of Finance* 57, 661–693.
- Carhart, M. M., 1997, On persistence in mutual fund performance, *Journal of Finance* 52, 57–82.
- Carhart, Mark M., Jennifer N. Carpenter, Anthony W. Lynch, and David K. Musto, 2002, Mutual Fund Survivorship, *Review of Financial Studies* 15, 1439–1463.

- Carlson, R, 1970, Aggregate performance of mutual funds, 1948-1967, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 5, 1–32.
- Carpenter, J. N., and A. W. Lynch, 1999, Survivorship bias and attrition effects in measures of performance persistence, *Journal of Financial Economics* 54, 337–374.
- Chacko, G., and S. R. Das, 1999, A theory of optimal timing and selectivity, *Journal of Economic Dynamics & Control* 23, 929–965.
- Chan, L. K. C., H. L. Chen, and J. Lakonishok, 2002, On mutual fund investment styles, *Review of Financial Studies* 15, 1407–1437.
- Chang, E., and W. Lewellen, 1984, Market timing and mutual fund investment performance, *Journal of Business* 57, 57–72.
- Chang, E., and W. Lewellen, 1985, An arbitrage pricing approach to evaluating mutual fund performance, *Journal of Financial Research* 8, 15–30.
- Chen, H. L., N. Jegadeesh, and R. Wermers, 2000, The value of active mutual fund management: An examination of the stockholdings and trades of fund managers, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 35, 343–368.
- Chen, Joseph, Harrison Hong, Ming Huang, and Jeffrey D. Kubik, 2004, Does fund size erode mutual fund performance? The role of liquidity and organization, *American Economic Review* 94, 1276–1302.
- Chen, Nai-fu., Thomas E. Copel, , and David Mayers, 1987, A comparison of single and multifactor portfolio performance methodologies, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 22, 401–417.

- Chen, S. N., and C.F. Lee, 1986, The effects of the sample siae, the investment horizon and market conditions on the validity of composite performance measures: A generalization, *Management Science* 32, 1410–1421.
- Chen, S. N., and C. F. Lee, 1981, The sampling relationship between Sharpe's performance measure and its risk proxy: Sample size, investment horizon and market conditions, *Management Science* 27, 607–618.
- Chen, Z., and P. Knez, 1996, Portfolio performance measurement: Theory and evidence, *Review of Financial Studies* 9, 551–556.
- Chevalier, J., and G. Ellison, 1997, Risk taking by mutual funds as a response to incentives, *Journal of Political Economy* 105, 1167–1200.
- Chevalier, J., and G. Ellison, 1999a, Are some mutual fund managers better than others? cross-sectional patterns in behavior and performance, *Journal of Finance* 54, 875–899.
- Chevalier, J., and G. Ellison, 1999b, Career concerns of mutual fund managers, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 114, 389–432.
- Chopra, Navin, Charles M. C. Lee, rei Shleifer, and Richard H. Thaler, 1993, Yes, Discounts On Closed-End Funds Are A Sentiment Index, *Journal of Finance* 48, 801–808.
- Chordia, Tarun, 1996, The Structure Of Mutual Fund Charges, *Journal of Financial Economics* 41, 3–39.
- Christoffersen, S. E. K., and D. K. Musto, 2002, Demand curves and the pricing of money management, *Review of Financial Studies* 15, 1499–1524.
- Christopherson, J. A., W. E. Ferson, and D. A. Glassman, 1998, Conditioning manager alphas on economic information: Another look at the persistence of performance, *Review of Financial Studies* 11, 111–142.

- Chua, J. H., and R. S. Woodward, 1983, J.M. Keynes's investment performance: A note, *Journal of Finance* 38, 232–236.
- Chua, J. H., R. S. Woodward., and E. C. To, 1987, Potential gains from stock market timing in Canada, *Financial Analysts Journal* 43, 50–56.
- Clark, G. L., 2000, The functional and spatial structure of the investment management industry, *Geoforum* 31, 71–86.
- Cohen, K., and J. Pogue, 1968, Some comments concerning mutual fund versus random portfolio performance, *Journal of Business* 41, 180–190.
- Cohen, R. B., P. A. Gompers, and T. Vuolteenaho, 2002, Who underreacts to cash-flow news? evidence from trading between individuals and institutions, *Journal of Financial Economics* 66, 409–462.
- Cohen, R. B., C. Polk, and T. Vuolteenaho, 2003, The value spread, *Journal of Finance* 58, 609–641.
- Cohen, R. B., C. Polk, and T. Vuolteenaho, 2005, Money illusion in the stock market: The Modigliani-Cohn hypothesis, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 120, 639–668.
- Connor, G., and R. A. Korajczyk, 1986, Performance measurement with the arbitrage pricing theory: A new framework for analysis, *Journal of Financial Economics* 15, 373–394.
- Connor, G., and R. A. Korajczyk, 1991, The attributes, behavior and performance of US mutual funds, *Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting* 1, 5–26.
- Copel, T. E., and D. Mayers, 1982, The Value Line enigma (1965-1978): A case study of performance measurement issues, *Journal of Financial Economics* 10, 289–322.

- Cornell, B, 1979, Asymmetric information and portfolio performance measurement, *Journal of Financial Economics* 7, 381–390.
- Coval, J. D., and T. J. Moskowitz, 1999, Home bias at home: Local equity preference in domestic portfolios, *Journal of Finance* 54, 2045–2073.
- Cowles, A, 1933, Can stock market forecasters forecast?, *Econometrica* 1, 309–325.
- Crenshaw, T. E, 1977, Evaluation of investment performance, *Journal of Business* 50, 462–485.
- Cumby, R. E., and J. D. Glen, 1990, Evaluating the performance of international mutual funds, *Journal of Finance* 45, 497–521.
- Cumby, R. E., and D. M. Modest, 1987, Testing for market timing ability, *Journal of Financial Economics* 19, 169–189.
- Dahlquist, M., S. Engstrom, and P. Soderlind, 2000, Performance and characteristics of Swedish mutual funds, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 35, 409–423.
- Daniel, Kent, Mark Grinblatt, Sheridan Titman, and Russ Wermers, 1997, Measuring mutual fund performance with characteristic-based benchmarks, *Journal of Finance* 52, 1035–1058.
- Daniel, Kent, and Sheridan Titman, 1997, Evidence on the Characteristics of Cross Sectional Variation in Stock Returns, *Journal of Finance* 52, 1–33.
- Daniel, Kent D., David Hirshleifer, and Avanidhar Subrahmanyam, 2001, Overconfidence, Arbitrage and Equilibrium Asset Pricing, *Journal of Finance* LVI, 921–965.
- Davanzo, L. E., and S. L. Nesbitt, 1987, Performance fees for investment management, *Financial Analysts Journal* 43, 14–20.

- Davis, J. L., 2001, Mutual fund performance and manager style, *Financial Analysts Journal* 57, 19–27.
- Davis, James L., Eugene F. Fama, and Kenneth R. French, 2000, Characteristics, Coverariances, and Average Returns: 1929 to 1997, *Journal of Finance* LV, 389–406.
- De Long, J. B., A. Shleifer, L. H. Summers, and R. J. Waldmann, 1990a, Noise Trader Risk in Financial-Markets, *Journal of Political Economy* 98, 703–738.
- De Long, J. Bradford, Andrei Shleifer, Lawrence H. Summers, and Robert J. Waldmann, 1990b, Positive Feedback Investment Strategies and Destabilizing Rational Speculation, *Journal of Finance* 45, 379–395.
- Del Guercio, D., and P. A. Tkac, 2002, The determinants of the flow of funds of managed portfolios: Mutual funds vs. pension funds, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 37, 523–557.
- Dietz, Peter, 1968a, Components of a measurement model: Rate of return, risk and timing, *Journal of Finance* 23, 267–275.
- Dietz, Peter, 1968b, Pension fund performance, Financial Analysts Journal 24, 131-138.
- Dimson, Elroy, 1979, Risk Measurement When Shares Are Subject to Infrequent Trading., Journal of Financial Economics 7, 197–226.
- Dimson, E., and A. Jackson, 2001, High-frequency performance monitoring Produces unexpected results, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 28, 33-+.
- Dunn, P. C., and R. D. Theisen, 1983, How consistently do active managers win?, Journal of Portfolio Management 9, 47–53.

- Dybvig, P. H., and S. A. Ross, 1985, Differential information and performance measurement using a security market line, *Journal of Finance* 40, 383–400.
- Eckbo, B. E., R. W. Masulis, and O. Norli, 2000, Seasoned public offerings: resolution of the 'new issues puzzle', *Journal of Financial Economics* 56, 251–291.
- Eckbo, B. E., and D. C. Smith, 1998, The conditional performance of insider trades, *Journal of Finance* 53, 467–498.
- Edelen, R. M., 1999, Investor flows and the assessed performance of open-end mutual funds, *Journal of Financial Economics* 53, 439–466.
- Edwards, F. R., and M. O. Caglayan, 2001, Hedge fund performance and manager skill, *Journal of Futures Markets* 21, 1003–1028.
- Elton, Edwin J., Martin J. Gruber, and Christopher R. Blake, 1996a, The Persistence Of Risk-Adjusted Mutual Fund Performance, *Journal of Business* 69, 133–157.
- Elton, Edwin J., Martin J. Gruber, and Christopher R. Blake, 1996b, Survivorship Bias And Mutual Fund Performance, *Review of Financial Studies* 9, 1097–1120.
- Elton, E. J., M. J. Gruber, and C. R. Blake, 2001, A first look at the accuracy of the CRSP mutual fund database and a comparison of the CRSP and morningstar mutual fund databases, *Journal of Finance* 56, 2415–2430.
- Elton, E. J., M. J. Gruber, and C. R. Blake, 2003, Incentive fees and mutual funds, *Journal of Finance* 58, 779–804.
- Elton, E. J., M. J. Gruber, and S. Grossman, 1986, Discrete expectational data and portfolio performance, *Journal of Finance* 41, 699–712.

- Elton, Edwin J., Sanjiv Das Martin J. Gruber, and Matthew Hlavka, 1993, Efficiency With Costly Information: A Reinterpretation Of Evidence From Managed Portfolios, *Review of Financial Studies* 6, 1–22.
- Evans, J, 1970, An Analysis of portfolio maintenance strategies, *Journal of Finance* 25, 561–571.
- Fabozzi, F., and J. Francis, 1979, Mutual fund systematic risk for bull and bear markets: An empirical examination, *Journal of Finance* 34, 1243–1250.
- Fabozzi, F., J. Francis, and C. Lee, 1980, Generalized functional form for mutual fund returns, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 15, 1107–1120.
- Falkenstein, Eric G, 1996, Preferences For Stock Characteristics As Revealed By Mutual Fund Portfolio Holdings, *Journal of Finance* 51, 111–135.
- Fama, E. F, 1972, Components of investment performance, *Journal of Finance* 27, 551–567.
- Fama, E. F., and K. R. French, 1992, The Cross-Section of Expected Stock Returns, *Journal of Finance* 47, 427–465.
- Fama, Eugene F., and Kenneth R. French, 1993, Common risk factors in the returns on stocks and bonds, *Journal of Financial Economics* 33, 3–56.
- Fama, E. F., and K. R. French, 1996, The CAPM is wanted, dead or alive, *Journal of Finance* 51, 1947–1958.
- Fama, E. F., and K. R. French, 2004, The capital asset pricing model: Theory and evidence, *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 18, 25–46.

- Fama, Eugene F., and James D. MacBeth, 1973, Risk, Return and Equilibrium: Empirical Tests, *Journal of Political Economy* 81, 607–636.
- Ferguson, R, 1980, Performance measurement doesn't make sense, *Financial Analysts Journal* 36, 59–70.
- Ferguson, R, 1986, The trouble with performance measurement, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 12, 4–9.
- Ferguson, R., and D. Leistikow, 2001, Valuing active managers, fees, and fund discounts, *Financial Analysts Journal* 57, 52–62.
- Ferri, M. G., and H. D. Oberhelman, 1981, How well do money market funds perform?, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 7, 18–26.
- Ferson, W., and K. Khang, 2002, Conditional performance measurement using portfolio weights: evidence for pension funds, *Journal of Financial Economics* 65, 249–282.
- Ferson, Wayne E., and C. R. Harvey, 1996, Measuring Fund Strategy and Performance in Changing Economic Conditions, *Journal of Finance* 51, 425–462.
- Ferson, W. E., and C. R. Harvey, 1999, Conditioning variables and the cross section of stock returns, *Journal of Finance* 54, 1325–1360.
- Ferson, Wayne E., and Rudi W. Schadt, 1996, Measuring Fund Strategy And Performance In Changing Economic Conditions, *Journal of Finance* 51, 425–461.
- Ferson, Wayne E., and Vincent A. Warther, 1996, Evaluating Fund Performance in a Dynamic Market, *Financial Analysts Journal* Nov./Dec., 20–28.
- Fielitz, B. D., and M. T. Greene, 1980, Shortcomings in portfolio evaluation via MPT, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 6, 13–19.

- Figlewski, Stephen, 1997, Forecasting Volatility, *Financial Markets, Institutions & Instruments* 6.
- Fisher, Kenneth L., and Meir Statman, 1997, Investment Advice From Mutual Fund Companies, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 24, 9–25.
- Fisher, L., and R. Weil, 1971, Coping with the risk of interest-tate fluctuations: Returns to bondholders from naive and optimal strategies, *Journal of Business* 44, 408–431.
- Flannery, M. J., and A. A. Protopapadakis, 2002, Macroeconomic factors do influence aggregate stock returns, *Review of Financial Studies* 15, 751–782.
- Francis, J., and F. Fabozzi, 1980, Stability of mutual fund systematic risk statistics, *Journal* of *Business Research* pp. 263–275.
- Frieder, L., and A. Subrahmanyam, 2005, Brand perceptions and the market for common stock, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 40, 57–85.
- Friend, I., and D. Vickers, 1965, Portfolio selection and investment performance, *Journal of Finance* 39, 391–415.
- Fung, William, and David A. Hsieh, 1997a, Empirical characteristics of dynamic trading strategies: The case of hedge funds, *Review of Financial Studies* 10, 275–302.
- Fung, William, and David A. Hsieh, 1997b, Survivorship bias and investment style in the returns of CTAs: The information content of performance track records, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 24, 30–41.
- Gallo, John G., and Larry J. Lockwood, 1997, Benefits Of Proper Style Classification Of Equity Portfolio Managers, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 23, 47–56.

- Garcia, C. B., and F. J. Gould, 1993, Survivorship Bias, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 19, 52–56.
- Garcia, C. B., F. J. Gould, and Christopher K. Ma, 1995, Survivorship Bias: Reply, *Journal* of Portfolio Management 21, 105–107.
- Gaumintz, J, 1970, Appraising performance of investment portfolios, *Journal of Finance* 25, 555–560.
- Getmansky, Mila, 2004, The life cycle of hedge funds: fund flows, size and performance, *Working paper, MIT*.
- Gibbons, M. R., and W. Ferson, 1985, Testing Asset Pricing-Models with Changing Expectations and an Unobservable Market Portfolio, *Journal of Financial Economics* 14, 217–236.
- Goetzmann, W., J. Ingersoll, and S. Ross, 2003, High water marks and hedge fund management contracts, *Journal of Finance* 58, 1685–1717.
- Goleman, Daniel, 1995, *Emotional Intelligence : Why It Can Matter More Than IQ*. (Bantam Books California).
- Goleman, Daniel, Richard E. Boyatzis, and Richard Boyatzis, 2002, *Primal Leadership: Realizing the Power of Emotional Intelligence*. (Harvard Business School Press Boston, MA).
- Gompers, P. A., and A. Metrick, 2001, Institutional investors and equity prices, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 116, 229–259.
- Good, W. R, 1983, Measuring performance, Financial Analysts Journal 39, 19-24.

- Good, W. R, 1984, Accountability for pension fund performance, *Financial Analysts Journal* 40, 39–45.
- Gordon, S., and P. St-Amour, 2000, A Preference Regime Model of Null and Bear Markets, *American Economic Review* 90, 1019–1033.
- Granatelli, A., and J. D. Martin, 1984, Management quality and investment performance, *Financial Analysts Journal* 40, 72–74.
- Grant, D, 1977, Portfolio performance and the cost of timing decisions, *Journal of Finance* 32, 837–838.
- Grant, D, 1978, Market timing and portfolio management, *Journal of Finance* 33, 1119–1131.
- Green, R, 1986, Benchmark portfolio inefficiency and deviations from the security market line, *Journal of Finance* 41, 295–312.
- Greene, J. T., and C. W. Hodges, 2002, The dilution impact of daily fund flows on open-end mutual funds, *Journal of Financial Economics* 65, 131–158.
- Griffin, John M., Jeffrey H. Harris, and Selim Topaloglu, 2004, Why are IPO Investors Net Buyers through Lead Underwriters?, *University of Texas at Austin, Working Paper*.
- Grinblatt, Mark, and Sheridan Titman, 1987a, How Clients Can Win the Gaming Game, *Journal of Portfolio Management* pp. 14–23.
- Grinblatt, Mark, and Sheridan Titman, 1987b, How to Evaluate a Portfolio Manager, *Financial Markets and Portfolio Management* 1, 9–20.
- Grinblatt, Mark, and Sheridan Titman, 1989a, Adverse Risk Incentives and the Design of Performance-Based Contracts, *Management Science* 35, 807–822.

- Grinblatt, Mark, and Sheridan Titman, 1989b, How to Avoid Games Portfolio Managers Play, *Institutional Investor* 23, 35–36.
- Grinblatt, Mark, and Sheridan Titman, 1989c, Mutual fund performance: An analysis of quarterly portfolio holdings, *Journal of Business* 62, 393–416.
- Grinblatt, M., and S. Titman, 1989d, Portfolio Performance Evaluation: Old Issues and New Insights, *Review of Financial Studies* 2, 393–421.
- Grinblatt, Mark, and Sheridan Titman, 1992a, Performance Evaluation, *The New Palgrave Dictionary of Money and Finance Newman*, *P., Milgate, M., and Eatwell*, 3, 133–135.
- Grinblatt, Mark, and Sheridan Titman, 1992b, The persistence of mutual fund performance, *Journal of Finance* 47, 1977–1984.
- Grinblatt, Mark, and Sheridan Titman, 1993, Performance Measurement Without Benchmarks: An Examination Of Mutual Fund Returns, *Journal of Business* 66, 47–68.
- Grinblatt, Mark, and Sheridan Titman, 1994, A Study Of Monthly Mutual Fund Returns And Performance Evaluation Techniques, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 29, 419–444.
- Grinblatt, M., and S. Titman, 1995a, Performance Evaluation, *Handbook in Operations Research and Management Science* 9, 581–609.
- Grinblatt, Mark, and Sheridan Titman, 1995b, Performance Evaluation, Handbook in Operations Research and Management Science, Vol. 9: Finance Jarrow, R., Maksimovic, V., and Ziemba, W., 581–609.
- Grinblatt, Mark, Sheridan Titman, and Russ Wermers, 1995, Momentum investment strategies, portfolio performance, and herding: A study of mutual fund behavior, *American Economic Review* 85, 1088–1105.

- Grinold, R., and A. Rudd, 1987, Incentive fees: Who wins? who loses?, *Financial Analysts Journal* 43, 27–38.
- Gruber, M. J., 1996, Another puzzle: The growth in actively managed mutual funds, *Journal of Finance* 51, 783–810.
- Gumperz, J., and E. Page, 1970, Misconceptions of pension fund performance, *Financial Analysts Journal* 26, 30–34.
- Guy, J.R, 1978, The performance of the British investment trust industry, *Journal of Finance* 33, 443–455.
- Hagigi, M., and B. Kluger, 1987, Safety first: An alternative performance measure, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 13, 34–40.
- Hansen, Lars Peter, and Ravi Jagannathan, 1991, Implications of Security Market Data for Models of Dynamic Economies, *Journal of Political Economy* 99, 225–262.
- Hendricks, Darryll, Jayendu Patel, and Richard Zeckhauser, 1993, Hot Hands In Mutual Funds: Short-Run Persistence Of Relative Performance, 1974-1988, *Journal of Finance* 48, 93–130.
- Henriksson, R. D, 1984, Market timing and mutual fund performance: An empirical investigation, *Journal of Business* 57, 73–96.
- Henriksson, R. D., and R. C. Merton, 1981, On market timing and investment performance, *II. Statistical procedures for evaluationg forecasting skills. Journal of Business* 54, 513–533.
- Hong, Harrison, and Jeremy C. Stein, 1999, A Unified Theory of Underreaction, Momentum Trading, and Overreaction in Asset Markets, *Journal of Finance* 54, 2134–2184.

- Horowitz, I, 1966, The Reward to Variability ratio and investment performance, *Journal of Business* 39, 485–488.
- Hui, O. Y., 2003, Optimal contracts in a continuous-time delegated portfolio management problem, *Review of Financial Studies* 16, 173–208.
- Indro, Daniel C., 2004, Does Mutual Fund Flow Reflect Investor Sentiment?, *Journal of Behavioral Finance* 5, 105–115.
- Ippolito, R. A., 1989, Efficiency with costly information: A study of mutual fund performance, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 104, 1–23.
- Ippolito, R. A., and J. A. Turner, 1987, Turnover, fees and pension fund performance, *Financial Analysts Journal* 43, 16–26.
- Jaffe, J. F., and J. M. Mahoney, 1999, The performance of investment newsletters, *Journal of Financial Economics* 53, 289–307.
- Jagannathan, R., and R. A. Korajczyk, 1986, Assessing the market timing performance of managed portfolios, *Journal of Business* 59, 217–235.
- Jain, P. C., and J. S. Wu, 2000, Truth in mutual fund advertising: Evidence on future performance and fund flows, *Journal of Finance* 55, 937–958.
- Jeffrey, Robert H., and Robert D. Arnott, 1993, Is Your Alpha Big Enough To Cover Its Taxes?, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 19, 15–26.
- Jeffrey, Robert H., and Robert D. Arnott, 1994, Is Your Alpha Big Enough To Cover Its Taxes?: Reply, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 20, 96–97.
- Jegadeesh, Narasimban, and Sheridan Titman, 1993, Returns to buying winners and selling losers: Implications for stock market efficiency, *Journal of Finance* 48, 93–130.
- Jensen, Michael, 1969, Risk, the pricing of capital assets, and the evaluation of investment performance, *Journal of Business* 42, 167–247.
- Jensen, Michael, 1972, Optimal utilization of market forecasts and the evaluation of investment performance, *Mathematical Methods in Investment and Finance G.P. Szego and K. Shell.*
- Jensen, Michael C., 1968, The performance of mutual funds in the period 1945-1964, *Journal of Finance* 50, 549–572.
- Jern, B., 2001, Performance of Finnish mutual funds A decomposition analysis, Ekonomiska Samfundets Tidskrift 54, 125-+.
- Jiang, George J., Tong Yao, and Tong Yu, 2005, Do Mutual Funds Time the Market? Evidence from Portfolio Holdings, *AFA 2005 Philadelphia Meetings Paper*.
- Jobson, J. D., and B. Korkie, 1982, Potential performance and tests of portfolio efficiency, *Journal of Financial Economics* 10, 433–466.
- Jobson, J. D., and B. Korkie, 1984, On the Jensen measure and marginal improvements in portfolio performance, *Journal of Finance* 39, 245–252.
- Jobson, J. D., and B. M. Korkie, 1981, Performance hypothesis testing with the Sharpe and Treynor measures, *Journal of Finance* 36, 889–908.
- Joy, M., and B. Porter, 1974, Stochastic dominance and mutual fund performance, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 9, 25–3 1.
- Kallberg, J. G., C. L. Liu, and C. Trzcinka, 2000, The value added from investment managers: An examination of funds of REITs, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 35, 387–408.

- Kane, A, and S. G. Marks, 1988, Performance evaluation of market timers: Theory and evidence, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 23, 425–435.
- Kang, J. K., and R. M. Stulz, 1997, Why is there a home bias? An analysis of foreign portfolio equity ownership in Japan, *Journal of Financial Economics* 46, 3–28.
- Kaniel, Ron, Gideon Saar, and Sheridan Titman, 2004, Individual Investor Sentiment and Stock Returns, *Working paper*.
- Kaplan, S., and A. Schoar, 2003, Private Equity Performance: returns, persistence and capital flows, *Working paper, MIT Sloan*.
- Karceski, J., 2002, Returns-chasing behavior, mutual funds, and beta's death, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 37, 559–594.
- Khorana, A., 2001, Performance changes following top management turnover: Evidence from open-end mutual funds, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 36, 371–393.
- Khorana, A., S. Wahal, and M. Zenner, 2002, Agency conflicts in closed-end funds: The case of rights offerings, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 37, 177–200.
- Kim, T, 1978, An assessment of the performance of mutual fund management: 1969-1975, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 13, 385–406.
- Klemkosky, R, 1973, The bias in composite performance measures, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 8, 505–514.
- Kon, S. J, 1983, The market-timing performance of mutual fund managers, *Journal of Business* 56, 323–347.

- Kon, Stanley J., and Frank C. Jen, 1978, Estimation of time-varying systematic risk and performance for mutual fund portfolios: An application of switching regression, *Journal of Finance* 33, 457–475.
- Kon, Stanley J., and Frank C. Jen, 1979, The investment performance of mutual funds: An empirical investigation of timing, selectivity, and market efficiency, *Journal of Business* 52, 263–289.
- Kothari, S. P., and J. B. Warner, 2001, Evaluating mutual fund performance, *Journal of Finance* 56, 1985–2010.
- Kritzman, M, 1983, Can bond managers perform consistently?, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 9, 54–56.
- Kritzman, M, 1986, How to detect skill in management performance, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 12, 16–20.
- Kritzman, M, 1987, Incentive fees: Some problems and some solutions, *Financial Analysts Journal* 43, 21–26.
- Kryzanowski, L., S. Lalancette, and M. C. To, 1997, Performance attribution using an APT with prespecified macrofactors and time-varying risk premia and betas, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 32, 205–224.
- Larsen, Glen A., Jr., and Gregory D. Wozniak, 1995, Market Timing Can Work In The Real World, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 21, 74–81.
- Lebaron, Dean, 1994, Universal Model Of Equity Styles, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 21, 85–88.
- Lee, C., and F. Jen, 1978, Effects of measurement error on systematic risk and performance measurement, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 13, 299–312.

- Lee, C., and S. Rahman, 1990, Market timing, selectivity, and mutual fund performance: An empirical investigation, *Journal of Business* 63, 261–278.
- Lee, W. Y., C. X. Jiang, and D. C. Indro, 2002, Stock market volatility, excess returns, and the role of investor sentiment, *Journal of Banking & Finance* 26, 2277–2299.
- Lehmann, B., and D. Modest, 1987, Mutual fund performance evaluation: A comparison of benchmarks and benchmark comparisons, *Journal of Finance* 42, 233–265.
- Levy, H, 1972, Portfolio performance and the investment horizon, *Management Science* 18, B645–B652.
- Levy, H, 1984, Measuring risk and performance over alternative investment horizons, *Financial Analysts Journal* 40, 61–68.
- Levy, H., and M. Sarnat, 1972, Investment performance in an imperfect securites marke and the case for mutual funds, *Financial Analysts Journal* 28, 77.
- Levy, M., and H. Levy, 2003, Investment talent and the pareto wealth distribution: Theoretical and experimental analysis, *Review of Economics and Statistics* 85, 709–725.
- Levy, R. A, 1968, Measurement of investment performance, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 3, 35–58.
- Lewellen, W. G., R. C. Lease, and G. G. Schlarbaum, 1979, Investment performance and investor behavior, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 14, 29–5 8.
- Litzenberger, R., and H. B. Sosin, 1978, The performance and potential of dual purpose funds, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 4, 56–68.
- Loewenstein, George, and Ted O'Donoghue, 2004, Animal Spirits: Affective and Deliberative Processes in Economic Behavior, *Working paper, Carnegie Mellon Univ.*

- Luo, G. Y., 2002, Mutual fund fee-setting, market structure and mark-ups, *Economica* 69, 245–271.
- Lynch, Anthony, Jessica Wachter, and Walter Boudry, 2003, Does Mutual Fund Performance Vary over the Business Cycle?, *Working paper, NYU*.
- Mains, N, 1977, Risk, the pricing of capital assets, and the evaluation of investment portfolios: Comment, *Journal of Business* 50, 371–384.
- Malkiel, Burton G, 1995, Returns From Investing In Equity Mutual Funds 1971 To 1991, Journal of Finance 50, 549–572.
- Massa, Massimo, and Ludovic Phalippou, 2004, Mutual funds and the market for liquidity, *Working paper, INSEAD*.
- Matulich, S, 1975, Portfolio performance with lending or borrowing, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting* 2, 341–348.
- Mayers, D., and E. M. Rice, 1979, Measureing portfolio performance and the empirical content of asset pricing models, *Journal of Financial Economics* 7, 3–28.
- McDonald, J, 1973, French mutual fund performance: Evaluation of internationallydiversified portfolios, *Journal of Finance* 28, 1161–1180.
- McDonald, J, 1974, Objectives and performance of mutual funds, 1960-1969, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 9, 311–333.
- Menkhoff, L., 2002, Institutional investors: The external costs of a successful innovation, Journal of Economic Issues 36, 907–933.
- Merton, R. C, 1981, On market timing and investment performance. I. An equilibrium theory of value for market forecasts., *Journal of Business* 4, 363–406.

- Metrick, A., and R. Zeckhauser, 1998, Price versus quantity: Market-clearing mechanisms when consumers are uncertain about quality, *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty* 17, 215–242.
- Miller, R. E., and A. K. Gehr, 1978, Sample size bias and Sharpe's performance measure: A note, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 13, 943–946.
- Miller, T. W., and N. Gressis, 1980, Nonstationarity and evaluation of mutual fund returns, Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 15, 639–654.
- Mills, H. D, 1970, On the measurement of fund performance, *Journal of Finance* 25, 1125–1132.
- Monroe, R., and J. Trieschmann , 1972, Portfolio performance of property-liability insurance companies, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 7, 1595–1611.
- Morey, M. R., 2003, Should you carry the load? A comprehensive analysis of load and noload mutual fund out-of-sample performance, *Journal of Banking & Finance* 27, 1245– 1271.
- Morris, R. C., and P. F. Pope, 1981, The Jensen measure of portfolio performance in an arbitrage pricing theory context, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting* 8, 203–220.
- Moses, E. A., J. M. Cheney, and E. T. Viet, 1987, A new and more complete performance measure, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 13, 24–33.
- Moskowitz, T. J., 2000, Mutual fund performance: An empirical decomposition into stockpicking talent, style, transactions costs, and expenses - Discussion, *Journal of Finance* 55, 1695–1703.

- Nagorniak, J. J, 1982, Risk adjusted equity performance measurement, *Journal of Finance* 37, 555–561.
- Nanda, V., M. P. Narayanan, and V. A. Warther, 2000, Liquidity, investment ability, and mutual fund structure, *Journal of Financial Economics* 57, 417–443.
- Newey, Whitney K., and Kenneth D. West, 1987, A simple positive-definite heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation consistent covariance matrix, *Econometrica* 55, 703–708.
- Nofsinger, J. R., and R. W. Sias, 1999, Herding and feedback trading by institutional and individual investors, *Journal of Finance* 54, 2263–2295.
- Okunev, J, 1990, An alternative measure of mutual fund performance, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting* 17, 247–264.
- Pastor, L., and R. F. Stambaugh, 2002a, Investing in equity mutual funds, *Journal of Financial Economics* 63, 351–380.
- Pastor, L., and R. F. Stambaugh, 2002b, Mutual fund performance and seemingly unrelated assets, *Journal of Financial Economics* 63, 315–349.
- Pastor, L., and R. F. Stambaugh, 2003, Liquidity risk and expected stock returns, *Journal of Political Economy* 111, 642–685.
- Patro, D. K., 2001, Measuring performance of international closed-end funds, *Journal of Banking & Finance* 25, 1741–1767.
- Peasnell, K. V., L. C. Skerratt, and P. A. Taylor, 1979, An arbitrage rationale for tests of mutual fund performance, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting* 6, 373–400.
- Perold, Andre F., and Robert S. Salomon, 1991, The right amount of assets under management, *Financial Analysts Journal* May-June, 31–39.

- Peterson, D., and M. L. Rice, 1980, A note on ambiguity in portfolio performance measures, *Journal of Finance* 35, 1251–1256.
- Pohlman, R., J. Ang, and R. Hollinger, 1978, Performance and timing: A test of hedge funds, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 4, 69–72.
- Pontiff, Jeffrey, 1994, Closed-End Fund Premia And Returns: Implications For Financial Market Equilibrium, *Journal of Financial Economics* 37, 341–370.
- Record, E. E. Jr., and M. A. Tynan, 1987, Incentive fees: The basic issues, *Financial Analysts Journal* 43, 39–43.
- Robinson, R. S, 1970, Measuring the risk dimension of investment performance, *Journal of Finance* 25, 455–468.
- Roll, R, 1978, Ambiguity when performance is measured by the securities market line, *Journal of Finance* 33, 1051–1069.
- Roll, R, 1979, Measuring portfolio performance and the empirical content of asset pricing models: A reply, *Journal of Financial Economics* 7, 391–400.
- Roll, R, 1980, Performance evaluation and benchmark errors(I), *Journal of Portfolio Management* 6, 5–12.
- Roll, R, 1981, Performance evaluation and benchmark errors (II), *Journal of Portfolio Management* 7, 17–22.
- Roll, R., 1992, A Mean/Variance Analysis of Tracking Error Minimizing the Volatility of Tracking Error Will Not Produce a More Efficient Managed Portfolio, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 18, 13–22.

- Rothstein, M, 1972, On geometric and arithmetic portfolio performance indices, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 7, 1983–1992.
- Routledge, Bryan, and Stanley E. Zin, 2003, Generalized Disappointment Aversion and Asset Prices, *Working paper, Carnegie Mellon Univ.*
- Rumsey, J., 2000, Can we detect market timing ability using an option model?, *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences-Revue Canadienne Des Sciences De L Administration* 17, 269–279.
- Sarnat, M, 1972, A note on the prediction of portfolio performance from ex post data, *Journal of Finance* 27, 903–906.
- Saunders, A., C. Ward, and R. Woodward, 1980, Stochastic dominance and the performance of U.K. unit trusts, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 15, 323–330.
- Schlarbaum, G, 1974, The investment performance of the common stock portfolios of property-liability insurance companies, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 9, 89–106.
- Schneider, T. H, 1969, A worksheet technique for measuring performance, *Financial Analysts Journal* 25, 105–111.
- Sharpe, William F., 1964, Capital asset prices: A theory of market equilibrium under conditions of risk, *Journal of Finance* 19, 425–42.
- Sharpe, William F, 1966, Mutual fund performance, Journal of Business 39, 119–138.
- Sharpe, William F, 1968, Mutual fund performance and the theory of capital asset pricing: Reply, *Journal of Business* 41, 235–236.

- Sharpe, William F, 1975a, Adjusting for risk in performance measurement, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 1, 29–34.
- Sharpe, William F, 1975b, Likely gains from market timing, *Financial Analysts Journal* 31, 60–69.
- Sharpe, W. F, 1992, Asset allocation: management style and performance measurement, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 18, 7–19.
- Shashua, L., and Y. Goldschmidt, 1974, An index for evaluating financial performance, *Journal of Finance* 29, 797–814.
- Shawky, H. A, 1982, An update on mutual funds: Better grades, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 8, 29–34.
- Shick, R., and J. Trieschmann, 1978, Some further evidence on the performance of property-liability insurance companies' stock portfolios, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 13, 157–166.
- Shleifer, Andrei, and Robert Vishny, 1997, The Limits of Arbitrage, *Journal of Finance* 52, 35–55.
- Sias, R. W., 2004, Institutional herding, Review of Financial Studies 17, 165–206.
- Sias, R. W., and L. T. Starks, 1997, Return autocorrelation and institutional investors, *Journal of Financial Economics* 46, 103–131.
- Siegel, Wayne E. Ferson; Andrew F., 2001, The Efficient Use of Conditioning Information in Portfolios, *Journal of Finance* 56, 967–982.
- Siggelkow, N., 2003, Why focus? A study of intra-industry focus effects, *Journal of Industrial Economics* 51, 121–150.

- Simon, J, 1969, Does good portfolio management exist?, *Management Science* 15, B308–B324.
- Simonson, D, 1972, The speculative behavior of mutual funds, *Journal of Finance* 27, 381–391.
- Sirri, E. R., and P. Tufano, 1998, Costly search and mutual fund flows, *Journal of Finance* 53, 1589–1622.
- Smidt, S, 1978, Investment horizons and performance measurement, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 4, 18–22.
- Smith, K., and D. Tito, 1969, Risk-return measures of ex-post portfolio performance, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 4, 449–47 1.
- Spigelman, J. H, 1974, What basis for superior performance?, *Financial Analysts Journal* 30, 32–45.
- Stambaugh, R. F., 1999, Predictive regressions, *Journal of Financial Economics* 54, 375–421.
- Statman, M., 2000, Socially Responsible Mutual Funds, *Financial Analysts Journal* 56, 30–39.
- Swadener, P, 1973, Comment: Portfolio performance of property-liability insurance companies, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 7, 1619–1623.
- Tehranian, H, 1980, Empirical studies in portfolio performance using higher degrees of stochastic dominance, *Journal of Finance* 35, 159–220.
- ter Horst, J., and M. Verbeek, 2000, Estimating short-run persistence in mutual fund performance, *Review of Economics and Statistics* 82, 646–655.

- Thaler, Navin Chopra; Charles M. C. Lee; Andrei Shleifer; Richard H., 1993, Yes, Discounts on Closed-End Funds Are a Sentiment Index, *Journal of Finance* 48, 801–808.
- Tierney, D. E., and K. Winston, 1991, Using generic benchmarks to present manager styles, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 17, 33–36.
- Treynor, Jack, 1965, How to rate management of investment funds, *Harvard Business Review* 43, 63–75.
- Treynor, Jack, and K. Mazuy, 1966, Can mutual funds outguess the market, *Harvard Business Review* 44, 131–36.
- Treynor, J. L., and F. Black, 1973, How to use security analysis to improve portfolio selection, *Journal of Business* 46, 66–86.
- Tsetsekos, G. P., and R. Defusco, 1990, Portfolio performance, managerial ownership, and the size effect, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 16, 33–39.
- Vell, R. F., and J. L. Steven, 1989, Evidence of superior performance from timing, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 15, 38–42.
- Verrecchia, R. E, 1980, The Meyers-Rice conjecture: A counterexample, *Journal of Financial Economics* 8, 87–100.
- Viet, E. T., and J. M. Cheney, 1982, Are mutual funds market timers?, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 8, 35–42.
- Vuolteenaho, T., 2002, What drives firm-level stock returns?, *Journal of Finance* 57, 233–264.
- W., French D., and G. V. Henderson, 1985, How well does performance evaluation perform?, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 1 1, 15–18.

- Wang, F. Albert, 2001, Overconfidence, Investor Sentiment, and Evolution, Journal of Financial Intermediation 10, 138–170.
- Wang, K. Q., 2003, Asset pricing with conditioning information: A new test, *Journal of Finance* 58, 161–196.
- Warther, Vincent A, 1995, Aggregate Mutual Fund Flows And Security Returns, *Journal of Financial Economics* 39, 209–235.
- Wei, Jiang, 2003, A Nonparametric Test of Market Timing, *Journal of Empirical Finance* 10, 399–425.
- Wermers, R., 2000, Mutual fund performance: An empirical decomposition into stockpicking talent, style, transactions costs, and expenses, *Journal of Finance* 55, 1655– 1695.
- West, R, 1968, Mutual fund performance and the theory of capital asset pricing: Some comments, *Journal of Business* 41, 230–234.
- Wheatley, Robert Neal; Simon M., 1998, Do Measures of Investor Sentiment Predict Returns?, *The Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 33, 523–547.
- Willis, R. H., 2001, Mutual fund manager forecasting behavior, *Journal of Accounting Research* 39, 707–725.
- Woodward, R. S, 1983, The peformance of UK closed-end funds: A comparison of the various ranking criteria, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting* 10, 419–427.
- Wu, X. P., 2002, A conditional multifactor analysis of return momentum, *Journal of Bank*ing & Finance 26, 1675–1696.

- Young, W. E., and R. H. Trent, 1969, Geometric mean approximations of individual security and portfolio performance, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 4, 179–200.
- Zbesko, J, 1989, Determinants of performance in the bull market, *Journal of Portfolio Management* 15, 38–44.
- Zheng, L., 1999, Is money smart? A study of mutual fund investors' fund selection ability, *Journal of Finance* 54, 901–933.

Vita

Jin Xu attended Jiukou High School, Zhongxiang, Hubei Province, China. In 1990 he entered Tsinghua University in Beijing, China. He received the degree of Master of Philosophy in Computer Science and in Economics from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. In August 2000, he entered the Ph.D. program at the Mccombs School of Business at The University of Texas at Austin. He is now married with one son.

Permanent Address: 1105 Guadalupe Ct Colleyville, TX 76034

This dissertation was typeset with $\operatorname{I\!AT}_{\operatorname{E\!X}} 2_{\operatorname{\mathfrak{E}}}^1$ by the author.

 $^{{}^{1}}$ LAT_EX 2_E is an extension of LAT_EX. LAT_EX is a collection of macros for T_EX. T_EX is a trademark of the American Mathematical Society. The macros used in formatting this dissertation were written by Dinesh Das, Department of Computer Sciences, The University of Texas at Austin, and extended by Bert Kay, James A. Bednar, and Ayman El-Khashab.